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Filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4

Registration No. 33314253!
PROSPECTUS

5,000,000 Shares

/P CUMBERLAND®

Yy PHARMACEUTICALS

Common Stock

This is the initial public offering of our commotosk. No public market currently exists for our aoon stock. We
are offering all of the 5,000,000 shares of our k@mm stock offered by this prospectus.

Our common stock has been approved for listing lo& Nlasdaq Global Select Market under the symbolXCP

Investing in our common stock involves a high degeeof risk. Before buying any shares, you should cafully
read the discussion of material risks of investingn our common stock in “Risk factors” beginning on page 7 ¢
this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission n@ny state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or determined if ik prospectus is truthful or complete. Any represetation to
the contrary is a criminal offense.

Per share Total
Public offering price $ 17.00 $85,000,000
Underwriting discounts and commissions $ 119 $ 5,950,000
Proceeds, before expenses, to us $ 15.81 $79,050,000

The underwriters may also purchase up to an adeéiti50,000 shares of our common stock at the puolffiering
price, less the underwriting discounts and commisspayable by us, to cover over-allotments, if, avithin
30 days from the date of this prospectus. If thegeuwriters exercise this option in full, the tot@derwriting
discounts and commissions will be $6,842,500, andatal proceeds, before expenses, will be $90380¢

The underwriters are offering the common stockeadasth under “Underwriting.” Delivery of the shesr will be
made on or about August 14, 2009.

UBS Investment Bank Jefferies & Company  Wells Fargo Securities

Morgan Joseph
The date of this prospectus is August 10, 2!




You should rely only on the information containadhis prospectus. We have not, and the undensritave not,
authorized anyone to provide you with addition&imation or information different from that contad in this
prospectus. We are offering to sell, and seekifgreto buy, shares of our common stock only irsglictions wher
offers and sales are permitted. The informatiortaiord in this prospectus is accurate only asefitite of this
prospectus, regardless of the time of delivenhif prospectus or of any sale of shares of our comstock.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

_Page
Prospectus summa
Risk factors 7
Special note regarding forwelooking statement 23
Use of proceed 24
Dividend policy 25
Capitalization 26
Dilution 28
Selected consolidated financial d 30
Managemer's discussion and analysis of financial conditiod sesults of operatior 32
Business 49
Managemen 79
Compensatiol 87
Certain relationships and related party transast 99
Principal shareholde| 101
Description of capital stoc 103
Shares eligible for future sa 108
Material U.S. federal income and estate tax corsecgs tcnor-U.S. holders 111
Underwriting 114
Notice to investor: 117
Legal matter: 120
Experts 120
Where you can find additional informati 120
Index to consolidated financial stateme F-1

Through and including September 4, 2009 (the 2&thadter the date of this prospectus), federal rgesi laws may
require all dealers that effect transactions inanmmon stock, whether or not participating in thfifering, to
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Prospectus summary

This summary highlights select contents of thispectus, and may not contain all of the informatiwat you
should consider before investing in our commonkstdhis summary should be read together with theemo
detailed information found elsewhere in this pragps, including “Risk factors” and our consolidated
financial statements and related notes beginningpage F-1. References in this prospectus to “Cutabel”
“we,” “us” and “our” refer to Cumberland Pharmaceltals Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries, usles
the context indicates otherwise.

OUR COMPANY

We are a profitable and growing specialty pharmacalucompany focused on the acquisition, develagme
and commercialization of branded prescription posluOur primary target markets are hospital acate
and gastroenterology, which are characterized lagively concentrated physician prescriber basaestwe
believe can be penetrated effectively by relatisghall, targeted sales forces. In June 2009, weived FDA
approval for Caldolor, our lead product for us¢hia hospital market. In addition to Caldolor, werked and
sell Acetadote and Kristalose through our dedicatepital and gastroenterology sales forces, wirighther
comprise 66 sales representatives and managefdaly d, 2009. For the years 2006, 2007 and 2008net
revenue was $17.8 million, $28.1 million and $3&illion, respectively, and our net income was $#illion,
$4.0 million and $4.8 million, respectively.

Since our inception in 1999, we have successfuldéd the acquisition and development of our produc
portfolio with limited external investment, whileaimtaining profitable operations over the past fjears.
Unlike many emerging pharmaceutical and biotechmpotmmpanies, we have established both product
development and commercialization capabilities, la@léeve our organizational structure can be expdnd
efficiently to accommodate our expected growth. @anagement team consists of pharmaceutical industr
veterans experienced in business developmentcaliand regulatory affairs, and sales and marketing

OUR PRODUCTS

Our key products include:

Product Indication Delivery Status
Caldolor ® Pain and Feve Injectable FDA Approved
Acetadote® Acetaminophen Poisonir Injectable Marketed
Kristalose ® Chronic and Acute Constipatic Oral Solution Marketed

Caldolor, our intravenous formulation of ibuprofen, is thesfiinjectable product approved in the United
States for the treatment of both pain and feversdpport Caldolor’s regulatory approval, we comgdied
comprehensive clinical program, which culminatedinNDA filing in December 2008. We received FDA
approval to market Caldolor in the United Statedune 2009. We plan to promote Caldolor in the éthit
States through a dedicated hospital sales for@&@ ekperienced representatives and managers and
internationally through alliances with marketingtpars. We are currently preparing for the comnagrci
launch of Caldolor in the United States, which wpezt to initiate in the fourth quarter of 2009. Wadieve
Caldolor represents our most significant marketoopmity to date.

According to IMS Health, the U.S. market for injale analgesics, or pain relievers, exceeded $3[Bam
or 681 million units, in 2008. This market consigtsnarily of generic opioids and the non-steroigati-
inflammatory drug ketorolac. Despite having a psafiety profile, usage of ketorolac has grown from
approximately 38 million units in 2004, or 5% o&tmarket, to approximately 46 million units in 2008 7%
of the market, according to IMS Health. Injectafygoids such as morphine and meperidine accounted f
approximately 635 million units sold in 2008. Whdpioids are widely used for acute pain managentieay,
are associated with a variety of side effects idicig
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sedation, nausea, vomiting, headache, cognitivaimmgnt and respiratory depression. Based on thtseof
our clinical studies to date, we believe Caldokpresents a potentially safer alternative to kéaotahe only
non-opioid injectable pain relief drug availabletlie U.S. Caldolor is the only approved injectabdéatment
for fever in the U.S.

Acetadoteis the only intravenous formulation of N-acetyl®iae, or NAC, approved in the U.S. for the
treatment of acetaminophen poisoning. Though satecammended doses, acetaminophen can cause liver
damage with excessive use. Acetaminophen overddbe imost common cause of acute liver failuredinta

in the U.S. According to the American AssociatidriPoison Control Centers’ National Poison Data 8yst
acetaminophen was the leading cause of toxic drgegstions reported to poison control centers k& in
2007.

NAC is accepted worldwide as the standard of caréréating acetaminophen overdose, which is well-
documented and is supported by a 2005 article lumve 17 ofCurrent Opinion in Pediatrics Until our 2004
launch of Acetadote, the only FDA-approved formN#{C available in the U.S. was an oral preparation.
Medical literature suggests that, for a numberaifgmts, 1V treatment is the only reasonable rafite
administration due to nausea and vomiting assatiatth the administration of oral NAC for acetamiien
overdose. Sales of Acetadote have increased censyssince we launched the product in June 2004.
According to Wolters Kluwer Health Souré@eéPharmaceutical Audit Suite, Acetadote sales toitasmgrew
33% from 2007 to 2008. Total sales to hospita2d@8 were $24.3 million. We believe that we canticmre
to expand market share, and that our Acetadots aald marketing platform should help facilitate the
anticipated launch of Caldolor.

Kristalose, a prescription laxative product, is a crystallfoem of lactulose designed to enhance patient
acceptance and compliance. Based on data from &l the U.S. prescription laxative market hasgr
rapidly over the past few years, increasing fromprapimately $269 million in 2004 to $344 million 2008,
representing a compound annual growth rate of 6Uolégaler sales of Kristalose to pharmacies were
$9.4 million in 2008. In April 2006, we acquiredatxsive U.S. commercialization rights to Kristalpse
subsequently assembling a dedicated field salee famd re-launching the product in September 200é1u
the Cumberland brand. We believe that we can iserezarket share for Kristalose given its many pasit
competitive attributes including better taste, istescy, ease of use and cost relative to competioducts.

Early-stage product candidates. Our pre-clinical product candidates are beingetlaped by Cumberland
Emerging Technologies, Inc., or CET, our 85%-owselsidiary. CET collaborates with leading research
institutions to identify and advance the developtadpromising pre-clinical product candidates witbur
target segments. Current CET projects include aumarred treatment for fluid buildup in the lungscaincer
patients, an anti-infective for treating fungaldafions in immuno-compromised patients and a nweatment
to reduce or eliminate asthmatic reaction in pedigatients.

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
We believe our key competitive strengths includeftilowing:

> A significant product opportunity in Caldolor;

> Strong growth potential of our existing marketeddurcts, Acetadote and Kristalose;

> Our focus on underserved niche markets, includogphal acute care and gastroenterology;
> A profitable business with a history of fiscal dime; and

> Extensive management expertise in business develapclinical and regulatory affairs, and sales and
marketing.
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OUR STRATEGY

Our objective is to develop, acquire and commemadbranded pharmaceutical products for specialty
physician market segments. Our strategy to acltl@seobjective includes the following key elements:

> Successfully launch and commercialize Caldolor;
> Maximize sales of our marketed products, AcetadatdKristalose;

> Expand our product portfolio by acquiring rightsaibditional marketed products and late-stage prtoduc
candidates

> Expand our dedicated hospital and gastroenteradatps forces; and

> Develop a pipeline of early-stage products throGgT, our majority-owned subsidiary.

RISKS AFFECTING US

Our business is subject to numerous risks thadgordvent us from successfully implementing ouriness
strategy. These and other risks are discussedefuritthe section entitled “Risk factors” immedigte
following this prospectus summary, and includeftilowing:

» The commercial launch of Caldolor is subject to ynemternal and external challenges and if we cannot
overcome these challenges in a timely manner,wurd revenues and profits could be materially and
adversely affectec

> The FDA has approved Caldolor as a treatment forgduction of pain and fever in adults in the W&
any attempt by us to expand the potential markeCtddolor is subject to limitation

> Sales of Acetadote and Kristalose currently gepeaabthost all of our revenues. An adverse developmen
regarding either of these products could have @mahtand adverse impact on our future revenues and
profitability;

> If any manufacturer we rely upon fails to produce products and product candidates in the amouats w
require on a timely basis, or fails to comply wéthingent regulations applicable to pharmaceuticagy
manufacturers, we may face delays in the commézatan of Caldolor, or may be unable to meet desnan
for the product supplied by the manufacturer ang lose potential revenue

> We are dependent on a variety of other third partiehese third parties fail to perform as we estpour
operations could be disrupted and our financiallte€ould suffer; an

> If we are unable to maintain and build an effecates and marketing infrastructure, we will notbée to
successfully commercialize and grow our products@noduct candidate

CORPORATE INFORMATION

We were incorporated in Tennessee in 1999. Oucipah executive offices are located at 2525 West En
Avenue, Suite 950, Nashville, Tennessee 37203pantklephone number is (615) 255-0068. Our website
address is www.cumberlandpharma.com. The informatig or accessible through, our website is natgfar
this prospectus.
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The offering

Common stock we are offerir 5,000,000 share

Common stock to be outstanding after

this offering 17,091,191 share

Fully diluted common stock to be

outstanding after this offerir 23,484,039 share

Use of proceeds We estimate that the net proceaas from this offering will be

approximately $75.2 million, or approximately $8¥ndlion if the
underwriters exercise their ovalotment option in full. We expect
use the net proceeds from this offering primariy gotential
acquisitions and product development. We may usetbceeds
from this offering for the commercial introductiof Caldolor, as
well as additional development of that product. WWay also use the
proceeds from this offering to expand operatiomsluiding
expansion of our sales forces, for reduction okidebt and for
general corporate purpos

Nasdaq Global Select Market Syml CPIX

Common stock to be outstanding after this offeitngased on 12,091,191 shares outstanding as afhN&r,
2009 and excludes:

> 6,550 shares of unvested restricted common stock;

> 7,207,247 shares of common stock issuable uportieresf outstanding options at a weighted-average
exercise price of $2.04 per she

> 68,958 shares of common stock issuable upon eres€isutstanding warrants at a weighted- average
exercise price of $6.17 per she

> 2,361,322 shares of common stock reserved fordussuance under our current incentive plans; and

> 2,791,228 net shares issued in connection witlOfhteon Transaction as described in the sectiorlediti
“Certain relationships and related party transas!”

Fully diluted common stock to be outstanding afftes offering represents the sum of the 17,091 sltdres to
be outstanding after this offering, 6,550 sharesmiested restricted stock and the 7,276,205 sladres
common stock issuable upon exercise of optionsaardants outstanding as of March 31, 2009 of whieh
have received notice that 4,377,090 options wilkkercised immediately prior to this offering puastito the
Option Transaction. The number of outstanding @ystiand warrants is reduced by the 889,907 shares of
common stock that could theoretically be repurctiagi¢h the approximately $15.1 million in aggregate
exercise price of such options and warrants aparohase price equal to the public offering prisestl on the
cover of this prospectus.

Unless otherwise indicated, the share informatmothis prospectus is as of March 31, 2009 and baa b
adjusted to reflect or assume the following:

> the conversion of all outstanding shares of oufgpred stock into 1,625,498 shares of common stock;
> a 2-for-1 stock split of our common stock, whiclcme effective on July 6, 2007; and

> no exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotmentiapt
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Summary consolidated financial data

The tables below summarize our financial data deeflates and for the periods
indicated. You should read the following informatimgether with the more detailed
information contained in “Selected consolidatedfioial data,” “Management’s
discussion and analysis of financial condition eegllts of operations” and our
consolidated financial statements and the accompgmptes included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

The pro forma statement of income and balance slaeatbelow gives effect to the
conversion of 812,749 shares of our preferred situick1,625,498 shares of common
stock. The pro forma as adjusted balance sheebétda gives further effect to the sale
of 5,000,000 shares of common stock that we aexioff, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offeripgrses to be paid by us.

Three Months
Years Ended December 31, Ended March 31,

Statement of income data: 2006 2007 2008 2008 2009
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

Net revenues

Acetadote $10,72:  $18,817 $2543¢$ 579¢ $ 7,13¢

Kristalose 6,511 9,01: 9,46¢ 2,47¢ 2,22¢

Other® 582 234 167 26 43
Total net revenue $17,81F  $28,06¢ $35,07t $ 8,30¢ $ 9,40¢
Operating incom: $ 222« $6,728 $728.% 1,794 $ 2117
Net income before income tax 1,70¢ 6,46¢ 7,31C 1,76z 2,03
Net income attributable to common sharehol 4,40¢ 4,044 4,76€  1,39¢ 1,21¢
Earnings per share attributable to common

shareholde—basic $ 04t $ 04C $ 047% 014 $ 0.1z
Earnings per share attributable to common

shareholde—diluted $ 027 $ 024 $ 02¢3% 00 $ O0.0¢
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to comi

shareholde—basic $ 041 $ 0.1C
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to common

shareholde—diluted $ 0.2¢ $ 0.0¢
Weighte-average shares outstanc—basic 9,791 10,03: 10,14% 10,09¢ 10,32:
Weightec-average shares outstanc—diluted 16,454 16,58 16,54( 16,41: 16,127
Pro forma weighted-average shares outstanding-

basic 11,76¢ 11,94°
Pro forma weighted-average shares outstanding—

diluted 16,54( 16,127

As of March 31, 2009
Pro Forma
Balance sheet data: Actual Pro Forma as Adjusted ®)
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Cash and cash equivalel $10,07: $ 10,072 $ 81,05¢
Working capital 11,26: 11,262 83,07¢
Total asset 30,98¢ 30,98¢ 101,96¢
Total long-term debt and other long-term obligasig¢imcluding

current portion'® 7,261 7,261 3,09¢
Convertible preferred stoc 2,60/ — —
Retained earninc 2,66¢ 2,66¢ 2,66¢

Total equity 18,45: 18,452 93,60z

(1)Includes revenue from products we are no longdéingerevenue reduction for promotional costs to a
wholesaler, grant revenue and other miscellanesxenue

(2)The sum of the individual amounts may not agreetdueunding
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(3)These amounts exclude adjustments related to thierOpransaction as described in the section eutitl
“Certain relationships and related party transactiolf these adjustments were included and ifshares to
be repurchased in the first quarter of 2010 wepeneghased on March 31, 2009 at the public offepirige
listed on the cover of this prospectus, then ddarfch 31, 2009

» Cash and cash equivalents would have been $72TA&8adjustments include proceeds from the new
term debt of $18.0 million less the payment of agpnately $1.0 million of the employer’s portion of
payroll-related taxes less the payment of approteiy&24.6 million to repurchase shares of common
stock to cover the optionee’s minimum statutoryltakility at the time of exercise less the paymeit
approximately $1.3 million to repurchase sharesashmon stock in the first quarter of 20:

» Working capital would have been $72,742. The adjesits include proceeds from the new term debt o
$18.0 million less the amount classified as a curtiability of $1.5 million less the payment of
approximately $1.0 million of the employer’s portiof payroll-related taxes less the payment of
approximately $24.6 million to repurchase sharesoteer the optionee’s minimum statutory tax ligiili
at the time of exercise less the payment of appratély $1.3 million to repurchase shares of common
stock in the first quarter of 201

» Total assets would have been $118,608. The adjustnreclude proceeds from the new term debt of
$18.0 million plus the expected creation of appmtadely $25.5 in deferred tax assets resulting frioen
exercise of the stock options less the paymenppfaximately $1.0 million of the employerportion of
payroll-related taxes less the payment of approtein&24.6 million to repurchase shares to cover th
optionee’s minimum statutory tax liability at tHme of exercise less the payment of approximately
$1.3 million to repurchase shares of common stocke first quarter of 201(

» Total long-term debt and other long-term obligasigimcluding current portion) would have been
$21,094. The adjustments include $18.0 million ®frierm debt; an

» Total equity would have been $92,241. The adjustmieiclude the expected creation of approximately
$25.5 million in deferred tax assets (increaseqnity) resulting from the exercise of the stockiops
less the employer’s payroll-related expense of @gprately $1.0 million less the payment of
approximately $24.6 million to repurchase sharesoteer the optionee’s minimum statutory tax ligiili
at the time of exercise less the payment of appratély $1.3 million to repurchase shares of common
stock in the first quarter of 2010. These amourtdugle the effect of payment of the exercise pote
approximately $2.4 million which may be settleccash or tender of 140,788 shares (based on the
offering price listed on the cover of this prospesjt

(4)In connection with this offering, we will use paftthe proceeds to repay approximately $4.2 milbéthe
term loan with Bank of America. As of March 31, 206he term loan balance was $5.0 million. Subsegue
to March 31, 2009, we have paid approximately $0il8on of the term loan during the normal course o
business
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Risk factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. You should carefully consider
following risks, together with all of the otheramnfmation included in this prospectus, befi
investing in our common stock. If any of the foltaywisks were to occur, our business,
financial condition and results of operations coblel materially and adversely affected. In t
case, the trading price of our common stock coeldide, and you might lose all or part of
your investmen

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

The commercial launch of Caldolor is subject to man y internal and external
challenges and if we cannot overcome these challeng  es in a timely manner, our
future revenues and profits could be materially and adversely impacted.

We are dependent on Caldolor for a substantialqgrodf our future growth. While Caldolor
was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administrator FDA, in June 2009, we have not
commercialized Caldolor in any jurisdiction. Thesessful commercial launch of Caldolor is
dependent on our ability to coordinate large-sesafgply, distribution, marketing, sales and
education efforts. We cannot assure you that wiebeihble to successfully commercialize
Caldolor on our current timeline or at all.

Internally, the successful launch of Caldolor wi#pend on our ability to recruit, train and
retain a qualified sales force, to equip our stdese with effective supportive materials, to
target appropriate markets and to accurately @edelolor. As of July 1, 2009, our hospital
sales force was comprised of 30 representativesramégers, but none of these has ever sold
Caldolor before. We are planning, and have beguadt additional representatives to be able
to effectively launch Caldolor. In addition, as @albr is a newly marketed drug, our sales
force will need to be sufficiently trained, credildnd persuasive in order to convince
physicians and pharmacists in target markets t@adaolor. Finally, we will need to train our
sales force to ensure that a consistent and apatepnessage about Caldolor is being
delivered to physicians and pharmacists. If weuarable to add enough new sales force
representatives, if we are unable to add suffibjequalified representatives, or if we are not
able to effectively train our sales force, our iépiio successfully launch Caldolor could be
jeopardized. We must also equip our sales forck effective materials, including clinic
papers, sales literature and formulary kits, tghleém inform and educate physicians and
pharmacists about the benefits and risks of Catddavell as the proper administration of the
drug. If we are unable to provide our sales forga wonvincing supportive materials, they r
not be able to sell Caldolor in sufficient quametitior at all. We must also ensure that we
maximize our sales efforts for Caldolor by targgtihe right hospitals across the U.S. Any
failure in sales force coverage could limit ourliéZpto generate market acceptance for Calc
and ultimately, the successful commercializatiothefdrug. Finally, we must set a price for
Caldolor that hospitals and other purchasers wililing to pay, but that will also generate
sufficient profits. If we set a price for Caldolibrat hospitals consider too high, we may need to
subsequently reduce the price for Caldolor. If eetke initial price for Caldolor too low, we
may not generate adequate profits and may not lee@baise the price of the drug in the
future.

In addition to the extensive internal efforts reqdi the successful launch of Caldolor will
require the assistance of many third-parties, mialy physicians, pharmacists, hospital
pharmacy and therapeutics committees, or P&T cotaest suppliers and distributors, all of
whom we have little or no control over. We expeatdolor to be administered primarily to
hospitalized patients who are unable to receivetbemapies for the treatment of pain or fever.
Before we can attempt to sell Caldolor in hospjt@laldolor must be approved for addition t
hospital’'s formulary list by the hospital’'s P&T camittee. A hospital’'s P&T committee
generally governs all matters pertaining to theafsaedications within the institution,
including review of medication formulary data amg¢emmendations
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Risk factors

of drugs to the medical staff. We cannot guaratitaewe will be successful in getting the
approvals we need from enough P&T committees taldbe to optimize hospital sales of
Caldolor. Even if we obtain hospital approval fal@blor, we must still convince individual
hospital physicians to prescribe Caldolor repegtéatiits commercialization to be successful.
Because Caldolor is a new drug with little trackamre, any mistakes made in the timely supply
of Caldolor, education about how to properly adsti Caldolor or any unexpected side
effects that develop from use of the drug, paréidvlearly in product launch, may lead
physicians to not accept Caldolor as a viable tneat alternative. Similar to physicians, our
ability to sell Caldolor to pharmacists will depemid price and education efforts, and the lack
of a track record for Caldolor could magnify anyays in delivery or side effects of the drug
and prevent widespread pharmacist acceptance dbloal

The FDA has approved Caldolor as a treatment forth e reduction of pain and
fever in adults in the U.S. and any attempt by ust 0 expand the potential market
for Caldolor is subject to limitations.

The FDA approved Caldolor for the treatment of paind fever in adults in the U.S. In its
June 2009 approval letter, the FDA required usottdact two additional Phase 1V pediatric
studies by 2011 and 2012, respectively. If theltesi these Phase IV clinical studies are not
favorable, we may not be able to expand the mdokeZaldolor to children ages 1-18/e may
also experience delays associated with these efjRinase 1V clinical studies potentially
resulting from, among other factors, difficulty eling pediatric patients. Such delays could
impact our ability to obtain an additional six miesiof FDA exclusivity.

In addition, we have only obtained regulatory appt@o market Caldolor in the U.S. In
foreign jurisdictions such as Canada and Austraéighave licensed the right to market
Caldolor to third parties. These third partiesrasponsible for seeking regulatory approval for
Caldolor in their respective jurisdictions. We hanecontrol over these third parties and ca
be sure that marketing approval for Caldolor wiltebe obtained outside the U.S.

Sales of Acetadote and Kristalose currently generat e almost all of our revenues.
An adverse development regarding either of these pr ~ oducts could have a
material and adverse impact on our future revenues and profitability.

A number of factors may impact the effectivenesswsfmarketing and sales activities and the
demand for our products, including:

> The prices of Acetadote and Kristalose relativetter drugs or competing treatments;

> Any unfavorable publicity concerning us, AcetadoteKristalose, or the markets for these
products such as information concerning productaraimation or other safety issues in
either of our product markets, whether or not diyeiovolving our products

> Perception by physicians and other members of ¢adthicare community of the safety or
efficacy of Acetadote, Kristalose or competing pretd;

» Regulatory developments related to our marketirlg@omotional practices or the
manufacture or continued use of Acetadote or Kdstg

> The inability of the orphan drug designation of femote (under which the FDA granted
seven years marketing exclusivity for intravenaestment of moderate to severe
acetaminophen overdose) to prevent developmentramnkieting of a different product that
competes with Acetadot

» Changes in intellectual property protection avaédbr Acetadote or Kristalose or compet
treatments
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Risk factors

> The availability and level of third-party reimbunsent for sales of Acetadote and Kristalose;
and

> The continued availability of adequate suppliedoétadote and Kristalose to meet demand.

If demand for either Acetadote or Kristalose weakemur revenues and profitability will likely
decline.

Known adverse effects of our marketed productslaceimented in product labeling, including
the product package inserts, medical informati@eldsed to medical professionals, and all
marketing related materials. No unforeseen or asramverse effects outside of those specified
in current product labeling have been directlyilatited to our approved products. The most
frequently reported adverse events attributed tetddote include rash, urticaria (hives) and
pruritus (itching), and anaphylactoid reactionse Thost frequently reported adverse events
attributed to Kristalose, and reported to us, ideltlatulence and nausea.

If any manufacturer we rely upon fails to produce o ur products and product
candidates in the amounts we require on a timely ba  sis, or fails to comply with
stringent regulations applicable to pharmaceutical drug manufacturers, we may
face delays in the commercialization of Caldolor, 0 r may be unable to meet
demand for the product supplied by the manufacturer and may lose potential
revenues.

We do not manufacture any of our products or prodandidates, and we do not currently
to develop any capacity to do so. Our dependenoa tiprd parties for the manufacture of
products could adversely affect our profit margin®ur ability to develop and deliver produ
on a timely and competitive basis. If for any reasa@ are unable to obtain or retain third-party
manufacturers on commercially acceptable termanag not be able to sell our products as
planned. Furthermore, if we encounter delays dicdities with contract manufacturers in
producing our products, the distribution, marketmgl subsequent sales of these products
could be adversely affected. As Caldolor is a newdpct, the effect of any delays or failure to
deliver could be magnified due to the lack of @kreecord for Caldolor with physicians and
pharmacists. In either event, we may choose t@edto seek an alternative source of supply
for, or abandon, a product line or sell a proding bn unsatisfactory terms. We have
agreements with Bioniche Teoranta, or Bioniche,w&itd Bayer Healthcare, LLC, or Bayer,
for the manufacture and supply of Acetadote. Oueagent with Bioniche requires us to
purchase minimum amounts of Acetadote.

We also have minimum purchase obligations undekKeoistalose supply agreement with
Inalco S.p.A. and Inalco Biochemicals, Inc., orediively Inalco. If our purchase obligations
exceed demand for our products, we may be forcedther breach our contract with that
manufacturer or purchase a supply of the prodattwie may be unable to sell. Our contract
with Bioniche extends until 2011, and our contsaith Inalco extends until 2021.

Caldolor is manufactured at Hospira Australia Rty.’s facility in Australia and Bayer’s

facility in Kansas. Acetadote is manufactured pritgat a facility in Ireland and Bayer’s
manufacturing plant in Kansas is an alternative ufecturing source for Acetadote. The active
pharmaceutical ingredient for Kristalose is mantufeed at a single facility in Italy. If any one
of these facilities is damaged or destroyed, twdél conditions result in a work stoppage, we
could suffer an inability to meet demand for ousdarcts. Kristalose is manufactured through a
complex process involving trade secrets of the faanturer; therefore, it would be particularly
difficult to find a new manufacturer of Kristalosa an expedited basis. As a result of these
factors, our ability to manufacture Kristalose niysubstantially impaired if the manufacturer
is unable or unwilling to supply sufficient quargg of the product.
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In addition, all manufacturers of our products anaduct candidates must comply with current
good manufacturing practices, referred to as cGatRyrced by the FDA through its facilities
inspection program. These requirements includeityuzdntrol, quality assurance and the
maintenance of records and documentation. Manufarstof our product candidates may be
unable to comply with cGMP requirements and witheot-DA, state and foreign regulatory
requirements. We have no control over our manufactiucompliance with these regulations
and standards. If our third-party manufacturersoiocomply with these requirements, we
could be subject to:

> fines and civil penalties;

> suspension of production or distribution;
» suspension or delay in product approval;
> product seizure or recall; and

> withdrawal of product approval.

If we are unable to maintain and build an effective sales and marketing
infrastructure, we will not be able to commercializ e and grow our products and
product candidates successfully.

As we grow, we may not be able to secure sale®pees or organizations that are adequate in
number or expertise to successfully market andoselproducts. For example, in connection
with the commercial launch of Caldolor, we expeetwill need to add approximately 47 new
hospital sales representatives, and we may nadbleg@hire these representatives in
accordance with our timeline. This risk would beetuated if we acquire products in areas
outside of acute care/femergency medicine and gadtmwlogy, since our sales forces
specialize in these areas. If we are unable torekpar sales and marketing capability or any
other capabilities necessary to commercialize oodyrcts and product candidates, we will r

to contract with third parties to market and selt products. If we are unable to establish and
maintain adequate sales and marketing capabilities:

> we may not be able to increase our product revenue;
> we may generate increased expenses; and

»we may not continue to be profitable.

We are dependent on a variety of other third partie  s. If these third parties fail to
perform as we expect, our operations could be disru pted and our financial
results could suffer.

We have a relatively small internal infrastructuée rely on a variety of third parties, other
than our thirdparty manufacturers, to help us operate our busir@ther third parties on whi
we rely include:

» Cardinal Health Specialty Pharmaceutical Serviadegistics and fulfillment company and
business unit of Cardinal, which warehouses angkshiir marketed product

> Ventiv Commercial Services, LLC, which provideseld sales force that is the primary
selling team for Kristalose; ar

> Vanderbilt University and the Tennessee Technolgyelopment Corporation, co-owners
with us of Cumberland Emerging Technologies, IocCET, and the universities that
collaborate with us in connection with C's research and development progre

If these third parties do not continue to providevices to us, or collaborate with us, we might
not be able to obtain others who can serve thessifuns. This could disrupt our busine



operations, delay market launch of Caldolor or futyre product candidate, increase our
operating expenses or otherwise adversely affeobperating results.
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Competitive pressures could reduce our revenues and profits.

The pharmaceutical industry is intensely competit®@ur strategy is to target differentiated
products in specialized markets. However, thigetiadoes not relieve us from competitive
pressures, and can entail distinct competitivesrislor example, a new entrant into a smaller
market could have a disproportionately large imppacothers in the market. In addition, cer
of our competitors do not aggressively promoterthesducts in our markets. A relatively
modest increase in promotional activity in our nedskcould result in large shifts in market
share, adversely affecting us.

Kristalose competes in the U.S. with several offtescription laxative products, including
Amitiza ®, which is marketed by Sucampo Pharmaceuticalsaimd. Takeda Pharmaceutical
Company Limited. We have an exclusive patent lieghat gives us limited protection against
direct competition for Kristalose. Acetadote conggedomestically with several orally
administered prescription products for treatingi@eénophen overdose. We are aware of
products under development which could compete @éldolor, including an intravenous
acetaminophen product for which Cadence Pharmaedsitnc. recently submitted a new drug
application to the FDA and for which the FDA grahtepriority review.

Our competitors may sell or develop drugs thatnaoee effective and useful and less costly
than ours, and they may be more successful in maturfng and marketing their products.
Many of our competitors have significantly gredteancial and marketing resources than we
do. Additional competitors may enter our markets.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bystaon and significant investment in new
product development, which can result in rapid tedbgical change. The introduction of new
products could substantially reduce our marketesbarender our products obsolete. The
selling prices of pharmaceutical products tendedide as competition increases, through new
product introduction or otherwise, which could redwur revenues and profitability.

Governmental and private health care payors hasently emphasized substitution of branded
pharmaceuticals with less expensive generic eqeiivsl An increase in the sales of generic
pharmaceutical products could result in a decrgmear revenues. While there are no generic
equivalents competing with Caldolor, Acetadote astalose at this time, in the future we
could face generic competition.

Our future growth depends on our ability to identif y and acquire rights to
products. If we do not successfully identify and ac quire rights to products and
successfully integrate them into our operations, ou r growth opportunities would
be limited.

We acquired rights to Caldolor, Acetadote and lteste. Our business strategy is to continue
to acquire rights to FDAspproved products as well as pharmaceutical prashrdidates in th
late stages of development. We do not plan to cortolasic research or pre-clinical product
development, except to the extent of our investrire@ET. We have limited resources to
acquire third-party products, businesses and tdobies and integrate them into our current
infrastructure. Many acquisition opportunities ilwe@competition among several potential
purchasers including large multi-national pharmécaticompanies and other competitors that
have access to greater financial resources thadowia addition, our bank credit agreement
requires that we obtain the consent of the bard poi making acquisitions unless the
acquisitions meet certain criteria. See “Managematiscussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations — Liquidity azapital resources.”

With future acquisitions, we may face financial aperational risks and uncertainties,
including:

> not realizing the expected economic return or obteerefits from an acquisition;
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> incurring higher than expected acquisition andgrdaéon costs;
> assuming or otherwise being exposed to unknowiiitiab;

> developing or integrating new products that coltsupt our business and divert our
managemer's time and attentior

> not being able to preserve key suppliers or distats of any acquired products;
> incurring substantial debt or issuing dilutive sgtoes to pay for acquisitions; and
> acquiring products that could substantially incesasr amortization expenses.

We are not precluded from engaging in a large attipn in the future, including an
acquisition that entails the investment of subsdiptall of the proceeds from this offering.
While large acquisitions potentially present laoggortunities, they also could magnify the
risks identified above. As of the date of this pectus, we have no commitments or
agreements regarding any potential acquisitions.

We may not be able to engage in future productiattouns, and those we do complete may
be beneficial to us in the long term.

If governmental or third-party payors do not provid e adequate reimbursement
for our products, our revenue and prospects for con tinued profitability will be
limited.

Our financial success depends, in part, on thdahiliy of adequate reimbursement from
third-party healthcare payors. Such third-partygraynclude governmental health programs
such as Medicare and Medicaid, managed care pmsvishel private health insurers. Third-
party payors are increasingly challenging the pgaf medical products and services, while
governments continue to propose and pass legisld@signed to reduce the cost of healthcare.
Adoption of such legislation could further limitimebursement for pharmaceuticals. For
example, in December 2003, Congress enacted a&tiritescription drug benefit for Medicare
beneficiaries in the Medicare Prescription Drugptavement, and Modernization Act of 2003.
Under this program, drug prices for certain pregion drugs are negotiated by drug plans,
with the goal to lower costs for Medicare benefigis. Future cost control initiatives could
decrease the price that we would receive for angymts, which would limit our revenue and
profitability. In addition, legislation and regulas affecting the pricing of pharmaceuticals
might change.

Reimbursement practices of third-party payors mggbtlude us from achieving market
acceptance for our products or maintaining privelesufficient to realize an appropriate
return on our investment in product acquisition drdelopment. If we cannot obtain adequate
reimbursement levels, our business, financial d@wrdand results of operations would be
materially and adversely affected.

“Formulary” practices of third-party payors could a dversely affect our
competitive position.

Many managed health care organizations are nowalbng the pharmaceutical products lis
on their formulary lists. The benefit of having guzts listed on these formulary lists creates
competition among pharmaceutical companies whictkyrin, has created a trend of downward
pricing pressure in our industry. In addition, mangnaged care organizations are pursuing
various ways to reduce pharmaceutical costs andamsdering formulary contracts primarily
with those pharmaceutical companies that can affeil line of products for a given therapy
sector or disease state. Our products might notddeded on the formulary lists of managed
care organizations, and downward pricing pressumii industry generally could negatively
impact our operations.
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Continued consolidation of distributor networks in the pharmaceutical industry
as well as increases in retailer concentration may limit our ability to profitably
sell our products.

We sell most of our products to large pharmacelnitmlesalers, who in turn sell to, thereby
supplying, hospitals and retail pharmacies. Theiligion network for pharmaceutical
products has become increasingly consolidatedcenteyears. Today, three large wholesalers
control most of the market. Further consolidatiomoag, or any financial difficulties of,
pharmaceutical wholesalers or retailers could tésuhe combination or elimination of
warehouses, which could cause product returns.tmusldition, further consolidation or
financial difficulties could also cause our custosi® reduce the amounts of our products that
they purchase, which would materially and adveraffigct our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our CET joint initiative may not result in our gain ing access to commercially
viable products.

Our CET joint initiative with Vanderbilt Universitgnd Tennessee Technology Development
Corporation is designed to help us investigate, @ost-effective manner, early-stage products
and technologies. However, we may never gain adoessmmercially viable products from
CET for a variety of reasons, including:

> CET investigates early-stage products, which haeegteatest risk of failure prior to FDA
approval and commercializatio

> In some programs, we do not have petrights to product candidates developed by QGEd
would need to agree with CET and its collaboratorshe terms of any product license to, or
acquisition by, us

> We rely principally on government grants to fundTC&research and development progr
If these grants were no longer available, we oramdowners might be unable or unwilling to
fund CET operations at current levels or at

> We may become involved in disputes with our co-awmegarding CET policy or
operations, such as how best to deploy CET assethioh product opportunities to pursue.
Disagreement could disrupt or halt product develeptnanc

> CET may disagree with one of the various univegsitvith which CET is collaborating on
research. A disagreement could disrupt or haltyecbdevelopmen

The size of our organization and our activities are growing, and we may
experience difficulties in managing growth.

As of July 1, 2009, we had 59 full-time employeghijch includes 30 hospital sales force
representatives and managers. In connection wétledmmercial launch of Caldolor, we exf

to add an additional 47 hospital sales force repriadives. We may need to continue to expand
our managerial, operational, financial and othepugces in order to increase our marketing
efforts with regard to our currently marketed prody continue our business development and
product development activities and commercializeppoduct candidates. We have
experienced, and may continue to experience, igoiith in the scope of our operations in
connection with the commercial launch of new praguinicluding Caldolor. Our financial
performance will depend, in part, on our abilityw@anage any such growth effectively. Our
management, personnel, systems and facilities milyri@ place may not be adequate to
support this future growth.
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We depend on our key personnel, the loss of whom wo  uld adversely affect our
operations. If we fail to attract and retain the ta  lent required for our business, our
business will be materially harmed.

We are a relatively small company, and we deperadgeat extent on principal members of
our management and scientific staff. If we losesdbevices of any key personnel, in particular,
A.J. Kazimi, our Chief Executive Officer, it coulhve a material adverse effect on our
business prospects. We currently have a key matmiiurance policy covering the life of

Mr. Kazimi. We have entered into agreements wittheaf our employees that contain
restrictive covenants relating to non-competitiod aon-solicitation of our customers and
suppliers for one year after termination of empleytn Nevertheless, each of our officers and
key employees may terminate his or her employmeanytime without notice and without
cause or good reason, and so as a practical niztr agreements do not guarantee the
continued service of these employees. Our sucegssnds on our ability to attract and retain
highly qualified scientific, technical and managépersonnel and research partners.
Competition among pharmaceutical companies forifigdlemployees is intense, and we may
not be able to retain existing personnel or attaact retain qualified staff in the future. If we
experience difficulties in hiring and retaining pennel in key positions, we could suffer from
delays in product development, loss of customedssaies and diversion of management
resources, which could adversely affect operatsglts.

We face potential product liability exposure, and i f successful claims are
brought against us, we may incur substantial liabil ity for a product or product
candidate and may have to limit its commercializati on.

We face an inherent risk of product liability lavitsuelated to the testing of our product
candidates and the commercial sale of our prodActsndividual may bring a liability claim
against us if one of our product candidates or petsicauses, or appears to have caused, an
injury. If we cannot successfully defend ourselagainst the product liability claim, we may
incur substantial liabilities. Liability claims magsult in:

» decreased demand for our products;

> injury to our reputation;

> withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

> significant litigation costs;

> substantial monetary awards to or costly settlemstht patients;
> product recalls;

> loss of revenue; and

> the inability to commercialize our product candetat

We are highly dependent upon medical and patiencepéons of us and the safety and quality
of our products. We could be adversely affectedefor our products are subject to negative
publicity. We could also be adversely affectedny @f our products or any similar products
sold by other companies prove to be, or are assttbe, harmful to patients. Also, because of
our dependence upon medical and patient percepaogsadverse publicity associated with
illness or other adverse effects resulting fromubke or misuse of our products or any similar
products sold by other companies could have a iahtgiverse impact on our results of
operations.

We have product liability insurance that covers dimical trials and the marketing and sale of
our products up to a $10 million annual aggregaté,|subject to specified deductibles. C



current or future insurance coverage may provefficgnt to cover any liability claims
brought against us.
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Because of the increasing costs of insurance cgeer@e may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or oltginaince coverage that will be adequate to
satisfy any liability that may arise.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital st  ock, and we do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foresee able future.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capibakstWe do not anticipate paying cash
dividends to our shareholders in the foreseealtieduThe availability of funds for
distributions to shareholders will depend substdigton our earnings. Furthermore, our loan
agreement places certain restrictions on paymeditvafends. Even if we become able to pay
dividends in the future, we expect that we wouldiresuch earnings to enhance capital
and/or reduce long-term debt.

RISKS RELATING TO GOVERNMENT REGULATION

We are subject to stringent government regulation. All of our products face
regulatory challenges.

Virtually all aspects of our business activities ezgulated by government agencies. The
manufacturing, processing, formulation, packagialgeling, distribution, promotion and
sampling, and advertising of our products, andalapof waste products arising from such
activities, are subject to governmental regulatiimese activities are regulated by one or more
of the FDA, the Federal Trade Commission, or th€ Fhe Consumer Product Safety
Commission, the U.S. Department of Agriculture #melU.S. Environmental Protection
Agency, or the EPA, as well as by comparable agsriai foreign countries. These activities
are also regulated by various agencies of thesstaitd localities in which our products are s
For more information, see “Business—Government Reigun.”

Like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, we are suhiferegulation by the FDA under the
authority of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetit; Acthe FDC Act. All “new drugs” must
be the subject of an FDA-approved new drug apptinabr NDA, before they may be
marketed in the U.S. The FDA has the authority itha@vaw existing NDA approvals and to
review the regulatory status of products marketedeu the enforcement policy. The FDA may
require an approved NDA for any drug product ma#latnder the enforcement policy if new
information reveals questions about the drug’stgadad effectiveness. All drugs must be
manufactured in conformity with cGMP, and drug proi$ subject to an approved NDA must
be manufactured, processed, packaged, held anédabeaccordance with information
contained in the NDA. Since we rely on third patie manufacture our products, cGMP
requirements directly affect our third party mamtifsers and indirectly affect us. The
manufacturing facilities of our third-party manufia@rs are continually subject to inspection
by such governmental agencies, and manufacturiegatipns could be interrupted or halted in
any such facilities if such inspections prove uis§attory. Our third-party manufacturers are
subject to periodic inspection by the FDA to assuweh compliance.

Pharmaceutical products must be distributed, sadrgoiel promoted in accordance with FDA
requirements. The FDA also regulates the advegtisfrprescription drugs. The FDA has the
authority to request post-approval commitments ¢hatbe time-consuming and expensive to
comply with.

Under the FDC Act, the federal government has akterenforcement powers over the
activities of pharmaceutical manufacturers to emsampliance with FDA regulations. Those
powers include, but are not limited to, the auttyaio initiate court action to seize unapproved
or non-complying products, to enjoin non-complyawivities, to halt manufacturing
operations that are not in compliance with cGMR] &nseek civil monetary and criminal
penalties. The initiation of any of these enforcame
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activities, including the restriction or prohibitimn sales of our products, could materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

Any change in the FDA’s enforcement policy couldda material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

We cannot determine what effect changes in reguiator statutes or legal interpretation, w
and if promulgated or enacted, may have on oumlessiin the future. Such changes could,
among other things, require:

> changes to manufacturing methods;

> expanded or different labeling;

> recall, replacement or discontinuance of certaodpcts;

> additional record keeping; and

> expanded documentation of the properties of cepmducts and scientific substantiation.

Such changes, or new legislation, could have anmabtelverse effect on our business, finar
condition and results of operations.

RISKS RELATING TO INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Our strategy to secure and extend marketing exclusi vity or patent rights may
provide only limited protection from competition.

We seek to secure and extend marketing excludwitgur products through a variety of
means, including FDA exclusivity and patent rigii{setadote has been designated as an
“orphan drug” and is indicated to prevent or lessepatic (liver) injury when administered
intravenously within eight to ten hours after iny&s quantities of acetaminophen that are
potentially toxic to the liver. The FDA is authagit to grant orphan drug designation to drugs
intended to treat a rare disease or conditionpifoaluct that has orphan drug designation
subsequently receives the first FDA approval ferdisease for which it has such designation,
the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivithich means that the FDA may not approve
any other applications to market another drug utiegsame active ingredients for the same
indication, except in very limited circumstances, $even years. To this extent, Acetadote is
protected until 2011 against competition from aeotiirug using the same active ingredient to
treat the same indication. Orphan drug marketirduskvity does not, however, protect a drug
from competition by a different drug marketed foe same indications.

We do not have “composition of matter” or “use”gxas for our marketed products. We do
have a U.S. patent, No. 6,727,286 for Caldolor, sorde related international patents, which
are directed to ibuprofen solution formulationstioels of making the same, and methods of
using the same, and which are related to our fatimd and manufacture of Caldolor.
Additionally, the active ingredient in Caldolor—iofen—is in the public domain, and if a
competitor were to develop a sufficiently distifmtmulation, it could develop and seek FDA
approval for an ibuprofen product that competes Wialdolor. Upon receipt of FDA approval
in June 2009, we received three-years of marketedusivity for Caldolor.

Kristalose is manufactured under a contract witlida, which owns U.S. Patent No. 5,480,
related to the manufacture of Kristalose. This paignot directed to the composition or use of
Kristalose and does not prevent a competitor frewetbping a formulation and developing
seeking FDA approval for a product that competdh Wristalose.
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While we consider patent protection when evaluagirgguct acquisition opportunities, any
products we acquire in the future may not haveiiggmt patent protection. Neither the

U.S. Patent and Trademark Office nor the courte eagonsistent policy regarding the breadth
of claims allowed or the degree of protection afea under many pharmaceutical patents.
Patent applications in the U.S. and many foreigisglictions are typically not published until
18 months following the filing date of the firstaiged application, and in some cases not at all.
In addition, publication of discoveries in scieittiliterature often lags significantly behind
actual discoveries. Therefore, neither we nor mankors can be certain that we or they were
the first to make the inventions claimed in ouues$ patents or pending patent applications, or
that we or they were the first to file for protectiof the inventions set forth in these patent
applications. In addition, changes in either palaws or in interpretations of patent laws in the
U.S. and other countries may diminish the valuewfintellectual property or narrow the sc

of our patent protection. Furthermore, our compegimay independently develop similar
technologies or duplicate technology developeddinwa manner that does not infringe our
patents or other intellectual property. As a resfithese factors, our patent rights may not
provide any commercially valuable protection froompeting products.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information and
know-how, the value of our technology and products could be adversely
affected.

In addition to patents, we rely upon trade secretpatented proprietary know-how and
continuing technological innovation where we do Inelieve patent protection is appropriate or
attainable. For example, the manufacturing prot@skristalose involves substantial trade
secrets and proprietary know-how. We have entereddonfidentiality agreements with

certain key employees and consultants pursuanhtohvsuch employees and consultants must
assign to us any inventions relating to our busiiesiade by them while they are our
employees, as well as certain confidentiality agrests relating to the acquisition of rights to
products. Confidentiality agreements can be brehdheugh, and we might not have adequate
remedies for any breach. Also, others could acauriiadependently develop similar
technology.

We depend on our licensors for the maintenance and enforcement of our
intellectual property and have limited, if any, con trol over the amount or timing
of resources that our licensors devote on our behal f.

When we license products, we often depend on oensiors to protect the proprietary rights
covering those products. We have limited, if arontool over the amount or timing of
resources that our licensors devote on our behalfeopriority they place on maintaining pat

or other rights and prosecuting patent applicattorsur advantage. While any such licensor is
expected to be under contractual obligations tmubligently prosecute its patent applications
and allow us the opportunity to consult, review anchment on patent office communications,
we cannot be sure that it will perform as requitéd.licensor does not perform and if we do
not assume the maintenance of the licensed patestsficient time to make required
payments or filings with the appropriate governmaéagencies, we risk losing the benefit o

or some of those patent rights.

If the use of our technology conflicts with the int ellectual property rights of third
parties, we may incur substantial liabilities, and we may be unable to
commercialize products based on this technology in a profitable manner or at
all.

Third parties, including our competitors, could @ar acquire patent rights that they could
enforce against us. In addition, we may be sultjectaims from others that we are
misappropriating their trade secrets or confidéptieprietary information. If our products
conflict with the intellectual
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property rights of others, they could bring legeti@n against us or our licensors, licensees,
manufacturers, customers or collaborators. If weevieund to be infringing a patent or other
intellectual property rights held by a third pamye could be forced to seek a license to use the
patented or otherwise protected technology. We tmighbe able to obtain such a license on
terms acceptable to us or at all. If an infringetr@mmisappropriation legal action were to be
brought against us or our licensors, we would irstostantial costs in defending the action. If
such a dispute were to be resolved against uspuld be subject to significant damages, and
the manufacturing or sale of one or more of oudpuots could be enjoined.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforc e our patents or the patents
of our collaborators or licensors, which could be e Xpensive and time
consuming.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patehtsur collaborators or licensors. To cou
infringement or unauthorized use, we may be redudile infringement claims, which can
expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in drirngement proceeding, a court may decide
that a patent of ours is not valid or is unenfobteaor may refuse to stop the other party from
using the technology at issue on the grounds tinapatents do not cover the technology in
question. An adverse result in any litigation ofetse proceeding could put one or more of
patents at risk of being invalidated or interpratadrowly and could put our patent applicati

at risk of not issuing.

Interference proceedings brought by the U.S. PatetfTrademark Office may be necessary to
determine the priority of inventions with respexbur patent applications or those of our
collaborators or licensors. Litigation or interfece proceedings may fail and, even if
successful, may result in substantial costs artdadtsour management. We may not be able,
alone or with our collaborators and licensors,revpnt misappropriation of our proprietary
rights, particularly in countries where the lawsymat protect such rights as fully as in the
u.s.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with
intellectual property litigation, some of our cad#ntial information could be disclosed during
this type of litigation. In addition, there could public announcements of the results of
hearings, motions or other interim proceedingsawetbpments. If securities analysts or
investors perceive these results to be negativeuid have a substantial adverse effect on the
price of our common stock.

If we breach any of the agreements under which we | icense rights to our
products and product candidates from others, we cou Id lose the ability to
continue commercialization of our products and deve lopment and

commercialization of our product candidates.

We have exclusive licenses for the marketing atelafacertain products and may acquire
additional licenses. Such licenses may termindte py expiration if we breach our obligatic
under the license agreement related to these plkautieal products. For example, the licenses
may terminate if we fail to meet specified quatiyntrol standards, including cGMP with
respect to the products, or commit a material bredother terms and conditions of the
licenses. Such early termination could have a ri@tadverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our agreement with Inalco appoints us as the eixelunarketer, seller and distributor of
Kristalose in the U.S. Either we or Inalco may terate this agreement upon the breach of any
material provision of the agreement if the breachdt cured within 45 days following written
notice. If our agreement with Inalco were termidat®e would lose our right to continue
commercialization of Kristalose in the U.S.

Under an agreement between us and Vanderbilt Usityewe have received certain clinical
data to support regulatory approval for Caldolath& we or Vanderbilt may terminate this

agreement upon substantial breach of the agredfrthatbreach is not cured within 45 days
following written notice. If
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our agreement with Vanderbilt were terminated, veeil lose our right to use the data, and
this loss might hinder our ability to commerciali2aldolor in accordance with our plans.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULT S OF
OPERATIONS

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate from period to period.

We are a relatively new company seeking to captignaificant growth. While our revenues :
operating income have increased over time, we ipatie that there may be fluctuations in our
future operating results. Potential causes of &fluctuations in our operating results may
include:

> Caldolor and other new product launches, which@drease revenues but also increase
sales and marketing expens

> acquisition activity and other charges (such asrfeentory expiration);

> increases in research and development expensdng$wm the acquisition of a product
candidate that requires significant additional depment;

> changes in the competitive, regulatory or reimbmneset environment, which could drive
down revenues or drive up sales and marketing mptiance costs; ar

> unexpected product liability or intellectual proyeclaims and lawsuits.

See also “Management’s discussion and analysisafi¢ial condition and results of
operations — Liquidity and capital resources.” Fliation in operating results, particularly if
not anticipated by investors and other memberhefihancial community, could add to
volatility in our stock price.

Our focus on acquisitions as a growth strategy has created a large amount of
intangible assets whose amortization could negative ly affect our results of
operations.

Our total assets include intangible assets relatedr acquisitions. As of March 31, 2009,
intangible assets relating to product and dataiaitiuns represented approximately 27% of
total assets. We may never realize the value sktlassets. Generally accepted accounting
principles require that we evaluate on a regularsbahether events and circumstances have
occurred that indicate that all or a portion of taerying amount of the asset may no longer be
recoverable, in which case we would write downwhleie of the asset and take a correspor
charge to earnings. Any determination requiringwi¢e-off of a significant portion of
unamortized intangible assets would adversely afacresults of operations.

We may need additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when
needed, which could force us to delay, reduce or el  iminate our product
development or commercialization and marketing effo rts.

We may need to raise additional funds in order ¢@inthe capital requirements of running our
business and acquiring and developing new pharntiaaéproducts. If we require additional
funding, we may seek to sell common stock or o#fugiity or equity-linked securities, which
could result in dilution to purchasers of commarcktin this offering. We may also seek to
raise capital through a debt financing, which waslult in ongoing deldervice payments a
increased interest expense. Any financings woudd kkely involve operational and financial
restrictions being imposed on us. We might als& sesell assets or rights in one or more
commercial products or product development prograkdditional capital might not be
available to us when we need it on acceptable termas all. If we are unable to raise additic
capital when needed, we could be forced to scalk bar operations to conserve cash.
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We have a relatively short history of profitability and may not be able to sustain
or increase our net income levels.

We were incorporated in 1999 and incurred operdtiages until 2004. We recorded our first
year of profitability in 2004 and have remainedffiable in each of 2005, 2006, 2007 ¢

2008. As of March 31, 2009, we had retained eamoids2.7 million, representing the amount
by which our historical profits have exceeded astdrical losses. We may not be able to
maintain or improve our current levels of revenu@et income. In such event, investors are
likely to lose confidence in our ability to grownchour stock price would suffer.

RISKS RELATED TO THIS OFFERING AND AN INVESTMENT IN OUR STOCK

As a new investor, you will experience immediate an  d substantial dilution in the
net tangible book value of your shares.

The initial public offering price of our common stoin this offering is considerably more than
the net tangible book value per share of our onthtey common stock. Investors purchasing
shares of common stock in this offering will pagrice that substantially exceeds the value of
our tangible assets after subtracting liabilitiés.a result, investors in this offering will:

> incur immediate dilution of $11.98 per share;
> contribute 83.8% of the total amount invested tie da fund our company;
> but will own only 29.3% of the shares of commorc&toutstanding after the offering.

These percentages do not give effect to the exeofieptions and warrants to purchase up to
an aggregate of 7,276,205 shares of common stoitlearesting of 6,550 shares of restricted
stock, of which we have received notice that 4,890 ,options will be exercised immediately

prior to this offering. See “Dilution.”

We may conduct substantial additional equity offgsi or issue equity as consideration in an
acquisition or otherwise. These future equity is&@es, together with the exercise of
outstanding options or warrants, could result iirfel dilution to investors.

The market price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially.

The initial public offering price for the sharesafr common stock sold in this offering has
been determined by negotiation between the repiasess of the underwriters and us. This
price may not reflect the market price of our commstock following this offering. The price
our common stock may decline. In addition, the ratigkice of our common stock is likely to
be highly volatile and may fluctuate substantially.

The realization of any of the risks described iesth “Risk factors” could have a dramatic and
material adverse impact on the market price ofomanmon stock. In addition, securities class
action litigation has often been instituted agagmwhpanies whose securities have experienced
periods of volatility in market price. Any such seities litigation brought against us could
result in substantial costs and a diversion of rgameents attention and resources, which cc
negatively impact our business, operating resuitsfanancial condition.
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We will incur increased costs as a result of operat  ing as a public company, and

our management will be required to devote additiona | time to new compliance
initiatives.

We will incur increased costs as a result of ofyiegads a public company, and our manage!
will be required to devote additional time to nemrpliance initiatives. As a public company,
we will incur legal, accounting and other expertdas we did not incur as a private company.
In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or $aebanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and Nasdag, ihgosed various requirements on
public companies, including requiring establishmemd maintenance of effective disclosure
and financial controls and changes in corporategmmnce practices. These rules and
regulations will increase our legal and financiaipliance costs and will render some
activities more time-consuming and costly.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act will require, among othardh, that we maintain effective internal
controls for financial reporting and disclosure ttots and procedures. In particular, we must
perform system and process evaluation and tesfingrdnternal controls over financial
reporting to allow management and our independsgistered public accounting firm to report
on the effectiveness of our internal controls dirancial reporting, beginning with our Annt
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending Deber 31, 2010, as required by Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the sghent testing by our independent registered
public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencieour internal controls over financial reporting
that are deemed to be material weaknesses.

Our compliance with Section 404 will require that imcur substantial accounting expense and
expend significant management efforts. Moreovemdfare not able to comply with the
requirements of Section 404 in a timely manneif we or our independent registered public
accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our imtal controls over financial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses, the marketqfragr stock could decline and we could be
subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdas SEC or other regulatory authorities, which
would require additional financial and managemesburces.

There may not be a viable public market for our com  mon stock.

Prior to this offering, there has been no publickeafor our common stock, and a regular
trading market might not develop or continue atftés offering. Moreover, the market price of
our common stock might decline below the initiabfci offering price.

We will have broad discretion in how we use the pro  ceeds of this offering, and
we may not use these proceeds effectively, which co  uld affect our results of
operations and cause our stock price to decline.

We will have broad discretion over the use of peatsefrom this offering. We intend to use the
net proceeds from this offering to acquire new patsl and product candidates, to fund
continued development of Caldolor as well as othsearch, marketing and development
activities, and to fund working capital, capitapexditures, reduction of bank debt and other
general corporate purposes. We have no presergragras with respect to any such product
acquisitions. We will have considerable discreiiothe application of the net proceeds, and
you will not have the opportunity, as part of yimwestment decision, to assess whethel
proceeds are being used appropriately. The neepdscmay be used for purposes that do not
increase our operating results or market valueil th& net proceeds are used, they may be
placed in investments that do not produce significacome or that lose value.

Future sales of our common stock may depress our st ock price.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our ammstock in the public market after this
offering or the perception that these sales maymocould cause the market price of our
common stock to decline.
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In addition, the sale of these shares in the puhicket could impair our ability to raise capital
through the sale of additional common or prefestettk. After this offering, we will have
17,091,191 shares of common stock outstandingh€3fet shares, all shares sold in the offe
other than shares, if any, purchased by our a##iawill be freely tradable.

Some provisions of our third amended and restated c harter, bylaws, credit
facility and Tennessee law may inhibit potential ac ~ quisition bids that you may
consider favorable.

Our corporate documents contain provisions that emaple our board of directors to resist a
change in control of our company even if a changeontrol were to be considered favorable
by you and other shareholders. These provisionsdec

> the authorization of undesignated preferred sttekferms of which may be established and
shares of which may be issued without shareholplercaal;

> advance notice procedures required for sharehotderaminate candidates for election as
directors or to bring matters before an annual mgetf shareholder:

> limitations on persons authorized to call a spetieéting of shareholders;
> a staggered board of directors;
> a restriction prohibiting shareholders from remayitirectors without cause;

> a requirement that vacancies in directorshipsabetfilled by a majority of the directors
then in office and the number of directors is tdiked by the board of directors; a

> no cumulative voting.

These and other provisions contained in our thingreded and restated charter and bylaws
could delay or discourage transactions involvingetual or potential change in control of us
or our management, including transactions in whighshareholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares over then current priaes, may limit the ability of shareholders to
remove our current management or approve transactiat our shareholders may deem to be
in their best interests and, therefore, could asblgraffect the price of our common stock.

Under our bank credit agreement, it is an evewtedéult if any person or entity obtains
ownership or control, in one or a series of tratisas, of more than 30% of our common stock
or 30% of the voting power entitled to vote in tlection of members of our board of direct

In addition, we are subject to control share adtiois provisions and affiliated transaction
provision of the Tennessee Business CorporationtAetapplications of which may have the
effect of delaying or preventing a merger, takearesther change in control of us and
therefore could discourage attempts to acquirecompany. For more information, see
“Description of capital stock—Anti-takeover effectsTennessee law and provisions of our
charter and bylaws.”

Some of our shareholders have registration rights, which could impair our ability
to raise capital or involve us in disputes.

Holders of our preferred stock have rights to hmduded in registration statements we file with
the U.S. SEC. These rights could interfere with ahility to raise capital. To the extent that
these rights might have applied to this offering, wave obtained waivers from preferred
holders for all but approximately 1% of our shaebe outstanding after this offering. We do
not believe that these rights apply to this offgrialthough the nomsaiving parties might clait
otherwise.
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Special note regarding forward-looking statements

Statements in this prospectus that are not histioiactual statements are “forward-looking
statements.” Forward-looking statements includegragrother things, statements regarding our
intent, belief or expectations, and can be idesdifty the use of terminology such as “may,”
“will,” “expect,” “believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “esimate,” “should,” “seek,” “anticipate” and
other comparable terms or the negative thereaddtition, we, through our senior
management, from time to time make forward-lookingl and written public statements
concerning our expected future operations and ateéeelopments. While forward-looking
statements reflect our good-faith beliefs and hetgment based upon current information,
they are not guarantees of future performance emdubject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties, including those mentioned in “Ria&tbrs,” “Management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of @tems” and elsewhere in this prospectus.
Actual results may differ materially from the exfions contained in the forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors. Sudbriamnclude, without limitation:

> legislative, regulatory or other changes in thdtheare industry at the local, state or federal
level which increase the costs of, or otherwisecfbur operation:

> changes in reimbursement available to us by govenm@r private payers, including chani
in Medicare and Medicaid payment levels and avaitglof third-party insurance coverac

» competition; and

» changes in national or regional economic conditiomduding changes in interest rates and
availability and cost of capital to L
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Use of proceeds

We estimate that the net proceeds to us from tleeo$she 5,000,000 shares of common stock
offered hereby will be approximately $75.2 milliafter deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payghls. If the underwriters exercise their
over-allotment option in full, we estimate that ot proceeds will be approximately

$87.0 million.

We plan to use the net proceeds from this offepinigcipally for acquisitions of product
candidates, new products, intellectual properthit§do products or companies that compler
our business. We actively seek out acquisitiorteémarkets in which we have developed our
sales forces—hospital acute care and gastroentgrolde concentrate our efforts on products
that are in the late stages of development orateturrently marketed. We do not currently
have a letter of intent or definitive purchase agrent for any potential target. We may
undertake one large acquisition, utilizing subsédigtall of the net proceeds from this offerit
or we may engage in one or more smaller acquisititins also possible that we do not iden
and complete any acquisitions. Our bank creditexgent requires that we obtain the conse
the bank prior to making acquisitions unless treguigitions meet certain criteria. See
“Management’s discussion and analysis of finanoieddition and results of operations —
Liquidity and capital resources.”

Subject to the foregoing, we currently expect te asr net proceeds from this offering as
follows:

> the majority for potential acquisition of rightsadditional products or product candidates, as
discussed abov:

> approximately $3.1 million for ongoing clinical wqmproduct development and other costs
related to Caldolol

> approximately $8.4 million for expected commeramtoduction of Caldolor to the U.S.
market;

> approximately $6.6 million for expansion of our hital sales force to a total of
approximately 77 representatives and manay

> approximately $4.2 million to pay down our termridaom Bank of America;
> approximately $1.0 million for product developmégtCET, our 85%®wned subsidiary; ar
> the remainder to fund working capital and for gaheorporate purposes.

The expected uses of net proceeds of this offegpgesent our current intentions based upon
our present plans and business conditions. Aseofitite of this prospectus, we cannot specify
with certainty all of the particular uses for thet proceeds to be received upon completion of
this offering. Accordingly, our management will lealroad discretion in the application of the
net proceeds, and you will be relying on the judgtméd our management regarding the
application of the proceeds of this offering.

The amounts we actually expend for the above-dpdaifurposes may vary depending on a
number of factors, including the extent of our ®sscin identifying and completing
acquisitions, changes in our business strategariunt of our future revenues and expenses
and our future cash flow. If our
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future revenues or cash flow are less than we ithyranticipate, we may need to support our
ongoing business operations with net proceeds fhisroffering that we would otherwise use
to support acquisitions and other methods of growth

Until we use the net proceeds from this offeringtfe above purposes, we intend to invest the
funds in short-term, investment-grade, interestibgasecurities as directed by our investment

policy. Our goals with respect to the investmenthelse net proceeds are capital preservation

and liquidity so that such funds are readily avdéda

We expect to use approximately $4.2 million of tie¢ proceeds of this offering to repay our
outstanding borrowings under a recently amended lean agreement with Bank of America.
Effective July 2009, we amended our debt agreemé@htBank of America to provide for
$18.0 million in term debt and a $4.0 million reviolg credit facility.

We expect to draw down on our amended debt agreemi#gnBank of America in the third
quarter of 2009 in connection with the Option Tast®n as described in the section titled
“Certain relationships and related party transastioWe expect to use the proceeds from the
term debt to pay in part the minimum statutoryuathholding requirements of approximately
$24.6 million due upon completion of the Option Asaction. The consideration for that
payment will be the transfer to us of 1,445,074at&f our common stock. In connection with
the Option Transaction, we expect to generate erdef tax asset of approximately

$25.5 million to offset future tax liabilities.

Dividend policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividendsuorcommon stock and do not anticipate
paying cash dividends on our common stock for tiiedeeable future. We currently intend to
retain any future earnings for use in the operatioour business and to fund future growth.
The payment of dividends by us on our common ofepred stock is limited by our loan
agreement with Bank of America. Any future decisiordeclare and pay dividends will be at
the sole discretion of our board of directors.
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Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalizationat March 31, 2009:
> on an actual basis;

> on a pro forma basis to give effect to the conwersif all of our outstanding preferred stock
into 1,625,498 shares of common stock;

> on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give furthfecefo the sale of 5,000,000 shares of
common stock that we are offering, after deductinderwriting discounts and commissions
and estimated offering expenses to be paid b

You should read the following table in conjunctieith our consolidated financial statements
and related notes and “Management’s discussioranalysis of financial condition and results
of operations” appearing elsewhere in this progmect

As of March 31, 2009

Pro Forma
Actual Pro Forma as Adjusted @)

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalel $10,07: $ 10,07: $ 81,05¢
Long-term debt and long-term obligations (less eotrr
portion) $5545 8 554 $ 2,21:

Shareholder equity:

Convertible preferred stock, no par value;
3,000,000 shares authorized, 812,749 shares issued
and outstanding, actual; and 3,000,000 shares
authorized, no shares issued or outstanding, pnogo
and pro forma as adjust(2 2,60¢ — —

Common stock, no par value; 100,000,000 shares
authorized, 10,465,693 shares issued and outstan
actual; 100,000,000 shares authorized,
12,091,191 shares issued and outstanding, pro fol
and 100,000,000 shares authorized, 17,091,191ss

issued and outstanding, pro forma as adju® 13,191  15,79¢ 90,94¢
Retained earning 2,66¢ 2,66¢ 2,66¢
Total shareholde’ equity 18,46« 18,46« 93,61+
Noncontrolling interest (12 (12 (12
Total equity® 18,45 18,45 93,60:
Total capitalizatior(®) $23,997 $ 23,99: $ 95,81«

(1) These amounts exclude adjustments related to fhected Option Transaction as described in theweetititled
“Certain relationships and related party transastiolf these adjustments were included and ifshares to be
repurchased in the first quarter of 2010 were refpased on March 31, 2009 at the public offeringeplisted on th
cover of this prospectus, then as of March 31, 2

> Cash and cash equivalents would have been $72TA&8adjustments include proceeds from the new thint
of $18.0 million less the payment of approximatglyO million of the employer’s portion of payrokiated
taxes less the payment of approximately $24.6 onilto repurchase shares of common stock to coeer th
optionees minimum statutory tax liability at the time ofexrise less the payment of approximately $1.3 om
to repurchase shares of common stock in the furattgr of 2010

> Total long-term debt and other long-term obligasigiess current portion) would have been $18,7h2. T
adjustments include $18.0 million of new term debks $1.5 million to be classified as a curreriility;
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> Total common stock outstanding would have been@®35. The adjustments include the issuance of
4,377,090 shares from the Option Transaction |g&$51074 shares tendered in satisfaction of thenmoim
statutory tax liability due at the time of exercless 140,788 shares tendered for the exercise pfic
approximately $2.4 million based on the public dffg price listed on the cover of this prospecessl|
76,094 shares tendered in the first quarter of 20Hatisfaction of the expected future tax lidhihssociated
with the Option Transactiol

> Total common stock (in dollars) would have been,$60. The adjustments include the expected creafion
approximately $25.5 million in deferred tax asq@isrease in equity) resulting from the exerciséhef stock
options less the repurchase of approximately $24dllon of common stock to settle the optionee’simum
statutory tax liability at the time of exercisedehe repurchase of approximately $1.3 milliona@hmon stock
in the first quarter of 201(

> Retained earnings would have been $1,692. Thetatgmsés include the recognition of approximately
$1.0 million of payrol-related tax expense associated with the exercis®ok options

> Total shareholders’ equity would have been $92,Z5&. adjustments include the expected creation of
approximately $25.5 million in deferred tax asg@tisrease in equity) resulting from the exercisé¢hef stock
options less the employer’s payroll-related expefsgpproximately $1.0 million less the repurchate
approximately $24.6 million of common stock to kethe optionees minimum statutory tax liability at the tin
of exercise less the repurchase of approximately $illion of common stock in the first quarter2610;

> Total equity would have been $92,241. The adjustmiertlude the expected creation of approximately
$25.5 million in deferred tax assets (increaseqguity) resulting from the exercise of the stockiops less the
employer’s payroll-related expense of approximaglyd million less the repurchase of approximately
$24.6 million of common stock to settle the optielseminimum statutory tax liability at the time eXercise
less the repurchase of approximately $1.3 millibonamnmon stock in the first quarter of 2010; ¢

> Total capitalization would have been $110,953. @tieistments include the expected creation of apmrately
$25.5 million in deferred tax assets (increasequity) resulting from the exercise of the stockiops plus the
increase in long-term debt (excluding current portiof $16.5 million less the employer’s payrollated
expense of approximately $1.0 million less the repase of approximately $24.6 million of commoncktto
settle the optionee’s minimum statutory tax lighit the time of exercise less the repurchas@pfaximately
$1.3 million of common stock in the first quartér2®10.

(2) Upon the completion of this offering, the outstargdshares of preferred stock will convert into ggragate of
1,625,498 shares of common sta

(3) Excludes:

» 6,550 shares of unvested restricted common stock;

» 7,207,247 shares of common stock issuable uportiseenf outstanding options at a weighted-averagecese
price of $2.04 per share for which we have receivatite that, upon the pricing of this offeringrteén holders
will exercise options to purchase an aggregate3¥Z4090 shares and that a holder will use a ratesh
settlement that permits him to use 1,445,074 sheggsired upon exercise to satisfy the minimunusbay
withholding requirements of approximately $24.6lioi;

» 2,361,322 shares of common stock reserved fordéuisuance under our current incentive plans;
» 68,958 shares of common stock issuable upon theisgeof outstanding warrants at a weighted-average

exercise price of $6.17 per share; i
» 10,000 shares of common stock issuable to a rds@sstitution as a result of FDA approval of Calsiol

(4) The sum of the individual amounts may not agreetdueunding.

27




Table of Contents

Dilution

Our net tangible book value as of March 31, 2009 $£0.7 million, or $1.02 per share. Net
tangible book value per share represents the anodunir total tangible assets less total
liabilities, divided by the total number of shasdcommon stock outstanding. Our pro forma
net tangible book value per share as of March 8@92vas $0.89. Pro forma net tangible book
value per share gives effect to the conversiorllafaur preferred stock into 1,625,498 shares
of our common stock, which will occur upon compbetiof this offering.

After giving further effect to the sale by us 0880,000 shares of common stock in this
offering, and after taking into account the autamednversion of our preferred stock upon
completion of this offering, and after deductinglarwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses payable by us, oufgsnoa as adjusted net tangible book valu
of March 31, 2009 would have been approximately. $8aillion, or approximately $5.02 per
share. This amount represents an immediate inciegse forma net tangible book value of
$4.13 per share to our existing shareholders ancharediate dilution in pro forma net tangil
book value of approximately $11.98 per share to imm@stors purchasing shares of common
stock in this offering. We determine dilution bybstacting the pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value per share after this offeriragrf the amount of cash that a new investor
paid for a share of common stock.

The following table illustrates this dilution orpar share basis:

Initial public offering price per shal $17.0C
Net tangible book value per share as of March 809 $ 1.0z
Effect on net tangible book value per share on ewsiun of preferred
stock into common stoc (0.13)
Pro forma net tangible book value per share asarthi31, 200! 0.8¢
Increase per share attributable to this offe 4.13
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value Ip@resafter this offerin 5.0Z
Dilution per share to new investc $11.9¢

In addition, the above discussion and table daanobunt for the vesting of 6,550 shares of
restricted stock or the exercise of stock optiam$warrants after March 31, 2009. As of

March 31, 2009, we had outstanding options to pasela total of 7,207,247 shares of comi
stock at a weighted-average exercise price of §2e04hare and outstanding warrants to
purchase a total of 68,958 shares of common stogkweighted-average exercise price of
$6.17 per share. If all such options and warraatsibeen exercised and the restricted stock had
vested as of March 31, 2009, pro forma as adjustethngible book value per share, exclusive
of the expected future tax benefit (deferred tasegf approximately $33.5 million arising
from the exercise of certain options, would haverb®4.14 per share, and dilution to new
investors would have been $12.86 per share. We fieaedved notice that, upon the closing of
this offering, in connection with the Option Traotan as described in the section “Certain
relationships and related party transactions” atertiolders will exercise options to purchase
4,377,090 of these shares for which a holder vel a neshare settlement providing for himr
use 1,445,074 shares acquired upon exercise gfystteé minimum statutory withholding
requirements of approximately $24.6 million.
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The following table summarizes, as of March 31,208e differences between the number of
shares purchased from us, the total considerati@htp us and the average price per share that
existing shareholders and new investors paid. @bk tgives effect to the conversion of all of
our outstanding preferred stock into 1,625,498ehaf common stock, which will occur upon
completion of this offering.

Average

Total Shares Total Consideration Price

Number % Number %  per Share

Existing shareholdel 12,091,19 70.7%$ 16,425,46 16.2%$ 1.3¢
New investors 5,000,000 29.2% 85,000,000 83.t% 17.0C

Total 17,091,19 100.(% $101,425,46 100.(%

Assuming that the 6,550 shares of restricted sbhackvested, that all options and warrants
outstanding as of March 31, 2009 had been exeréigeti276,205 shares of common stock,
and the aggregate exercise price of approximatEby1$million had been applied to repurchase
889,907 shares of common stock (at a repurchase egual to the public offering price listed
on the cover of this prospectus), new investorslavbave purchased 21.3% of our shares of
common stock outstanding after this offering.

The discussion and tables above assume no exefdise underwriters’ over-allotment option.
If the underwriters’ over-allotment option is exised in full (but assuming no exercise of
outstanding options or warrants or vesting of ret&td stock), the number of shares of comr
stock held by existing shareholders would be reduoes7.8% of the total number of shares of
common stock to be outstanding after this offerang] the number of shares of common stock
held by investors participating in this offering wid be 32.2% of the total number of shares of
common stock to be outstanding after this offering.
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Selected consolidated financial data

The selected consolidated financial data set foetbw should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related rastds'Management’s discussion and analysis
of financial condition and results of operation'lasther financial information appearing
elsewhere in this prospectus. The consolidatedrstt of income data for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and consolidatedde sheet data as of December 31,
2007 and 2008 are derived from consolidated firerstatements audited by KPMG LLP and
are included elsewhere in this prospectus. Theddolated statements of income data for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 and theliczisd balance sheet data a:

December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 have been ddrimadour audited consolidated financial
statements that do not appear in this prospechescdnsolidated statements of income dat
the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 200%h@ncbnsolidated balance sheet data as of
March 31, 2009 have been derived from our unauditeshcial statements which are included
elsewhere in this prospectus. Our unaudited catesteld financial statements include, in the
opinion of management, all adjustments consistingnty normal recurring adjustments
necessary for a fair presentation of these statesm&he historical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected for artyrke periods.

Three months

Ended
Years Ended December 31, March 31,
Statement of income data @ : 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2008 2009
(in thousands, except per share data)
Net revenue $12,03: $10,69C $17,81¢ $28,06¢ $35,07¢ $8,30¢ $9,40:
Operating costs and expens
Cost of products sol 81¢ 53z 2,39¢ 2,67( 3,04¢ 75k 73¢
Selling and marketin 6,80z 5,647 7,34¢ 10,05 14,387 3,36¢  4,14(
Research and developm 74¢ 1,15¢ 2,23: 3,69¢ 4,42¢ 1,11(¢ 77C
General and administrati\ 2,35¢ 2,58¢ 2,99¢ 4,13¢ 5,14( 1,08: 1,44¢
Amortization of product
license rights — — 51E 687 687 172 172
Other 6 13 96 97 104 26 27
Total operating costs ai
expense: 10,72¢ 9,94 1559: 21,33 27,79¢ 6,51( 7,28¢
Gain on insurance recove 26€ — — — — — —
Operating incom: 1,56¢ 75C 2,22¢ 6,72t 728 1,79¢ 2,117
Interest incomt 1 89 20¢ 38¢ 241 82 18
Interest expens (1,019 (63 (722) (640) (213 (114 (98)
Other expens — (6) 3) — — — —
Net income before income tax 55¢ 77C 1,70¢ 6,46¢ 7,31C 1,762 2,037
Income tax benefit (expens — 1,18¢ 2,697 (2,424  (2,544) (367) (831)
Net income 55¢ 1,95¢ 4,404 4,044 4,766 1,39t 1,20¢
Net loss at subsidiary attributa
to noncontrolling interest — — — — — — 12
Net income attributable 1
common shareholde $ 55¢ $195¢ $440¢ $ 4,04/ $ 4,766 $1,398 $1,21¢

Earnings per share attributable
common shareholde—basic $ 0.06 $ 021 $ 04t $ 04 $ 047 $0.1¢ $0.12
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Three months

Ended
Years Ended December 31, March 31,
Statement of income data @ : 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2008 2009
(in thousands, except per share data)

Earnings per share attributable

common shareholders—

diluted $ 004 $ 012 $ 027 $ 024 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Weightec-average share

outstandin—basic 9,082 9,49¢ 9,797 10,03 10,14: 10,09¢ 10,32
Weightec-average share

outstandin—diluted 15,48: 16,30¢ 16,45¢ 16,58: 16,54( 16,41 16,12}
(1) The sum of the individual amounts may not agreetdueunding.

As of December 31, As of March 31,
Balance sheet data: 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivale $ 51€ $ 553¢ $ 6,25¢ $10,81¢ $11,83( $ 10,07:
Working capital 262 5,64(C 3,94t 6,66¢ 10,10¢ 11,26:
Total asset 4,507 10,17: 26,481 28,91¢ 31,11¢ 30,98¢
Total lon¢-term debt and other lo-

term obligations (including current

portion) 2,43¢ 2,39¢ 10,54: 7,62¢  7,66¢ 7,261
Convertible preferred stoc 2,74% 2,74% 2,74: 2,74% 2,60¢ 2,60¢
Retained earnings (accumulated

deficit) (13,719 (11,7649 (7,360() (3,31€) 1,451 2,66¢
Total equity (deficit) (22) 6,23¢ 11,12¢ 16,74¢ 17,55t 18,45:
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Management'’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahposition and results of operations should
be read together with our audited consolidatedriitial statements and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. This disiousand analysis may contain forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncetita#n You should review the “Risk factors”
section of this prospectus for a discussion of i@ factors that could cause actual result:
differ materially from the results described iniowplied by the forward-looking statements
described in the following discussion and analysis.

OVERVIEW

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focusdgti@acquisition, development and
commercialization of branded, prescription produdéfe are building our product portfolio
primarily by acquiring rights to FDA-approved aradd-stage development products and
marketing them to specialty physician segments.iunary target markets are hospital acute
care and gastroenterology. Our current portfolioststs of two products marketed in the
United States and one product recently approvettidyDA.

We pursued the development of Acetadote for tregrirent of acetaminophen poisoning and
acquired rights to clinical data to support its rmppl. Approval of the product was obtained in
January 2004 and we began to market Acetadoteeisdbond quarter of 2004 and launched the
product with a dedicated hospital sales force. brd¥t 2006, we received approval from the
FDA for the use of Acetadote in pediatric patients.

We gained access to marketed gastroenterology gi®by negotiating co-promotion
agreements with the original developers of thesduymts. These agreements allowed us to
enter the gastroenterology market with minimal tgrf costs and limited ongoing operating
risk. In 2005, we made a strategic decision tometeasize our reliance on co-promotion
agreements as a primary growth driver. In April 200e acquired exclusive commercial rights
in the U.S. to Kristalose, a gastroenterology pobae had previously co-promoted under an
arrangement with Bertek Pharmaceuticals Inc., aididyy of Mylan Laboratories Inc. In
September 2006, we re-launched Kristalose undeCtimeberland brand with a dedicated field
sales force targeting gastroenterologists and diigér prescribers of laxative products.

Our research and development expenses have catioggow because of our program to
develop Caldolor. We completed the clinical progfamCaldolor intended to support
regulatory approval in 2008 and received that apgdrim June 2009. We expect research and
development expenses to continue to be signifigante continue clinical work related to
Caldolor and other products.

We have funded our operations with private equétyital of approximately $14 million since
our inception in 1999. We have supplemented thistedunding by re-investing our profits
and utilizing our credit facilities in order to qugrt our operations.

Prior to 2007, our sales forces were contractadstby a third party. In January 2007, we
brought the hospital sales force in-house via duslly-owned subsidiary, Cumberland Pharma
Sales Corp. We continue to outsource the dediggsttoenterology sales force. All expenses
associated with the sales forces are includedlimgeand marketing expense.

In 2000, we formed CET with Vanderbilt UniversitygdaTennessee Technology Development
Corporation to identify early-stage drug developtramtivities. CET partners with universities
and other research organizations to advance pnognisarly-stage product candidates through
the development process and on to commercialization
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Our operating results have fluctuated in the padtae likely to fluctuate in the future. These
fluctuations can result from competitive factorewnproduct acquisitions or introductions, the
nature, scope and results of our research andaf@weht programs, pursuit of our growth
strategy and other factors. As a result of thasetdlations, our historical financial results are
not necessarily indicative of future results.

We were incorporated in 1999 and have been heagedrin Nashville, Tennessee since
inception.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT JUDGME NTS AND
ESTIMATES

Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial stegets in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires managetoenake estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etsssd liabilities and disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the finangtdtements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the period. We bassstimates on past experience and on
other factors we deem reasonable given the ciramoss. Past results help form the basis of
our judgments about the carrying value of asseaddiahilities that are not determined from
other sources. Actual results could differ fromsihestimates. These estimates, judgments and
assumptions are most critical with respect to @eoanting for revenue recognition, provision
for income taxes, stock-based compensation, reseaaet development accounting, and
intangible assets.

As of March 31, 2009, we have capitalized $3.5iomillof costs associated with our initial
public offering in accordance with SEC Staff Accting Bulletin Topic 5A. If events or
circumstances were to change, we may be requirexgense these costs in a future period.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with the SE@H Accounting Bulletin No. 101,
Revenue Recognition in Financial Statemi, as amended by Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104 (together, SAB 101), and Statenwdrfinancial Accounting Standards
No. 48,Revenue Recognition When Right of Return E(@&¥AS 48).

Our revenue is derived primarily from the prodwales of Acetadote and Kristalose. Revenue
is recognized when persuasive evidence of an agraagt exists, delivery has occurred, the

is fixed and determinable and collectability islpable. Delivery is considered to have occu
upon either shipment of the product or arrivatatliestination based on the shipping terms of
the transaction. When these conditions are salisfie recognize gross product revenue, w

is the price we charge generally to our wholesdtara particular product.

Our net product revenue reflects the reductionro$g product revenue at the time of initial
sales recognition for estimated accounts receivaldgances for chargebacks, discounts and
damaged product as well as provisions for salege@laccruals of rebates, product returns and
administrative fees and fee for services. Our fai@rstatements reflect accounts receivable
allowances of $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.1llian as of December 31, 2007 and 2008
and March 31, 2009, respectively, for chargebadissounts and allowances for product
damaged in shipment. We had accrued liabilitie$0o¥ million, $1.0 million and $1.3 million

as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 and March 31,,288pectively, for rebates, product
returns, service fees, and administrative fees.

33




Table of Contents

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial ¢ ondition and results of
operations

The following table reflects our sales-related aatactivity:

Sales Related Accruals

Balance as of December 31, 2006 $ 742,67¢
Current Provisior 1,194,86!
Current Provision for Prior Period Sa (44,257)
Actual Returns/Credit (1,154,93)

Balance as of December 31, 2007 738,36:
Current Provisior 1,690,13.
Current Provision for Prior Period Sa (73,960
Actual Returns/Credit (1,314,33)

Balance as of December 31, 20( 1,040,20:
Current Provisior 626,89(
Current Provision for Prior Period Sa 58,00(
Actual Returns/Credit (424,91)

Balance as of March 31, 200 $ 1,300,18;

The allowances for chargebacks, discounts, and glednaroducts and sales related accrual
rebates and product returns are determined ondugidy-productinalysis and are establist
by management as our best estimate at the timaebased on each product’s historical
experience, adjusted to reflect known changesdrfabtors that impact such allowances and
accruals. Additionally, these allowances and adsraie established based on the contractual
terms with customers; analysis of historical lewalgiscounts, returns, chargebacks and
rebates; communication with customers, and purchaermation about the rate of
prescriptions being written and the level of in@gtremaining in the distribution channel, if
known; as well as expectations about the marked¢dch product, including any anticipated
introduction of competitive products.

The allowances for chargebacks and accruals fateskand product returns are the most
significant estimates used in the recognition afrewenue from product sales. Of the accounts
receivable allowances and our sales related ascroat accrual for rebates and product returns
represent the majority of the balance. Sales laterued liabilities totaled $0.7 million,

$1.0 million and $1.3 million as of December 3102@&nd 2008 and March 31, 2009,
respectively. Of these amounts, our estimatedlifplfor rebates represented $0.3 million,

$0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, whibeir accrual for product returns totaled

$0.3 million, $0.6 million and $0.7 million, resgaely. If the actual amount of cash discoul
chargebacks, rebates, and product returns diféen the amounts estimated by management,
material differences may result from the amourgwfrevenue recognized from product sales.
A change in our rebate estimate of one percentaig would have impacted net sales by
approximately $96,000 and $102,000 for the yeadgedrecember 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively. A change in our product return esténtd one percentage point would have
impacted net sales by $302,000 and $377,000 foyehes ended December 31, 2007 and =
respectively. Our product returns for expired pieidare not tracked against specific periods.
Any expired product return would be from a prioripd, given the shelf-life of the products.

From January 2006 through part of April 2006, weorded contract sales revenue which was
based on co-promotion agreements primarily withtdePharmaceuticals Inc., for the sales of
Kristalose. Co-promotion fees were calculated based percent of gross sales or similar
calculation. Contract sales revenue is includemeinrevenues.
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In 2005, we allowed customers to purchase additjerauct prior to a scheduled price
increase. Revenue for shipments of these purchesesecognized in accordance with our
stated revenue recognition policy. As a genera, reffective January 1, 2006, we no longer
offer these or any other type of incentive purcbdseour customers. We occasionally make an
exception to this policy, when we offer odd-lot gtifes at a slightly reduced price or when a
customer opens a new facility and requests speials on their initial purchase. To date, we
believe these types of transactions have not bedarial. Moreover, when we offer special
terms, we review the transaction against our reggaaognition policy for proper treatment. If
we determine such transactions become materialyilvdisclose the impact in the notes to our
financial statements.

While we do not have regular access to our custenmarentory levels, we review each order
from all of our customers. To the extent that ateoreflects more than a normal purchasing
pattern, management discusses the order with steroer prior to agreeing to process the
order.

Other income, which is included in net revenuesluides rental and grant income. Other
income was less than one percent of net revenu2@08.

Income Taxes

We provide for deferred taxes using the assetiabdity approach. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe future tax consequences attributable to
operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards aiffiédinces between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliied their respective tax bases. Our principal
differences are related to the timing of dedudtipif certain items such as depreciation,
amortization, and expense for options issued t@mployees. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using management’s estimtax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which management believesetlemporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferrecdsarts and liabilities of a change in tax rates
is recognized in income in the period that inclutfesenactment date.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ssseanagement considers whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the eleéd tax assets will not be realized. The
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is ddpat upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which those tempodifferences become deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversal ofrddftax liabilities, projected future taxa
income, and tax planning strategies in makingdksessment. In order to fully utilize the
deferred tax asset of $1.5 million as of Decemter2B08, we will need to generate future
taxable income of approximately $7.2 million prtorthe expiration of the net operating loss
carry-forwards in 2023.

Stock-Based Compensation

We determine our share value on a contemporanesis Wwhen we issue shares of common
stock and options to purchase shares of our constomk. Our board of directors establishes a
share value of the common stock based on a recodatien by management and its
assessment of several factors, including:

> the fact that, prior to this offering, our commaack has not traded on a public market;

> reports by management of arms’ length negotiatwitts third parties who accept our
common stock as consideration for services rengl

> our performance and the status of our researchpamtiict development efforts;

> review of third-party valuation analysis secureshirtime to time by management, such as
those secured from Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc. masnidy in December 2008; al
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> the board’s consideration of the timing of a ligtyicevent (such as an initial public offering,
merger, or sale of our company), given our boacdissideration of existing market
conditions.

In preparing its recommendation for our board, management analyzes our revenue and
expense projections, along with financial assummgti@ncluding anticipation of future events).
We have historically estimated a range for the @a@fiour company as an enterprise, based on
multiples of revenues, EBITDA, and earnings. Wenthdjust the range of enterprise values for
cash and debt in order to determine the range wfyegalues of our company. We divide the
equity values by the total number of common shaustanding or subject to issuance upon the
exercise or conversion of all outstanding optiavesrrants, and shares of preferred stock to
establish the per share price range. In allocamgty value to preferred and common shares,
we consider the features of common and preferraceshrecognizing that dividend and voting
rights are the same for each and that the primiffigreince is a liquidation preference of $3.25
per share for preferred shares. After considetiegange of values in December 2008, we
determined that the equity value of our company aygsoximately $254 million. In the event
of liquidation, aggregate preferential paymenthdtwlers of our preferred stock would be less
than $2.7 million. We have evaluated the prefereated to these potential payments and
determined that its value is not material in relatio our company’s overall equity value or on
a per share basis. In recommending a specific priten the range of values, management
makes subjective judgments based upon its curesetsament of our historical and projected
performance, general market conditions, and sirsiléjective criteria that management deems
appropriate. All valuation analyses are performaatemporaneously. Most recently in
December 2008, Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc., actingbimection with its role as our financial
advisor, assisted management in preparing its traluanalysis for board review.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we applied the intringifise-based method of accounting prescribed
by Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No., Z&counting for Stock Issued to
Employeesand related interpretations including FIN No. Adcounting for Certain
Transactions Involving Stock Compensation — anpnégation of APB Opinion No. 250
account for our stock options issued under the 88k Option Plan. Under this method,
compensation expense is recorded on the date iof gndy if the current market price of the
underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. @té of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatag SFAS No. 148\ccounting

for Stocl-Based Compensation Fransition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASEBeStani
No. 123, established accounting and disclosure requiresngsihg a fair-value-based method
of accounting for stock-based compensation plasgémitted by then-existing accounting
standards, we elected to continue to apply thesit-value-based method of accounting
described above, and adopted only the disclosargreaments of SFAS No. 123, as amended
for options issued to employees. We applied thevaiue method prescribed by SFAS 123 for
options issued to nonemployees.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.RpEhare-Based Paymentahich

revises SFAS No. 123\ccounting for Stock-Based Compensatiand supersedes APB
Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employe8§AS 123(R) requires that all
share-based payment transactions with employeescbgnized in the financial statements
based on their fair value and recognized as congpensexpense over the vesting period. We
adopted SFAS 123(R) effective January 1, 2006 gactsely for new equity awards issued
subsequent to December 31, 2005, or existing avwwhadsvere modified, repurchased, or
cancelled subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 123(R)

The 1999 Stock Option Plan was superseded andcezplay the 2007 Long-Term Incentive
Compensation Plan (the 2007 Plan) and 2007 Dirgctiocentive Plan (the Directors’ Plan).
The terms
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of the awards granted under the 1999 Stock Optian Were not impacted by the
implementation of the new plans.

Information on employee and non-employee stockoogtgranted in 2007, 2008 and 2009 is
summarized as follows:

Number of Weighted - Average Weighted -Average

Stock Options Average Intrinsic Value Fair Value of

Grants made during quarter ended Granted Exercise Price per Share @) Option (per Share)
March 31, 200° 90,92( $11.0C $2.0C $7.21
June 30, 200 — — — —
September 30, 20(C — — — —
December 31, 200 — — — —
March 31, 200¢ — — — —
June 30, 200 — — — —
September 30, 20( 134,10( $13.2¢ — $6.27
December 31, 200 — — — —
March 31, 200¢ 138,34( $13.2¢ — $6.2¢

(1) Calculated as of March 31, 20

The fair value of employee options granted duri@72 2008 and 2009 were estimated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and thediwihg assumptions:

2007 2008 2009
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected term (year: 5.5-6.4 3.5-6.C 3.7-6.2
Expected volatility 58%- 64% 49%-51%  50%- 52%
Risk-free interest rat 4.6%- 4.8% 3.1%  1.4%-1.9%

The fair value of non-employee options grantedrifu007, 2008 and 2009, were estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model aralftilowing assumptions:

2007 2008 2009

Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected term (year: 10 10 10
Expected volatility 4% 68% 67%
Risk-free interest rat 4.83% 3.7% 2.7%

For employee stock option grants, the weightedayeexpected option terms for 2007, 2008
and 2009 represent the application of the simplifieethod as defined in SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin (SAB) No. 107 issued in March 2005, as aded by SAB 110 issued in December
2007. The simplified method defines the expectiedds the average of the contractual term of
the option and the weighted-average vesting pddothe option. For non-employee stock
option grants, the expected option terms for 2@008 and 2009 represent the contractual
term.

We estimated volatility for 2007, 2008 and 200@acordance with SAB No. 107. As there has
been no public market for our common stock priathie offering, and therefore, a lack of
company-specific historical or implied volatilityath, we have determined the share-price
volatility based on an analysis of certain publitigded companies that we consider to be our
peers. The comparable peer companies used forstinraged volatility are publicly-traded
companies with operations which we believe to bglar to ours. When identifying companies
as peers, we consider such characteristics agpbeof
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industry, size and/or type of product(s), reseamntor product development capabilities, and
stock-based transactions. We intend to continwensistently estimate our volatility in this
manner until sufficient historical information redang the volatility of our own shares
becomes available, or circumstances change sutththalentified entities are no longer
similar to us. In this latter case, we would uéliather similar entities whose share prices are
publicly available.

As of March 31, 2009, we had approximately $1.8iarlof unrecognized share-based
compensation expense related to unvested optiordawadditionally, as of March 31, 2009,
we had outstanding vested options to purchase B83&hares of our common stock and
unvested options to purchase 370,915 shares afosomon stock. Furthermore, as of

March 31, 2009, we had 68,958 warrants outstantimyrchase shares of our common stock.

Research and Development

We account for research and development costs@mdeaexpenses based on estimates of
work performed, patient enrollment, or fixed-fee-g@rvices. As work is performed

and/or invoices are received, we adjust our esémand accruals. To date, our accruals have
been within our estimates.

Total research and development costs are a funcfistudies being conducted and will
increase or decrease, depending on the level witgdh any particular year.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include license agreements, ptaotts, and other identifiable intangible
assets. We assess the impairment of identifialda@ible assets whenever events or chan¢
circumstances indicate that the carrying value natybe recoverable. In determining the
recoverability of our intangible assets, we muskenassumptions regarding estimated future
cash flows and other factors. If the estimated sgwlinted future cash flows do not exceed the
carrying value of the intangible assets, we musdrd@ne the fair value of the intangible ass

If the fair value of the intangible assets is fém the carrying value, an impairment loss will
be recognized in an amount equal to the difference.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, certain items from our statement of
operations expressed as a percentage of net resjeasuevell as the period-to-period change in

these items.
% Change
Three Months Ended Three Months
Years Ended December 31, March 31, % Change Ended March 31,
2006 2007 2008 2008 2009 2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009
Net revenue 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 57.5% 25.(% 13.52%
Costs and expens
Cost of products
sold 13.5 9.5 8.7 9.1 7.8 11.z 14.1 (2.9
Selling and
marketing 41.2 35.¢ 41.C 40.5 44.C 36.¢ 43.1 23.1
Research and
developmen 12.5 13.2 12.€ 13.4 8.2 65.4 19.¢ (30.€)
General and
administrative 16.¢ 14.7 14.7 13.C 15.2 38.C 24.2 33.4
Amortization of
product licens
rights 2.8 24 2.C 2.1 1.8 B8k 0.C 0.C
Other 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.1 8.C 5.5
Total costs and
expense: 87.t 76.C 79.2 78.4 77.5 36.€ 30.z 11.¢€
Operating Incom  12.F 24.C 20.¢ 21.€ 22.t 202.¢ 8.2 18.C
Interest incomt 1.2 1.4 0.7 1.0 0.2 83.t (37.0) (78.€)
Interest expens (4.7) (2.9) (0.€) (1.4) (1.0) (11.9 (66.7) (14.0)
Net income
before income
taxes 9.6 23.C 20.€ 21.2 21.7 278.1 13.C 15.€
Income tax benefit
(expenses 15.1 (8.6) (7.9 (4.9 (8.6) (189.9 4.¢ 126.2
Net Income 24.7 14.4 13.€ 16.€ 12.¢ (8.2) 17.¢ (13.6)
Net loss a
subsidiary
attributable to
noncontrolling
interests 0.C 0.C 0.C 0.C 0.1 0.C 0.C 0.C
Net income
attributable to
common
shareholders 24.7 14.4 13.€ 16.¢ 13.C (8.2 17.¢ (12.9)

(1) The sum of the individual amounts may not agreetdueunding.

Description of operating accounts

Net revenueconsist of net product revenue, revenue from conptdn agreements, and other
revenue. Net product revenue consists primarilgros revenue less discounts and allowances,
such as cash discounts, rebates, chargebacksstamnds: Revenue from co-promotion
agreements includes product promotion fees. Otteamne includes rental and grant income.

Cost of products soldonsists principally of the cost to acquire eacit oihproduct sold. Cost
of products sold also includes expense associatbdive write-off of slow moving or expired
product.

Selling and marketing expensensists primarily of expense relating to the préom
distribution and sale of products, including royakpense, salaries and related costs.

Research and development expeconsists primarily of clinical trial expenses, sgaland
wages and related costs of materials and suppliescertain activities of third-party providers
participating in our clinical studies.

General and administrative experiaeludes finance and accounting expenses, executive
expenses, office expenses, and business develogxgenses, including salaries and related
costs.



Amortization of product license righresulted from our acquisition of the exclusive
U.S. commercialization rights to Kristalose.

Interest incomeconsists primarily of interest income earned orhaeposits.
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Interest expensconsists primarily of interest incurred on debt atiter long-term obligations.

Income tax benefin 2006 consists primarily of the realization of aieferred tax assets less
taxes incurred on incomBcome tax expenge 2007 and 2008 consists primarily of current
and deferred income taxes on our taxable incomérfancial reporting purposes.

Three months ended March 31, 2009 compared to thet hree months ended
March 31, 2008

Net revenues.Net revenues for the three months ended March(®19 Btaled approximately
$9.4 million, representing an increase of approxatya$1.1 million, or 13%, over the same
period in 2008. The increase in net revenues manily due to increased sales of Acetadote as
we continued to gain market share and expand ogettanarkets. Net revenues related to
Kristalose decreased $0.2 million during the fipsarter of 2009 as compared to the same
period in 2008. The decrease in volume was primdike to lower orders from a wholesaler as
they implemented a new inventory ordering system.

For the three months ended March 31, 2009, grdss saere reduced by approximately

$1.0 million, of which approximately $0.2 millioelated to cash discounts, approximately
$0.3 million related to damaged and expired prodeittrns, approximately $0.3 million relai
to fee-for-services and approximately $0.2 milliefated to rebates. For the three months
ended March 31, 2008, gross sales were reduceddmgxdmately $0.6 million, of which
approximately $0.2 million related to cash disceuantd approximately $0.3 million related to
damaged and expired product returns.

Cost of products sold.Cost of products sold for the three months erddacch 31, 2009

totaled approximately $0.7 million, representindegrease of approximately $22,000, or 3%,
over the same period in 2008. As a percentagetakerenues, cost of products sold decreased
from 9.1% of net revenues for the three months @émdarch 31, 2008 to 7.8% of net revenues
for the three months ended March 31, 2009. Theedserin cost of products sold, in dollars, is
directly related to the strengthening of the U &lad for inventory purchases during the three
months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the garizal in 2008. The decrease in cost of
products sold as a percentage of net revenuesnvaarpy due to a change in the sales mix
and the strengthening of the U.S. dollar.

Selling and marketing.Selling and marketing expense for the three nwatided March 31,
2009 totaled approximately $4.1 million, represegitin increase of approximately

$0.8 million, or 23%, over the same period in 2008the increase, approximately $0.4 mill
related to the expansion of our sales forces aptbapnately $0.3 million related to new
marketing campaigns for our products. We expetingehnd marketing expense to increase in
the second half of 2009 as we expand our salee forahe launch of Caldolor.

Research and developme Research and development expense for the thrathmended
March 31, 2009 totaled approximately $0.8 millioepresenting a decrease of approximately
$0.3 million, or 31%, over the same period in 20D8e decrease was primarily due to fewer
clinical studies for our products in the first guigairof 2009 as compared to the same period in
2008.

General and administrative General and administrative expense for the threstimscended
March 31, 2009 totaled approximately $1.4 millieepresenting an increase of approximately
$0.4 million, or 33%, over the same period in 20D8e increase is primarily due to increased
payroll tax expense of $0.1 million, increased ktoampensation expense of $0.1 million and
increased legal and audit-related fees of $0.lianill

Income tax expens Income tax expense for the three months endedhvizt, 2009 totaled
approximately $0.8 million, representing an inceeabapproximately $0.5 million, or 126%,
over the same period in 2008. As a percentagetdhoeme before income taxes, income tax
expense increased
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from 20.8% for the three months ended March 31826010.8% for the three months ended
March 31, 2009. The increase was primarily dudéorécognition in the first quarter of 2008
of approximately $0.4 million of previously unrecored tax benefits.

Year ended December 31, 2008 compared to year ended December 31, 2007

Net revenues Net revenues for 2008 totaled $35.1 million, esenting an increase of

$7.0 million, or 25%, over the same period in 200%this increase, approximately

$6.6 million related to Acetadote and $0.5 milli@tated to Kristalose. Increases were parti
offset by lower grant revenue in 2008. The incréasevenues for Acetadote and Kristalose
was primarily due to increased volume as our prtsdoentinued to grow in our target markets.

Gross product sales were reduced by $2.8 millih$h4 million in 2008 and 2007,
respectively. In 2008, this reduction included $hillion for damaged and expired product
returns, $0.7 million for cash discounts, $0.7 imillrelated to fee-for-service costs and
$0.3 million for estimated rebates, chargebacksdiscbunts related to Kristalose. For 2007
this reduction included $1.1 million for damaged @xpired product returns, $0.6 million for
cash discounts, $0.4 million related to fee-forsimr costs and $0.2 million for estimated
rebates, chargebacks and discounts related tcalass.

Cost of products sold.Cost of products sold totaled $3.0 million, reganmeting an increase of
$0.4 million, or 14%, over cost of products sol®B07 of $2.7 million. Of this increase,
approximately $0.3 million related to Acetadote &dl million related to Kristalose. As a
percentage of net revenues, cost of products suicedsed from 9.5% in 2007 to 8.7% for
2008. The decrease in cost of products sold, &aptage of net revenues, was due to a shift
in the sales mix between the periods.

Selling and marketing.Selling and marketing expense for 2008 totaletl $nillion,
representing an increase of $4.3 million, or 43%&r@®007. Selling and marketing expense
percentage of net revenue was 41.0% and 35.8%0@ &0d 2007, respectively. The increase
was primarily due to $3.1 million for the expansemmd ongoing costs of our sales forces as we
continue to grow our products in our target markets expand our territories. We also incu

an increase of $0.4 million in advertising expepsmarily associated with a new marketing
campaign for Kristalose and $0.4 million of additab royalty expense. We anticipate selling
and marketing expenses to continue to increaseeaxpand both sales forces as well as our
product lines.

Research and developme Research and development expense for 2008 tdkdlddmillion,
representing an increase of $0.7 million, or 20¥&r@007. The increase was primarily due to
$1.2 million expended for the application fee agsted with regulatory approval of one of our
products, and was offset by a decrease in clisitalies and supplies expense as we completed
development activity intended to support regulatgproval of that product.

General and administrative.General and administrative expense for 2008edt&b.1 million
representing an increase of $1 million, or 24% r@eneral and administrative expenses in
2007 of $4.1 million. The increase was primarilyeda increased rent expense as we acquired
additional office space, increased business densdop expense as we evaluated potential
acquisition candidates and agreements and increasay and related expenses, including
share-based compensation, due to personnel addition

Interest income Interest income totaled $0.2 million for 200§ mesenting a decrease of
$0.1 million, or 37%, over 2007. The decrease wasarily due to lower interest rates and
lower cash balance requirements due to the repayofi@ur remaining product license right
obligation in April 2008.

Interest expens: Interest expense totaled $0.2 million for 20@fyresenting a decrease of
$0.4 million, or 67%, over 2007. The decrease wasarily due to lower outstanding debt
during
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2008 as compared to 2007. In April 2008, we amemidgdgreement to pay the remaining
obligation related to the purchase of the prodigeiise right, resulting in lower interest
expense in 2008 associated with this obligation.

Income tax expens Income tax expense for 2008 totaled $2.5 milli@presenting a decre:
of $0.1 million, or 5%, over 2007. As a percentafjeet income before income taxes, income
tax expense decreased from 37.5% for 2007 to 3#08%008. The decrease in the tax rate
primarily due to the recognition in 2008 of prevdbuunrecognized tax benefits associated
the reversal of our FIN 48 reserve.

Year ended December 31, 2007 compared to year ended December 31, 2006

Net revenues Net revenues in 2007 totaled $28.1 million, repreing an increase of

$10.2 million, or 57.5%, over 2006. Of this increa$8.1 million was attributable to increased
sales of Acetadote, and $2.8 million was attriblgtab increased sales of Kristalose. These
increases were partially offset by a $0.6 milli@cbase in co-promotion and other revenue. In
April 2006, we entered into an agreement to acghigeexclusive U.S. commercial rights to
Kristalose and began recording revenue based pmsinits of the product. Prior to April 2006,
we co-promoted Kristalose and recorded a co-pramdte based on a percentage of the
product’s sales. The increase in sales of Acetadageprimarily due to increased market share
in our target area for the treatment of acetamiragbxicity, a ondime sale to an internatior
customer for $0.9 million and the impact of additibsales representatives. Other income in
2006 was primarily comprised of co-promotion feglated to Kristalose and grant related
activity.

Gross product sales were reduced by $2.4 milli@h%hl million in 2007 and 2006,
respectively. In 2007, this reduction included $hillion for damaged and expired product
returns, $0.6 million for cash discounts, $0.4 imillrelated to fee-for-service costs and

$0.2 million for estimated rebates, chargebackd,discounts related to Kristalose. For 2006,
this reduction included $0.7 million related to deged and expired product returns,

$0.3 million related to cash discounts, $0.2 millrelated to fee-for-service costs and

$1.0 million related to estimated rebates, charglehaand discounts related to Kristalose.

Cost of products sold.Cost of products sold totaled approximately $8ilfion in 2007,
representing an increase of approximately $0.3anillor 11%, over cost of products sold in
2006 of approximately $2.4 million. Of the increaapproximately 52% related to Acetadote
and 48% related to Kristalose. Cost of productd asla percentage of net revenues decreased
from 13.5% in 2006 to 9.5% in 2007. The decreadfercost of products sold as a percentage
of net revenue was due to the shift in the sales Atetadote cost of products sold as a
percentage of Acetadote net revenue was not misyetiierent between 2007 and 2006.

Selling and marketing.Selling and marketing expense totaled approxity&&0.1 million in
2007, representing an increase of approximately 8#llion, or 37%, over selling and
marketing expense in 2006. Selling and marketimgeage as a percentage of net revenue was
35.8% and 41.2% in 2007 and 2006, respectively.ddilar increase was primarily due to

$2.0 million in additional costs related to the neales force created to promote Kristalose.
Additionally, we incurred approximately $0.7 mili@f increased royalty expense, of which
$0.4 million related to Acetadote and $0.3 milliefated to Kristalose. We anticipate selling
and marketing expense will grow as we expand balrsforces as well as our product lines.

Research and developme Research and development expense for 2007 totaled
approximately $3.7 million, representing an appmtate $1.5 million, or 65%, increase over
research and development expense in 2006 of appatedy $2.2 million. The increase was
primarily due to the increased clinical studie@®7 as we worked towards completing the
studies of Caldolor. We expect
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research and development expense in 2008 to reznasistent with 2007 expense, and expect
to include the NDA filing fee for Caldolor.

General and administrative.General and administrative expense totaled $4lliomin 2007,
representing a $1.1 million, or 38%, increase @eereral and administrative expense in 2006
of $3.0 million. General and administrative expease percentage of net revenue was 14.7%
and 16.8% in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The doitzxease was primarily due to increased
personnel expense of $0.5 million, increased stockpensation expense of $0.3 million,
increased audit fees of $0.2 million, and increased of $0.1 million.

Amortization of product license right Amortization of product licensing rights incredse

$0.2 million in 2007 as compared to 2006. The iaseewas due to recording twelve months of
expense in 2007 compared to recording nine montBO06 as the licensing rights were not
acquired until April 2006. We expect to incur anharaortization expense relating to these
product license rights through March 2021.

Interest income Interest income in 2007 totaled $0.4 million,negenting a $0.2 million, or
84%, increase over interest income in 2006 of &dilkon. The increase in interest income v
due to larger cash equivalent balances in 200 dpared to 2006.

Interest expens: Interest expense totaled $0.6 million in 200¢@®pared to $0.7 million in
2006. The decrease in interest expense in 200duaso lower outstanding term debt balar
during 2007 as compared to 2006.

Income tax expens Income tax expense totaled $2.4 million in 208 t@mpared to an
income tax benefit of $2.7 million in 2006. Thednce tax expense in 2007 was primarily due
to current and deferred income taxes on our taxabtame for financial reporting purposes. In
2006, the income tax benefit was primarily duen®rieversal of our deferred tax asset
valuation allowance after determining that it wasrenlikely than not that we would realize the
benefits of the deferred tax asset.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flowsyded by our operations and our borrowin
We believe that our internally generated cash fland amounts available under our debt
agreements will be adequate to service existing, @i@ance internal growth and fund capital
expenditures.

As of March 31, 2009, cash and cash equivalentspd@sl million, working capital was
$11.3 million and our current ratio (current assetsurrent liabilities) was 2.77 to 1.
Management expects funds for our operating andalapiquirements will be provided by
continuing operations, existing cash balances,asadability under our credit facilities. As of
March 31, 2009, we had an additional $5.7 millieaitable to us on our line of credit. Upon
completion of this offering, we expect to have sabsal proceeds.

In connection with the Option Transaction as désatiin the section titled “Certain
relationships and related party transactions”,oéiffe July 2009, we amended our debt
agreement with Bank of America to provide for $18\llion in term debt and a $4.0 million
revolving credit facility. We expect to use the ggeds from the term debt to pay in part the
minimum statutory tax withholding requirements ppeoximately $24.6 million due from an
option holder who has submitted notice that proott at the pricing of this offering, he is
exercising options to purchase shares of our constamrk. The consideration for that payment
will be the transfer to us of 1,445,074 shareswfapmmon stock of the option holder. In
connection with the Option Transaction, we expedédnerate a deferred tax asset of
approximately $25.5 million to offset future taabilities. The aggregate exercise price of the
options is approximately $2.4 million for which pagnt may be satisfied using cash or
140,788 shares
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(using the public offering price listed on the cowéthis prospectus). The aggregate exercise
price will be satisfied by the tendering of sharesulting in no cash proceeds to us.

The following table summarizes our net changesshand cash equivalents for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and threthenended March 31, 2008 and 2009:

Three Months
Years Ended December 31, Ended March 31,
2006 2007 2008 2008 2009

(in thousands)

(unaudited)
Net cash provided by (used il
Operating activitie! $2,16: $8,627 $6,397 $1,87C $(1,735)
Investing activities (6,559 (163 (139 (46) (32
Financing activitie: 5,10¢ (3,909 (5,24%¢ (726) 10
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents®) $ 71¢ $4,55¢ $1,01F $1,09¢ $(1,757%)

(1) The sum of the individual amounts may not agreetdueunding.

The net decrease in cash and cash equivalents®fi$llion for the three months ended

March 31, 2009 was primarily due to cash used eraing activities. The cash used in
operating activities was primarily due to the remitign of the excess tax benefit of
approximately $2.8 million on the exercise of noalified options in the first quarter of 2009
as a cash outflow from operations offset by nevine of approximately $1.2 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2009. The excesstafibis included as a cash inflow from
financing activities that was substantially offbgtthe cash paid to repurchase shares to settle
the minimum statutory tax withholding requiremeintsn the exercise of those options.

In April 2006, we entered into an agreement withldo to acquire exclusive U.S. commercial
rights for Kristalose. In order to complete thigrtsaction, we obtained funding from Bank of
America in the form of a three-year term loan f&r3million and a two-year revolving line of
credit agreement, both with an interest rate of@Mplus 2.5%. The borrowings were
collateralized by a first lien against all of owsats. We were paying off the term loan in
quarterly installments, with the final payment dou@009. In addition to the three-year term
loan, we deferred $4.5 million of the purchasegraf which $1.5 million was paid in April
2007 and $3.0 million was originally due in 2009 April 2008, we paid the remaining
obligation for an 8% discount on the $3.0 milli@cé value of the obligation.

In conjunction with the original line of credit agyment and term loan agreement, we issued to
the lender warrants to purchase up to 3,958 sli@mmmon stock at $9.00 per share. The
warrants expire in April 2016. The estimated falue of these warrants of $25,680, as
determined using the Black-Scholes model, has bemrded in the accompanying financial
statements as permanent equity in accordance wwittrging Issues Task Force (EITF),

No. 0(-19, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments éad to, and Potentially Settled
in, a Company’s Own Stock.

In December 2008, we refinanced the remaining teem balance with Bank of America of
$917,000 and borrowed an additional $4,083,000edkas establishing a new $7.5 million i
of credit via the Third Amendment to the Loan Agrnemt. Both the line of credit and the term
loan carried an interest rate of LIBOR plus an aple margin, as defined in the agreement
(4.42% as of December 31, 2008). The borrowingewellateralized by a first lien against all
our assets. We have been paying off the term loguarterly installments, with the final
payment due in 2011. The line of credit was als®idu
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2011. This agreement contained various covenalhts, @hich we were in compliance with as
of December 31, 2008.

In connection with the Option Transaction as désatiin the section titled “Certain
relationships and related party transactions” atiffe July 2009, we amended the revolving
credit facility via the Fourth Amended and Restdtedn Agreement to provide for a

$4.0 million line of credit and a term loan of $8nillion. Both the line of credit and the term
loan carry an interest rate of LIBOR plus an amiile margin, as defined in the agreement.
The borrowings are collateralized by a first ligyamst all our assets. The loan agreement
requires us to pay off the term loan in quartemstallments beginning March 31, 2010, with
the final payment due in December 2012. We mayehaired to make additional principal
payments on the term loan if our leverage ratiajefsed, exceeds 1.75 to 1.0 on an annual
basis. We issued Bank of America a ten-year watmptirchase 7,500 shares of our common
stock and also agreed to issue to Bank of Ameris@0rshares of our common stock within
thirty days of the execution of the loan agreeméhe line of credit is due in December 2012.

Under our agreements with Inalco and Bioniche liermanufacturing of Kristalose and
Acetadote, we are obligated to purchase minimumueatsoof inventory each year. These
obligations required us to purchase approximat2lg $nillion of Kristalose and $0.1 million
Acetadote during 2009, $3.0 million of Kristalogedg$0.1 million of Acetadote during 2010,
and $2.4 million of Kristalose during 2011. In Af2D09, we amended our agreement with
Inalco so that our minimum purchase requirement&fistalose will be not less than 25% of
the purchases in the immediately preceding caleyetar. We expect our normal inventory
purchasing levels to be above the required minimmummunts. As of December 31, 2008, we
had met our purchase obligations for 2008 undesetlagireements.

During 2001, we signed an agreement with Cato Rekdadd., or Cato, to cover a variety of
development efforts related to Caldolor, includprgparation of submissions to the FDA.
Under the terms of the agreement, we deferred toopasf each bill from Cato. Ontiird of the
deferred amount accrued interest at an annuabfdt2.5% and was due after eighteen months.
The remaining two-thirds will be due upon specifitestone events. Upon meeting the first
milestone, an amount equal to one-third of theioaigdeferred amount, or approximately
$0.2 million, will become due and payable. Upon pstion of the final milestone event, an
amount equal to five times one-third of the oridideferred amount, or approximately

$1.0 million, will become due and payable to C&imce the application of these factors is
contingent upon specific events which may or mayagaur in the future and which did not
occur as of December 31, 2006, the expense foe tlaesors was not recognized in the 2006
consolidated financial statements. During the thudrter of 2007, we progressed our studies
and NDA application to the extent that we determiités probable the first milestone will be
met. As such, we recorded the obligation relatethédfirst milestone of approximately

$0.2 million as a current liability as of Decemi3dr, 2007. As of December 31, 2008, the total
liability recorded related to Cato was approximat0.6 million. Upon FDA approval of
Caldolor in June 2009, we accrued approximatel@ #iillion in connection with the

fulfillment of this remaining milestone. Additiorg) because the FDA approved the product
within eighteen months of acceptance of the NDAtpGasted in options to acquire up to
60,000 shares of our common stock.
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The following table sets forth a summary of ourtcactual cash obligations as of
December 31, 2008:

Payments Due by Year
Contractual obligations () Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013+

(in thousands)

Amounts reflected in the balance sh¢

Term loan® $ 5,00C $1,25C $1,667 $2,08: — —

Line of credit(® 1,82¢ — — 1826 — —

Estimated interest on debt/obligatic4)®) 63C 244 217 166 — —

Other contractual obligatior® 61€  41C 20¢& - — —
Other cash obligations not reflected in the balasbeel

Operating lease 1,67¢  59C 55¢ 13¢ 93 29¢

Purchase obligatior(” 8,34 2,14 2,99¢ 3,200 — —
Total $18,09: $4,63¢ $5,64¢ $7,41€ $ 93 $ 29¢€

(1) The sum of the individual amounts may not agreetdueunding.

(2)In July 2009, we amended our loan agreement witikBd& America. Had this table reflected the effetcthe
amendment, payments due under the term loan wawved been $833, $6,000, $6,000, $6,000 and $0 29,20
2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013+, respectiv

(3)In July 2009, we amended our loan agreement witikBd America. Had this table reflected the effefcthe
amendment, payments due under the line of creditdvoave been $0, $0, $0, $1,826 and $0 for 2009022011,
2012 and 2013+, respective

(4)Represents estimated interest payments on our agrisgane of credit and term loan based on the Dewer 31,
2008 interest rate of LIBOR plus an applicable nrargs defined in the agreement (4.42%). Interagtents are
due and payable quarterly in arrears. The line@edic becomes due and payable in December 201im&sd
interest for the line of credit is based on theiagstion of a consistent outstanding balance. Ttra tean matures
in December 2011 with principal payments due an@bke quarterly

(5)In July 2009, we amended our loan agreement witikBd& America. Had this table reflected the effetcthat
amendment, estimated payments for interest would baen $683, $1,040, $685, $330 and $0 for 200E0),2
2011, 2012 and 2013

(6) Includes undiscounted cash flows as the imputetest is included in these amout

(7) Represents minimum purchase obligations underdadsé and Acetadote manufacturing agreements. Biegirin
October 2011 and continuing through the life of dikgeeement, which expires in 2021, one of the mamtufing ant
supply agreements requires minimum purchases déasthan 65% of the average purchases in edtie tfiree
immediately preceding annual periods. Using mininpurchase requirements and the current pricingtsire,
these obligations would be approximately $1.9 wnillin 2012 and approximately $8.1 million in yea€d 3- 2021.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

During 2006, 2007 and 2008 and the three monthedehthrch 31, 2009, we did not engage in
any off-balance sheet arrangements.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14Jdeey,Business CombinatioffSFAS
141(R)). SFAS 141(R) relates to business combinatamd requires the acquirer to recognize
the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, apdhancontrolling interest in the acquiree at
acquisition date measured at fair values on theisitipn date. This statement was adopted for
our company for all business combinations occurangr after January 1, 2009. The impac
adoption of SFAS 141(R) will depend on future asgigns.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. E&if,Value Measuremen{SFAS 157),
which defines fair value, establishes a frameworknfieasuring fair value and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. Moreifsgadly, this statement clarifies the
definition of fair value, establishes a fair
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valuation hierarchy based upon observable (e.geguarices, interest rates, yield curves) and
unobservable market inputs, and expands disclasguérements to include the inputs used to
develop estimates of fair value and the effecthefestimates on income for the period. This
statement does not require any new fair value nreasents. This pronouncement was effec
for us on January 1, 2008. The adoption of SFASdi8 Aot have a material impact on our
results of operations and financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. T9® Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities(SFAS 159), which permits entities to measure nfarancial
instruments and certain other items at fair valtiee objective of the statement is to improve
financial reporting by allowing entities to mitigatolatility in reported earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities diffeyewithout applying complex hedge accounting
provisions. The fair value option provided by thiatement may be applied on an instrumel
instrument basis, is irrevocable, and may be agmli@y to entire instruments and not portions
of instruments. This statement was effective fobeginning in 2008. As of the date of
adoption, we elected to recognize our financiagtssand liabilities at historical cost. We may
elect, on a case-by-case basis, to recognize neatsascquired or liabilities assumed at fair
value.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. Néfhcontrolling Interests in Consolidated
Financial Statement- an amendment to ARB No. (&dFAS 160). This statement establishes
accounting and reporting standards for the nonotimg interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies thatoncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an
ownership interest in the consolidated entity gfatuld be reported as equity in the
consolidated financial statements. It also requimessolidated results of operations to include
amounts attributable to both the parent and nomelhing interest, with disclosure on the
consolidated statement of operations of the amaattrisutable to the parent and
noncontrolling interest. The statement also reguinat equity transactions by and between
each part be accounted for as equity transactinlessithe parent company loses its contro
interest in the subsidiary. In the event the pacemipany loses its controlling interest, the
investment in the subsidiary will be adjusted to ¥alue, and a gain or loss on investment will
be recognized in the statement of operations. @oetéon of SFAS 160 will result in the
allocation of future operating results of CET, imdihg losses, to the noncontrolling interest of
CET. The adoption of SFAS 160 did not have a maltéripact on our results of operations
financial position.

In December 2007, the FASB issued EITF 0Adcounting for Collaborative Arrangements
Related to the Development and Commercializatidnteflectual Property(EITF 07-1), that
prohibits companies from applying the equity metbbdccounting to activities performed
outside a separate legal entity by a virtual jeirtture. Instead, revenues and costs incurred
with third parties in connection with the collabtive arrangement should be presented gro
net by the collaborators based on the criterialifFENo. 99-19 Reporting Revenue Gross as a
Principal versus Net as an Age, and other applicable accounting literature. EOFFL should
be applied to collaborative arrangements in excsteat the date of adoption using a modified
retrospective method that requires reclassificatiaall periods presented for those
arrangements still in effect at the transition datdess that application is impracticable. EITF
07-1 was effective for our company beginning oruday 1, 2009. Our company currently
collaborates with certain research institutionslemtify and pursue promising pre-clinical
programs. We have negotiated rights to developcantmercialize these product candidates.
The adoption of EITF 07-did not have a material impact on our financi@ipon or results c
operations.

In June 2007, the FASB issued EITF 0A8counting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments
for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future ReseanchDevelopment Activiti( EITF 07-3).
The scope of this issue is limited to nonrefundaaleance payments for goods and services
related to research and
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development activities. EITF 07-3 addresses whetheln advanced payments should be
expensed as incurred or capitalized. Our comparsyreguired to adopt EITF 07-3 effective
January 1, 2008. The adoption of EITF 07-3 didh®te a material impact on our results of
operations or financial position.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE OF MARKET R ISKS
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changederest rates on our revolving credit
facility, and our term note payable. We do notizgilderivative financial instruments or other
market risk-sensitive instruments to manage exgokumterest rate changes. The main
objective of our cash investment activities is tegerve principal while maximizing interest
income through low-risk investments. Our investnaalicy focuses on principal preservation
and liquidity.

The interest rate risk related to borrowings uraearcredit facility and term debt is a variable
rate of the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margigefined in the loan agreement (4.5% at
March 31, 2009). As of March 31, 2009, we had @uising borrowings of $6.8 million under
our Credit Facility and Term Debt combined. If igst rates increased by 1.0%, our annual
interest expense on our borrowings would incregsapiproximately $68,000.

Exchange Rate Risk

While we operate primarily in the U.S., we are esgumbto foreign currency risk. Acetadote is
manufactured largely by a supplier that denominsigply prices in Canadian dollars.
Additionally, much of our research and developmsmperformed abroad. As of March 31,
2009, our outstanding payables denominated ineagorcurrency totaled $0.2 million.

One of our supply agreements for Caldolor is demameid in Australian dollars. As of

March 31, 2009, we have not incurred any costpiimchases related to Caldolor from this
supplier; however, we expect Caldolor purchaseas fittis supplier to increase over time. The
extent of our exposure to foreign currency gainsses will depend on the quantity of our
purchases and the exchange rate at the time tbe@svare paid.

Currently, we do not utilize financial instrumemdshedge exposure to foreign currency
fluctuations. We believe our exposure to foreigrrency fluctuation is minimal as our
purchases in foreign currency have a maximum expas90 days based on invoice terms
with a portion of the exposure being limited tody/s based on the due date of the invoice.
Foreign currency exchange losses were immateni&d®6, 2007, 2008 and the quarter ended
March 31, 2009. Neither a 5% increase nor decrigasecurrent exchange rates would have a
material effect on our operating results or finahcondition.
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OVERVIEW

We are a profitable and growing specialty pharmacalucompany focused on the acquisition,
development and commercialization of branded pigtson products. Our primary target
markets are hospital acute care and gastroentgroldtch are characterized by relatively
concentrated physician prescriber bases that vweveetan be penetrated effectively by
relatively small, targeted sales forces. In Jur@92@e received FDA approval for Caldolor,
our lead product for use in the hospital marketddition to Caldolor, we market and sell
Acetadote and Kristalose through our dedicated itedsgnd gastroenterology sales forces,
which together comprise 66 sales representativésreamagers as of July 1, 2009. For the y
2006, 2007 and 2008, our net revenue was $17.8mi$28.1 million and $35.1 million,
respectively, and our net income was $4.4 milllh0 million and $4.8 million, respectively.

Since our inception in 1999, we have successfulhdéd the acquisition and development of
our product portfolio with limited external investmt and maintained profitable operations
over the past five years. Unlike many emerging plzeeutical and biotechnology companies,
we have established both product development amnecialization capabilities, and believe
our organizational structure can be efficiently @xged to accommodate our expected growth.
Our management team consists of pharmaceuticasindueterans with significant experience
in business development, clinical and regulatofgied, and sales and marketing.

Our key products include:

Product Indication Delivery Status
Caldolor ® Pain and Feve Injectable FDA Approved
Acetadote® Acetaminophen Poisonir Injectable Marketed
Kristalose ® Chronic and Acute

Constipatior Oral Solutiot Marketed

Caldolor, our intravenous formulation of ibuprofen, is thesfiinjectable product approved in
the United States for the treatment of both pathfamer. To support Caldolor’s regulatory
approval, we completed a comprehensive clinicafjgam, which culminated in an NDA filing
in December 2008. We received FDA approval to matkddolor in the United States in June
2009. We plan to promote Caldolor in the Unitedé&tdhrough a dedicated hospital sales f
of 77 experienced representatives and managersi@ndationally through alliances with
marketing partners. We are currently preparingliercommercial launch of Caldolor in the
United States, which we expect to initiate in therth quarter of 2009. We believe Caldolor
represents our most significant market opportutitgtate.

Injectable analgesics, or pain relievers, curreatlgilable in the U.S. include opioids, such as
morphine and meperdine, and ketorolac, a non-sigranti-inflammatory drug, or NSAID.
According to IMS Health Inc., or IMS Health, opisidccounted for over 93% of injectable
analgesic market volume in 2008 with approxima&3% million units sold. Opioids are,
however, known to cause undesirable side effanttyding nausea, vomiting and cognitive
impairment. Ketorolac, the only non-opioid injed&hbnalgesic approved for sale in the United
States, is also known to cause unwanted side sffieciuding an increased risk of bleeding.
Despite strong safety warnings from the FDA, uskatbrolac in the United States has grown
from approximately 38 million units sold in 200£4%f the market) to approximately

46 million units sold in 2008 (7% of the marketrading to IMS Health. Based on the results
of our clinical studies to date, we believe Caldaokpresents a potentially safer alternative
therapy to ketorolac. Caldolor is the only approirgdctable treatment for fever in the U.S.
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Acetadoteis an intravenous formulation of N-acetylcysteioeNAC, indicated for the
treatment of acetaminophen poisoning. AccordingpéoAmerican Association of Poison
Control Centers’ National Poison Data System, acigtaphen was the leading cause of toxic
drug ingestions reported to poison control ceritethe U.S. in 2007. In January 2004,
Acetadote received FDA approval as an orphan drutgsignation which provides for seven
years of marketing exclusivity from date of appio&nce its launch in June 2004, we h.
consistently grown product sales for Acetadote.okding to Wolters Kluwer Health Sour@e
Pharmaceutical Audit Suite, or Wolters Kluwer, Aalite sales to hospitals grew 33% from
2007 to 2008. Total sales to hospitals in 2008 §&¢e 3 million. We believe that we can
continue to expand market share, and that our Aottasales and marketing platform should
help facilitate the commercial launch of Caldolor.

Kristalose, a prescription laxative product, is a crystallioenfi of lactulose designed to
enhance patient acceptance and compliance. Basgatafrom IMS Health, the market for
prescription laxatives in the U.S. grew from appmoately $269 million in 2004 to

$344 million in 2008, driven largely by new prodimtroductions and increased promotional
activity by our competitors. We acquired exclusiv&. commercialization rights to Kristalose
in 2006, assembled a new dedicated field saleg fand re-launched the product in September
2006 under the Cumberland brand. Wholesaler séléssialose to pharmacies were

$9.4 million in 2008. We believe that Kristalosesttmmpetitive advantages over competing
prescription laxatives, such as fewer potentiag siffects and contraindications, as well as
lower cost, and that the potential for growth a$ throduct is significant.

Early-stage product candidates. Our pre-clinical product candidates are beingetteped
through Cumberland Emerging Technologies, IncCBT, our 85%-owned subsidiary. CET
collaborates with leading research institutionglemtify and pursue promising pre-clinical
programs within our target market segments. We hagotiated rights to develop and
commercialize these product candidates. Current @Bjects include an improved treatment
for fluid buildup in the lungs of cancer patientslaan anti-infective for treating fungal
infections in immuno-compromised patients. In cofion with these research institutions, we
have obtained nearly $1 million in grant fundingrfr the National Institutes of Health to
support the development of these programs.

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
Significant product opportunity in Caldolor

We believe Caldolor currently represents our migtiicant product opportunity based on the
large potential markets for intravenous treatmémain and fever, as well as clinical results
the product to date. We conducted a comprehensiieat program to support regulatory
approval of this product, which we received frora BEDA in June 2009. Based on our clinical
results, we believe Caldolor represents a poténsafer alternative to ketorolac, which is the
only injectable non-opioid analgesic currently ba tJ.S. market, with approximately

46 million units sold in 2008. We have retainedlagive commercialization rights for Caldo
in the U.S. and plan to market the product throexggmansion of our existing hospital sales
force. In addition, we hold international pateghts for Caldolor, and in connection with
certain current and potential future third-partytpars, we intend to seek regulatory approval
for and market Caldolor outside of the U.S.

Strong growth potential of our existing marketed pr oducts, Acetadote and
Kristalose

We believe that there is significant opportunityirtorease sales of our two currently approved
products, Acetadote and Kristalose. Since its launcdJune 2004, we have consistently grown
product sales for Acetadote. During 2008, hosjpitethases of Acetadote grew 33% to
approximately $24 million. Kristalose competeshe tigh growth U.S. prescription laxatives
market which, based on
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data from IMS Health, grew from approximately $26#lion in 2004 to $344 million in 2008,

or a compound annual growth rate of approximatéty After acquiring exclusive U.S. rights

to Kristalose in April 2006, we assembled an exgraréed, dedicated sales force and designed a
new marketing program, re-launching the produ@eptember 2006. We believe both
Kristalose and Acetadote have favorable competjinadiles, and that we can increase market
share for each.

Focus on underserved niche markets

We focus our efforts on specialty physician segmerttere we believe we can leverage our
industry expertise and sales capability to delpreducts that address unmet medical needs.
Currently, our primary target markets are hosgitalte care and gastroenterology. We con:
these markets attractive because of their relgtioehcentrated physician prescriber bases,
which allow us to reach target prescribers witlmals number of sales representatives.
Moreover, we believe these markets are less pmnerhpetition from larger pharmaceutical
companies than other pharmaceutical sectors.

Profitable business with a history of fiscal discip line

We have been profitable since 2004, during whictetive have generated sufficient cash fl
to fund our development and marketing programsauitithe need for significant external
financing. As an emerging pharmaceutical comparil Whited resources, we have
historically focused on product opportunities wighatively low acquisition, development, and
commercialization costs. Further, we believe thatthird-party manufacturing and distributi
relationships allow us to outsource these functeffisiently while directing most of our
resources to our core competencies of businessogenent, clinical and regulatory affairs, &
sales and marketing.

Integrated specialty pharmaceutical company with ex tensive management
expertise

Our executives have significant pharmaceutical stiguexperience in business development,
clinical and regulatory affairs, and sales and ratinky. This team is augmented by our
Pharmaceutical and Medical Advisory Boards, whichsist of highly experienced healthcare
professionals.

> Our business development team is led by our CEGoan&enior Vice President and Chief
Commercial Officer, and is comprised of a multieilidinary group of executives. This team
sources product opportunities independently as agethrough our international network of
pharmaceutical and medical industry insiders. TaHorts have resulted in acquisition,
license, co-promotion and strategic alliance agexes) and have provided us with rights to
our current portfolio. This group is also respotesiior acquiring rights to earlgtage produc
candidates through CE

> Qur clinical, regulatory affairs and product deyetent team is led by three professionals
with substantial experience advancing late-staigéceal candidates successfully through the
FDA approval process. This team was directly resfie for obtaining FDA approval for
Acetadote and Caldolor. We have established inteapabilities to develop proprietary
product formulations, design and manage our clini@as, prepare all regulatory
submissions and manage our medical call ce

> Our sales and marketing team is led by four exeestivho have broad experience marketing
branded pharmaceuticals. They manage the dedibasgital and gastroenterology sales
forces that promote our products and that togetheecomprised of 66 sales representatives
and managers as of July 1, 2009. Our executivesdadect our national marketing campai
and manage relationships with key accou
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OUR STRATEGY

Our objective is to develop, acquire and commemaabranded pharmaceutical products for
specialty physician market segments. Specifically plan to:

Successfully launch and commercialize Caldolor

We believe that there is significant market potdrfor Caldolor in both pain and fever. We
intend to penetrate the U.S. hospital market withexisting hospital sales force and to
commercialize the product internationally througilaaces with marketing partners. We have
performed extensive market research, including witaison with leading pain and fever
specialists, in depth message development fordiretelected targets, and price sensitivity
research. A comprehensive marketing campaign aminig program are being developed, and
we plan to launch Caldolor in the U.S. by the fhugtiarter of 2009.

Maximize sales of our marketed products

Over the past three years, we have employed actieBenarketing campaign resulting in
consistent sales growth for our product Acetadwte.are expanding our hospital sales force in
preparation for the launch of Caldolor and beliexecan leverage this expanded sales force to
increase Acetadote sales. We are also supportiggadestudies to explore other potential
indications for Acetadote. In September 2006, wiaoached Kristalose under the Cumberl
brand with a new marketing program and dedicatessarce. This marketing program is
designed to enhance brand awareness through irdreasmotional activity and highlights
Kristalose’s many positive, competitive attributksaddition to our sales efforts, we may also
pursue co-promotion arrangements with third pattbesupport growth of our products.

Expand our product portfolio by acquiring rights to additional products and late-
stage product candidates

We intend to build a portfolio of complementaryghne products largely through product
acquisitions. We focus on under-promoted, FDA-apgedodrugs with existing brand
recognition as well as late-stage development misduhich address unmet medical needs, a
strategy which we believe helps minimize our expeda the significant risk, cost and time
associated with drug discovery and research. Wetplaontinue to target products that are
competitively differentiated, have valuable tradeksaor other intellectual property, and allow
us to leverage our existing infrastructure. We glsm to explore opportunities to seek appr
for new uses of existing pharmaceutical products.

Expand sales force operations

We believe that continuing to build our sales aratkmating infrastructure will help drive
prescription volume and product sales. We currautilize two distinct sales teams:

> We promote Acetadote, and plan to promote Caldthoough our dedicated hospital sales
team consisting of 30 representatives and manageisteam covers approximately 1,860,
or 35%, of all U.S. hospitals. We are currently axging this sales force to 77 representa
and managers in order to more fully capitalizetmnrarket potential of Acetadote and
Caldolor.

> We promote Kristalose through a dedicated confrelct sales force of 36 sales
representatives and district managers as of JWQ@9. These representatives are now
covering approximately 8,000 target physicians wteprescribers of Kristalose, and who
are responsible for approximately 60% of totalitéfastalose prescriptions nationally. By
investing in our marketing program and expanding $hles force, we believe that we will be
able to increase market share for Kristalt

52




Table of Contents

Business

Develop a pipeline of early-stage products through CET

In order to build our product pipeline, we are deppenting our acquisition and late-stage
development activities with the early-stage drugeligoment activities of CET, our majority-
owned subsidiary. CET partners with universitied ather research organizations to cost-
effectively develop promising, early-stage prodtemdidates. Current pre-clinical projects
nearing clinical-stage development include:

> a palliative treatment for fluid buildup in the ymof cancer patients, in collaboration with
Vanderbilt University

> a highly purified anti-infective for treating funigafections in immuno-compromised
patients, in collaboration with the University oiddissippi, ant

> a novel treatment to reduce or eliminate asthnratction in pediatric patients in
collaboration with the University of Tenness

INDUSTRY
The hospital market

According to IMS Health, U.S. hospitals accountedapproximately $31 billion, or 11%, of
U.S. pharmaceutical sales in 2008. IMS Health edports that in 2008, marketing and
promotional efforts focused on hospital-use dregsesented only about $484 million, or 2%,
of approximately $21 billion total pharmaceutiaadlustry spending on promotional activity.
The majority of promotional spending is directediénds large outpatient markets promoting
drugs intended for chronic use rather than shont-igse in the hospital setting. We believe the
lack of promotional emphasis on the hospital maleee indicates that the hospital market is
underserved. We also believe that the hospital etaskhighly concentrated, with a small
number of large institutions responsible for thgarty of pharmaceutical spending, and
consequently that it can be penetrated effectiwéligout large-scale promotional activity by a
small, dedicated sales force.

Market for injectable analgesics

Therapeutic agents used to treat pain are colidgtknown as analgesics. Physicians prescribe
injectable analgesics for hospitalized patients Waee high levels of acute pain, require rapid
pain relief or cannot take oral analgesics.

According to IMS Health, the U.S. market for injole analgesics exceeded $332 million, or
681 million units, in 2008. This market is compds&incipally of generic opioids and the
NSAID ketorolac. Injectable opioids such as morghimeperidine, hydromorphone &
fentanyl accounted for approximately 635 millioritarsold in 2008. While opioids are widely
used for acute pain management, they are assoevited variety of unwanted side effects
including sedation, nausea, vomiting, constipatf@gdache, cognitive impairment, reducec
motility and respiratory depression. Respiratorgrdssion, if not monitored closely, can be
deadly. Opioid-related side effects can warrantrdpBmitations, which may reduce overall
effectiveness of pain relief. Side effects fromaighs can cause a need for further medicatic
treatment, and can increase lengths of stay inguessthesia care units as well as overall
hospital stay, which can lead to increased costhdspitals and patients.

Despite having a poor safety profile, usage of &z, the only non-opioid injectable
analgesic available in the U.S., has grown frontaxmately 38 million units in 2004, or 5%
of the market, to approximately 46 million units2@08, representing 7% of the market,
according to IMS Health. The FDA specifically wathat ketorolac should not be used in
various patient populations that are at-risk feeling, as a prophylactic analgesic prior to
major surgery or for intraoperative administratieinen stoppage of bleeding is critical.
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Fever

Significant fever is generally defined as a tempeeaof greater than 102 degrees Fahrenheit.
High fevers can cause hallucinations, confusionyatsions and death. Hospitalized patients
are subject to increased risk for developing fegspecially from exposure to infectious age
Patients with endotracheal intubation, sedatiodyced gastric motility, nausea or recent
surgery are frequently unable to ingest, digestodh or tolerate oral products to reduce fever.
Treatment for these patients ranges from rectaetgl of medication to physical cooling
measures such as tepid baths, ice packs and cdéingets. In the U.S., there is currently no
FDA-approved intravenous medication for the treathod fever other than Caldolor.

Acetaminophen poisoning

Acetaminophen is one of the most widely used dfagsral treatment of pain and fever in the
U.S. and can be found in many common over-the-aypyot OTC products and prescription
narcotics. Though safe at recommended doses, tigecdn cause liver damage with excessive
use. According to the American Association of PoniSmntrol Centers’ National Poison Data
System, acetaminophen poisoning was the leadingeaafutoxic drug ingestions reported to
poison control centers in 2007 in the U.S.

In a study published in 2005 that examined acut fiailure, researchers concluded that
acetaminophen poisoning was responsible for actgefhilure in over half the patients
examined in 2003, up from 28% in 1998. While ainested 48% of cases were due to the
accidental use of acetaminophen over several daysjng chronic liver failure, an estimated
44% of the cases were intentional overdoses, cgasinte liver failure.

According to the FDA, four grams of acetaminophethie daily maximum dosage
recommended for adults. Ingesting eight grams efaaminophen in a single day causes a
significant number of people, whose livers havenbgeviously stressed by a virus, medica
or alcohol, to experience more serious complicatiMihen used in conjunction with opiates,
acetaminophen can be effective in relieving paiarafurgery or injury; however, some patie
who take acetaminophen/opiate combination drugs cimronic basis eventually require
increasing amounts to achieve the same level of igdief, which can also lead to liver failure.

Market for the treatment of acetaminophen overdose

NAC is widely accepted as the standard of caradetaminophen overdose. Through

Europe and much of the rest of the world, NAC hesrbavailable in an injectable formulation
for over 25 years. Until the 2004 approval of Acdketiz, however, the only FDApproved forn

of NAC available in the U.S. was an oral preparatrior to the approval of Acetadote, many
U.S. hospitals prepared an off-label, IV form of 8Aom the oral solution to treat patients
suffering from acetaminophen poisoning. For a nunab¢hese patients, an IV product is the
only reasonable route of administration due to eawnd vomiting associated with the
administration of oral NAC for the overdose. MorengJV treatment requires fewer doses and
a shorter treatment protocol, reducing treatmenhfthree days to one day.

Acetaminophen poisoning treatment is typicallyiaiéd in the emergency department and
continued in the intensive care unit. NAC is magkieio emergency physicians and nurses,
critical care physicians, clinical and medical tmtbgists and poison control centers.
According toThe Medical Letter on Drugs and TherapeutN&C is virtually 100% effective
in preventing severe liver damage, renal failurg d@ath if administered within eight to

ten hours of the overdose.
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The gastrointestinal market

According to the National Institute of DiabetesgBstive and Kidney Diseases, gastrointes
diseases result in approximately 50 million phyaicvisits and 14 million hospitalizations
annually. Many of these physician visits are to ohthe only 11,700 gastroenterologists in the
u.s.

There are over 40 common, well-defined gastroiirtastonditions recognized in the U.S.,
including constipation, chronic liver disease aithosis, gastroesophageal reflux disease,
infectious diarrhea, irritable bowel syndrome, dee&t intolerance, pancreatitis and peptic ulc
Because the market for gastrointestinal diseade®&l in patient scope, yet relatively narrow
in physician base, we believe that it is an ativactpecialty focus which can provide a wide
variety of product opportunities but can be penettavith a modest sales force.

Prescription laxative market

Constipation is a common condition in the U.S .eetfihg approximately 20% of the population
each year. While many occurrences are non-recyrisggnificant number are chronic in
nature and require some treatment to control @ives

Constipation treatments are sold in both the OT€@escription segments. We believe that
the prescription laxative market in which Kristaasompetes has historically consisted of a
few highly promoted brands including MiraL&{polyethylene glycol 3350), which is now
being sold as an OTC product, and Amit¥zaas well as several generic forms of liquid
lactulose. In addition, Novartis AG marketed Zemd&tas a prescription laxative until the
company announced its withdrawal from the U.S. magitk April 2008 following the
announcement of adverse safety findings in 200€o0Ating to data from IMS Health, the
prescription laxative market grew from approximgt$269 million in 2004 to $344 million in
2008, a compound annual growth rate of approxima&®. This increase in sales resulted
primarily from new product introductions and incsed promotion of branded products.

PRODUCTS

Our key products include:

Product Indication Delivery Status
Caldolor ® Pain and Feve Injectable FDA Approved
Acetadote® Acetaminophen Poisonir Injectable Marketed
Kristalose ® Chronic and Acute

Constipatior Oral Solutior Marketed
Caldolor

Caldolor is an intravenous formulation of ibuprofgproved by the FDA in June 2009 for the
treatment of both pain and fever. It is the finstl @nly approved intravenous therapy for both
pain and fever. Caldolor is indicated for use inltdfor the management of mild to moderate
pain, the management of moderate to severe pain adjunct to opioid analgesics, and for the
reduction of fever. We expect Caldolor to be adsteried primarily to hospitalized patients
who are unable to receive oral therapies for tiedieations.

Injectable analgesics, or pain relievers, curreatgilable in the United States include opioids,
such as morphine and meperidine, and ketorolaonasteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, or
NSAID. According to IMS Health, opioids accountex 3% of injectable analgesic mar
volume in 2008 with approximately 635 million un#isld. Opioids are, however, known to
cause undesirable side effects including sedatiansea, vomiting, cognitive impairment and
respiratory depression. These side
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effects can necessitate increased length of hdspéta for patients as well as the use of
additional drugs to manage side effects such ase@aand vomiting, all of which contribute to
increased hospital costs.

Ketorolac is the only other non-opioid injectableafgesic approved in the United States.
However, it has been associated with increasedfiSkeeding as well as gastrointestinal and
renal complications. The FDA specifically warnsttketorolac should not be used in patient
populations that are at high risk for bleedingaasophylactic analgesic prior to major surgery
or in patients where stoppage of bleeding is @iitibespite strong safety warnings from the
FDA, use of ketorolac in the United States has grénem approximately 38 million units sold
in 2004 to approximately 46 million units sold iG(B according to IMS Health.

We believe there is a need for an alternative tstiexj injectable therapies for treatment of
pain in the United States, and there are currem@liiy.S.-approved injectable treatments for
fever other than Caldolor.

Clinical Development Overview

Ibuprofen, an NSAID, continues to be a widely-upeaduct administered orally for pain relief
and fever reduction. According to IMS Health, Uh8spitals purchased 180 million units of
oral ibuprofen in 2007. Until now, ibuprofen hasheot been approved in an injectable
formulation in the United States for these indicasi.

In May 1999, we acquired from Vanderbilt Universitly exclusive, worldwide license to
clinical trial data on the use of intravenous itafpn for treatment of hospitalized patients with
severe sepsis syndrome, a complex inflammatoryitonaften resulting in high fever due to
infection. Published in thlew England Journal of Medicinehis data indicated that
intravenous ibuprofen was effective in reducinghtigver in critically ill patients who were
largely unable to receive oral medication. Baseshugfficacy and safety data generated from
this study, we met with the FDA to determine thguieements for gaining FDA approval of
intravenous ibuprofen through a 505(b)(2) applaratiFollowing discussion with and
recommendations by the FDA, we implemented a devedémt program for Caldolor that was
designed to obtain approval for a dual indicationthe product—management of pain and
reduction of fever. We performed extensive formuolatvork resulting in a patented,
proprietary product and conducted a number of cdinstudies evaluating the safety and
efficacy of Caldolor for treatment of pain and feve

56




Table of Contents

Business

More than 1,400 subjects, including over 800 raogiVV Ibuprofen, have been studied in
seven clinical trials supporting our NDA filing. 2ummary of clinical trials supporting our
NDA filing for Caldolor is provided below

Number of
Study Name Subjects Setting Study Results
Pharmacokinetic Study 36 Healthy volunteers Similar PK parameters
between oral and
Caldolor
Adult Safety Study 12 Healthy volunteers Safe and well-
tolerated IV infusion of
Caldolor
Sepsis Study IND 32803 455 Hospitalized patients Significant and sustaine
with severe sepsis reduction of temperature
in patients with high
fever (p<0.01®)
Adult Malaria Fever Study 60 Hospitalized adult Significant reduction in
malaria patients temperature over
24 hours of treatment
(p=0.002)
Phase Il Adult Fever Stuc 12C Hospitalized adult febril Significant, dose-

@ patients dependent, reduction in
temperature supporting
400mg dose (p=0.000:

Phase Il Adult Dose 40€ Hospitalized adult Dose-dependent,

Ranging Pain Stud{ abdominal and morphine sparing effect

orthopedic post- (22%) supporting 800
operative patient dose
Significant reduction in
pain intensity scores
(VAS) @Wover 24 hours
of treatment (p=0.001
Phase Il Adult Abdominal 31¢ Hospitalized adult Significant, morphine-

Hysterectomy Pain Stuc abdominal hysterectomy sparing effect (19%,

@ patients p<0.001)

Significant reduction in

pain intensity scores

(VAS) over 24 hours of

treatment (p=0.011
Total 1,40¢

() Study data licensed from Vanderbilt University; Cherland report filed 200
(2) Pivotal Study

(3) p-value <0.05 represents statistical significa

(4)Visual Analog Scali

We have also completed a pediatric fever study (=8 pharmacokinetic study in healthy
volunteers (N=12) and a pain study in post-opeeatiithopedic patients (N=185). In addition,
we are conducting a study to support marketingalfi@or for treatment of pain and fever in
hospitalized burn patients (N=60). We expect thislg to be completed in the fourth quarte
2009.
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Safety Summary

Extensive use and worldwide literature supportstineng safety profile of oral ibuprofen.
Building on the oral safety profile, we have asskmlan integrated IV ibuprofen safety
database combining data from our clinical trialsvadl as previously published study data. We
used this data to support our NDA filing and witintinue to use and update the data as a part
of our ongoing safety evaluation. In addition, ttigga will be used by our sales force and ir
marketing materials to promote Caldolor.

In clinical trials supporting our proposed indicats, no serious adverse events have been
directly attributed to Caldolor. The number andceetage of all patients in pivotal studies v
reported treatment emergent adverse events wasatabip between IV ibuprofen and placebo
treatment groups. Additionally, there have beesafety related differences between Caldolor
and placebo involving side effects sometimes oleskwith oral NSAIDs, such as changes in
renal function, bleeding events or gastrointestitisbrders.

Clinical Studies for Pain

After receiving FDA guidance through a Special Beot Assessment, we conducted a Phase
I, multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placetontrolled study to evaluate Caldolor for
treatment of pain.

Phase Il Adult Dose Ranging Pain Study

Hospitalized patients, all with access to patiemtmlled analgesia (PCA) with morphine, w
randomized to also receive one of two doses (400n8P0Omg) of Caldolor (multi-modal
therapy) or placebo treatment (standard therapy)tfmes daily for up to five days. The first
dose was administered intra-operatively at thésithdin of surgical closure. The primary
endpoint of this study was reduction in morphine after 24 hours of treatment.

We enrolled 406 adult surgical patients undergainvgriety of abdominal and orthopedic
surgeries. Statistical testing of the data forghimary efficacy endpoint demonstrated the data
was not normally distributed. As a result, appraf@itransformations of the data were
conducted to provide appropriate models for sia#ibtesting of significance, and analog non-
parametric procedures were applied. This analygg/s that the palue for the 800mg dose
Caldolor versus placebo was significant (p=0.0B8Q},that the placebo versus 400mg dose
comparison was not significant for the primary evidp(p=0.458) (p-value measures strength
of evidence; p<0.05 represents statistical sigaifoe).

The FDA acknowledged that data were not normaliyrithiuted, that transformation of the data
was appropriate and that median values could tefhecdata more accurately. However, FDA
concluded that the statistical analysis plan didsudficiently pre-specify for the non-
parametric analyses of the data. Therefore, theewlas not included in the package insert for
Caldolor.

In this study, we also investigated the efficacyCafdolor in reducing pain as measured by a
Visual Analog Scale (VAS). In addition to usingdenorphine, patients receiving 800mg of
Caldolor reported a 20% greater reduction in paierisity over the 24 hours following surgery
(p=0.001; at rest Area Under the Curve (AUC) of JABatients receiving 400mg of Caldolor
reported a 7% reduction in pain intensity over2henhours following surgery (p=0.057; at rest
AUC of VAS). At 24 hours after the first dose ofifrofen was administered, patients recei
800mg of Caldolor reported a 33% greater redudtigrain measured at rest (p=0.009) and
18% greater reduction with movement (p<0.005).

Morphine-Sparing Effect of Caldolor, 24 Hours PostSurgery

400 mg 800 mg
% Decrease 3% 22%
p-value ™ p=0.45¢ p=0.03(
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Reduction in Pain Intensity: Effect of Caldolor 24Hours Post-Surgery

400 mg 800 mg
% Decrease* at ho-24, at res 0% 33%
p-value' p=0.41¢ p=0.00¢
% Decrease* at ho-24, with movemen —2% 18%
p-value' p=0.89¢ p=0.00¢

* Percent decrease in patients receiving ibuprofelti-modal therapy compared to standard, morphine t¢resapy.

t Analysis based on a linear 4-way ANOVA model wittefl effects for age group, weight group, randotiizea
center, and treatment group. P-values based adiiffeeence in Least Squares Means from the finaDAMA model
and are adjusted for multiple comparisons usingriett’s method. The non-transformed data resultedrion-
significant reduction in morphine us

¥ Data transformed using the rank transformat

The data from this study provided a rationale far $election of the 800mg dose for evaluation
in a subsequent clinical trial presented below.

Phase Il Adult Abdominal Hysterectomy Pain Study

Based on preliminary analyses of the first paimgtuve initiated our second Phase Il pain
study using a similar design in post-operative tpatients who had undergone an abdominal
hysterectomy. Patients, all with access to patientrolled analgesia (PCA) with morphine,
were randomized to also receive either 800mg ofil@af (multi-modal therapy) or placebo
treatment (standard therapy) four times daily fotafive days. The first dose was
administered intra-operatively at the initiationsofrgical closure. Again, the primary endpoint
of this study was reduction in morphine use aftfeh8urs of treatment.

We enrolled 319 patients in the safety populatfsshown in the table below, there was a
significant reduction in morphine use by those rgng the 800mg dose. Similar to our first
Phase llI pain study, we also investigated theaffy of Caldolor in improving patient pain
intensity scores using VAS. In addition to usingslenorphine, patients receiving 800mg of
Caldolor reported a 21% greater reduction in paierisity following surgery through study
hour 24 (p=0.011; at rest Area Under the Curve ASY. As shown in the table below,

24 hours after the first dose of Caldolor was adsténed patients receiving 800mg of Caldolor
reported a 31% greater reduction in pain measuresst(p=0.048) and a 20% greater
reduction with movement (p=0.002).

Morphine-Sparing Effect of Caldolor in Abdominal Hy sterectomy Surgery Post-Surgery

800 mg
% Decrease 19%
p-value' p<0.00:

Reduction in Pain Intensity: Effect of Caldolor in Abdominal Hysterectomy Surgery 24
Hours Post-Surgery

800 mg
% Decrease* at ho-24, at res 31%
p-value’ p=0.04¢
% Decrease* at ho-24, with movemen 20%
p-valuet p=0.00:

* Percent decrease in patients receiving ibuprofelti-modal therapy compared to standard, morphine ¢resapy.

T Analysis is based on a linear 4-way ANOVA modelhafiked effects for age group, weight group, randzation
center, and treatment groug-values based on the difference in Least Squaresidfieam the final ANOVA mode

59




Table of Contents

Business

Phase Il Adult Orthopedic Pain Study

Based on analyses of the first pain study, we iaisiated a Phase Ill pain study using a similar
design in post-operative adult patients who hacegwhe orthopedic surgical procedures.
Patients, all with access to patient controlledgasa (PCA) with morphine, were randomized
to also receive either 800mg of Caldolor (multi-rabttherapy) or placebo treatment (standard
therapy) four times daily for up to five days. Tiret dose in this study was administered prior
(pre-operatively) to the surgical procedure. THenpry endpoint of this study was reduction in
patient pain intensity scores using VAS measural movement.

We enrolled 185 patients in the safety populatisshown in the table below there was a
significant reduction in patient pain intensity sepusing VAS. Patients receiving 800mg of
Caldolor reported a 26% greater reduction in paierisity after 24 hours (p<0.001; with
movement Area Under the Curve of VAS). As showthimtable below, 24 hours after the first
dose of Caldolor was administered patients recgi8®0mg of Caldolor reported a 32% gre
reduction in pain measured at rest (p<0.001 atAE&€E-VAS).

In this study, we also investigated the efficacyCafdolor in reducing morphine use by patie
receiving the 800mg dose. As shown in the tablevb¢here was a significant reduction in
morphine use by those receiving 800mg of Calddi@r gurgery and through hour 24.

Reduction in Pain Intensity: Effect of Caldolor in Orthopedic Surgery

800 mg
Pain Reduction* according to VAS, with movem 26%
p-value' p<0.00:
Pain Reduction* according to VAS, at ri 32%
p-value' p<0.00:
Morphine-Sparing Effect of Caldolor, in Orthopedic Surgery

800 mg
% Decrease 31%
p-value p<0.00:

* Percent decrease in patients receiving ibuprofelti-modal therapy compared to standard, morphine ¢r&sapy.

t Analysis based on a linear 4-way ANOVA model wittefl effects for age group, weight group, randotiizea
center, and treatment grouf-values based on the difference in Least Squaresidffieam the final ANOVA mode
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Clinical Studies for Fever

We have licensed the data to a prospective, metiter, randomized, placebo-controlled,
double-blind study of intravenous ibuprofen thaswanducted in 455 critically ill,

hospitalized patients with severe sepsis syndrétatents with severe sepsis syndrome often
experience high fever due to infection. Patientsewandomized to receive up to 800mg of IV
ibuprofen or placebo treatment for a total maxindary dose of 3200mg ibuprofen
administered intravenously over 48 hours. The failhg graph shows that febrile patients
receiving ibuprofen had a significant reductionémperature compared to placebo. Statistical
significance was detected at the first temperaturasurement collected at two hours (p=0.!
and continued throughout the duration of treatment.
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Safety analyses were performed with specific attergiven to any potential renal or bleeding
adverse events. The study showed no differencesnid or bleeding-related adverse events
between patients receiving ibuprofen and thoseviegeplacebo. The occurrence of other
adverse events was also similar between groups.
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We conducted a pivotal Phase Ill, multi-centerd@mized, double-blind, parallel, placebo-
controlled dose-ranging study to evaluate the affjc safety and pharmacokinetics of Caldolor
in adult febrile subjects. One hundred twenty caily ill and non-critically ill hospitalized
patients were randomized to receive 100mg, 200n@§0mg of Caldolor or placebo treatment
over 24 hours. As shown in the graph below, padieeteiving 400mg of Caldolor had a
significant reduction in fever compared to patieneiteiving placebo at the primary endpoint of
four hours (p=0.0003). Further, the 400mg dosetivasnost effective dose in returning a
patient’s temperature to a normal range.
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We also conducted a single-center, randomized,ldenlimd, placebo-controlled study to
evaluate the efficacy and safety of Caldolor irh68pitalized, febrile adult patients with
malaria. Patients were randomized to receive 400ih@pnldolor or placebo treatment over
72 hours. As shown in the table below, subjectsiving Caldolor had a significant reduction
in temperature compared to those receiving plateaoment after 24 hours (area under the
curve AUC calculation).

Reduction in Effect of Caldolor on Fever in Malaria Model
Temperature: (AUC: Effect over 24 Hours of Treatment)
Placebo Caldolor

AUC-T® (0-24) (°C x hour)
Mean +SD) 16.44 +11.60 7.49 +7.94
p-value, compared to placebo treatm 0.00z

To satisfy the FDA's requirement for pediatric dJat@ designed a study to compare 10 mg/kg
of Caldolor to 15 mg/kg oral or rectal acetaminapfar the treatment of fever. The primary
endpoint of the study was to determine clinicalieglence between the two treatments. Both
treatments demonstrated a statistically significadtiction in fever, with Caldolor reducing
fever more in the first two hours. While the twedtments were not shown to be significantly
different with respect to the primary endpoint, ghedy did not enroll an adequate number of
patients to statistically demonstrate equivalence.
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Required Pediatric Assessment

The required pediatric assessment for the CalddidA was deferred until 2011 for the
treatment of fever and until 2012 for the managemépain. Further, the FDA issued a formal
Written Request, pursuant to Section 505A of thaelff@ Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. By
conducting pediatric clinical studies and supplyiaguested data to FDA, Cumberland has the
opportunity to obtain up to an additional six mantti marketing exclusivity for Caldolor. We
intend to commence the first pediatric study ingheond half of 2009. If the results of these
trials are not favorable, we would not be eligifleadditional pediatric exclusivity; however,
unfavorable pediatric results would not impact marketing status for use in adults.

No additional Phase IV Commitments were assignethéyDA.

Additional Data

We conducted a randomized, double-blind, placebrobed, single dose crossover study of
the pharmacokinetics, safety and tolerability ofddkor in healthy adult volunteers. Twelve
subjects were randomized in equal proportionsdeive a single dose of 800 mg Caldolor,
administered over 5-7 minutes, and oral placeboiridtared concurrently, followed by a
wash-out period of a single dose of 800 mg orgbibten and intravenous placebo given
concurrently.

There were no serious adverse events nor any a&lgeests classified as moderate or severe.
The most common adverse event, which was classiedild, was infusion site pain in three
subjects.

As shown in the graph below, the meamd4<of Caldolor was approximately twice that of the
oral dose and the medianmkxfor Caldolor was 6.5 minutes compared to 1.5 héarghe oral
product. The AUC was similar between the two prdsluc
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Comparative Studies in Literature

We referenced the abundant safety and efficacpryistf oral ibuprofen in support of our 505
(b)(2) application to the FDA for approval of ontriavenous formulation.

We also conducted a comprehensive literature reaigvanalysis of published clinical trials
conducted by third parties and identified a tofal4 published clinical studies in adults and
children comparing oral ibuprofen to oral/rectat@minophen for treatment of pain
and/orfever. Of the 74 publications, 50 presented contperalata for treatment of pain and
presented comparative data for reduction of fevamespublications assessing both. In 50
pain studies, 30 concluded that, overall, ibupraf@s superior to acetaminophen and 20
concluded the drugs were equivalent. In 34 feugdies, 18 concluded that, overall, ibuprofen
was superior to acetaminophen and 16 concludedhbgtwere equivalent. None of the 74
publications concluded that, overall, acetaminoplias superior to ibuprofen.

Clin Drug Investpublished results of the PAIN Study: ParacetamehiAn and Ibuprofen Ne
Tolerability Study. This was a blinded, multi-cens¢udy that evaluated 8,677 adult subjects—
2,888 paracetamol (acetaminophen), 2,900 aspi@862ibuprofen—assessing the tolerability
of the study drugs administered orally for up tdeys for treatment of pain associated with
musculoskeletal or back pain, sore throat, the comoold and flu. The primary endpoint of
the study was the rate of significant adverse ev@psulting in treatment discontinuation or a
physician visit). Rates of significant adverse @gawvere paracetamol 14.5%, aspirin 18.7%
ibuprofen 13.7%. The study demonstrated that tleeability of ibuprofen was statistically
equivalent to that of paracetamol and that botlpiibfen and paracetamol were significantly
better- tolerated than aspirin (p<0.001). The studther noted that acute toxicity of ibuprofen
during intended or accidental overdose is much taian that of paracetamol.

Pediatrics,the official journal of the American Academy of Radcs, published the results of
a randomized clinical study comparing orally adsti@ied ibuprofen, acetaminophen and
codeine for the treatment of pain from acute musheletal injuries in children. Three hund
subjects (100 in each treatment group) were eveduand investigators reported that ibuprofen
provided the best pain relief of the three studygdr Patients in the ibuprofen group had a
significantly greater improvement in pain score §)&han those in the codeine and
acetaminophen groups at 60 minutes. In additiomematients in the ibuprofen group achie
adequate pain relief than the other groups. As shawhe table below, ibuprofen had a
statistically significant effect in decreasing pagores.

Change in pain score (VAS) from baseline

Ibuprofen vs.

Ibuprofen Acetaminophen Codeine

(mean) (mean) (mean) Acetaminophen  Codeine
60 Minutes =24 -12 -11 p=0.00: p<0.00:
90 Minutes -29 =17 -13 p=0.01¢ p=0.00:
120 Minutes =31 =20 =17 p=0.02¢ p=0.00¢

There were no differences in adverse events obdemwmng the three treatment groups in this
study.

Licensing agreement

Upon entering into our agreement with Vanderbiliugnsity in 1999 for the exclusive,
worldwide license to the clinical data on use @famenous ibuprofen for treatment of sepsis,
we issued 50,000 shares of our common stock to &tailtd Upon regulatory approval for
Caldolor, we issued

64




Table of Contents

Business

Vanderbilt 10,000 additional shares of our commoglspursuant to our agreement. We are
also required to pay Vanderbilt a two percent riyyah sales of any product developed based
on the data. We and Vanderbilt each have the tggtarminate this agreement upon substantial
breach by the other party, subject to providingld$s prior written notice and an opportunity
to cure. If not terminated, the agreement shaltinae until we cease distribution of Caldolor

in all countries for which we have obtained regutgtapproval.

Commercialization strategy

We have worldwide commercial rights to Caldolor. ivend to market Caldolor in the United
States through our existing hospital sales fordeclwvwe are expanding in preparation for the
product launch. We intend to partner with thirdtjgerto reach markets outside the United
States. We have agreements for commercial manuitagtof Caldolor with Hospira Australia
Pty. Ltd., formerly known as Mayne Pharma Pty. L&hd Bayer Healthcare, LLC in the
United States.

In preparation for the launch of Caldolor in theitdd States we have undertaken extensive
market research activities and have developed g@mensive launch plan. In conjunction
with scientific and medical advisory boards as waslleading pain and fever specialists, we
have developed and tested what we believe are jppai® and effective marketing messages
for our carefully selected targets, including phias in several specialties, nurses and
pharmacists in high-use institutions. We are cotigieprice-sensitivity research to select an
appropriate pricing strategy and production of Eusupplies is underway, with the first
commercial batches complete.

We are currently expanding our existing hospitédséorce from 30 to 77 experienced hospital
sales representatives and managers to promotel@aldod have developed a comprehensive
training program to support them. These represeetawill be responsible for territories
designed through computer modeling to optimize atpital targeting and coverage.
Marketing support materials will include new cliaigpapers, journal ads, in-service programs,
an information package designed for Pharmacy amdapeutic committees and a range of
sales support literature. We have expanded ouegsafnal affairs team to handle increased
medical inquiries. Launch preparation will culmiaatith a national launch meeting to finalize
training and maximize motivation prior to the pladriaunch in the fourth quarter of 2009.

Acetadote

Acetadote is N-acetylcysteine, or NAC, for thean&nous treatment of acetaminophen
overdose. Until we obtained FDA approval for Acetizdin 2004, the only FD&pproved forr
of NAC available in the U.S. was an oral preparatidedical literature suggested that many
hospitals prepared an dibel, IV form of NAC from the oral solution for gi@r administratiol
and accuracy in dosing. Given this market dyname&concluded that a medical need existed
for an FDA-approved, injectable formulation of NA@ the U.S. market.

We actively managed the development and regulappyoval of Acetadote by implementing
the following steps:

> We held initial discussions with the FDA to desadevelopment plan.

> Acetadote was granted orphan drug status in Oc@®@t, which provides for seven years
marketing exclusivity from the date of marketingoegval.

> We submitted our NDA in July 2002.

> We submitted a complete response to FDA initialeenguestions in July 2003.
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> We received FDA marketing approval for Acetadotdanuary 2004 for the treatment of
acetaminophen overdos

> Acetadote was launched in June 2004.

> Early in 2006, the FDA approved revised labelingtfe product, which included an
expanded indication for dosing in pediatric pate

> In 2008, the FDA approved further revised labefimgthe product, which included additiol
safety data from a p-marketing study

In connection with the FDA'’s approval of Acetadote committed to certain post-marketing
activities for the product. Our first phase IV coitment (pediatric) was completed and
accepted by the FDA in December 2004. Our secoadgh/ commitment (clinical) was
completed and accepted by the FDA in August 2006 .cdmpleted our third and final

phase IV commitment (manufacturing) for Acetadot@®07 and have submitted the
appropriate documentation to the FDA for review. @ve also supporting a number of studies
to explore other potential indications for the prod

We believe Acetadote has clinical and financialdigs relative to oral NAC, including ease of
administration, minimizing nausea and vomiting asaed with oral NAC, accurate dosage
control, shorter treatment protocol and reductiooverall cost of acetaminophen overdose
management. Acetadote makes NAC administratioreetsiolerate for patients and easier to
administer for medical providers. We believe Acetadalso offers a significant cost benefit to
both patient and hospital by reducing the treatmegimen, usually from three days to one

Acetadote is manufactured for us by Bioniche Tetaran its FDA-approved manufacturing
facility in Ireland, and by Bayer Healthcare, LLCita FDA-approved facility in Kansas.

Kristalose

Kristalose is a prescription laxative administeoeally for the treatment of constipation. In
patients with a history of chronic constipatiorctidose therapy increases the number of bowel
movements per day and the number of days on whihdccur. Lactulose is a product with a
long history of use as a laxative, and as a treattfioe hepatic encephalopathy, which is a
deterioration of the liver resulting in a build-agpammonia. Kristalose is an innovative, dry
powder crystalline formulation of lactulose whichdesigned to enhance patient compliance
and acceptance.

We co-promoted Kristalose from 2002 until April Z00Onder an agreement with Bertek
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the branded division of Myllaboratories, Inc. Following Mylan’s
discontinuance of Bertek operations in 2006, Inalssumed exclusive rights to commercialize
Kristalose and in turn transferred exclusive U@nmercialization rights to Kristalose to us.
April 2006, we and Mylan Bertek Pharmaceuticals, Bntered into a mutual release of all
claims against each other. We re-launcKedtalose under the Cumberland brand in Septe
2006 with a dedicated, contract sales force whsatow comprised of 36 sales representatives
and district managers as of July 1, 2009. We doactsales efforts to physicians who are the
most prolific writers of prescription laxatives. 8$¢e physicians include gastroenterologists,
pediatricians, internists and colon and rectal song.

We believe Kristalose offers competitive advantamesr other laxative products. Packaged in
single dose packets, Kristalose is very portakleeconstituted in as little as four ounces of
water, is clear, virtually tasteless, does not gleathe viscosity of the water and contains ali
no calories, all of which we believe cause Kristaldo compare favorably to liquid lactulose
products. Compared to polyethylene glycol 3350 potgl we believe Kristalose has a fast
onset of action and a better
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pregnancy category rating. Compared with Amifiz&Kristalose has fewer potential side
effects or contraindications and is less expensive.

Kristalose is manufactured for us at an FDA-appddfeeility in Italy under contract with
Inalco.

Early-stage product candidates

Our pre-clinical product candidates are being dgwedl by CET, which collaborates with
leading research institutions to identify and perpromising pre-clinical programs. Three of
the more advanced CET development programs are:

> In collaboration with Vanderbilt University, we acarrently developing a new palliative

treatment for fluid buildup in the lungs of canpatients. The product candidate is a protein
therapeutic being designed to treat “pleural effmgia condition which occurs when cancer
spreads to the surface of the lung and chest gaatysing fluid to accumulate and patient
suffer shortness of breath and chest pain. An estidh100,000 patients are affected by this
condition each year. Vanderbilt University researstbelieve they have found a method of
treating this condition which may involve less pairhigher success rate and faster healing
time, resulting in significantly shorter hospitédygs.

> In collaboration with the University of Mississippie are developing a highly purified,
injectable anti-infective used to treat fungal gtfens in immunosompromised patients. Tt
product candidate’s active ingredient is curreRiyA-approved in a different formulation,
and while it is the therapeutic of choice for irtfeas disease specialists in treating such
fungal infections, it can produce serious sideaffeelated to renal toxicity, often resulting
dosage limitations or discontinued use. UniversitiMississippi researchers have developed
what they believe is a purer and safer form ofaht-infective.

> In collaboration with the University of Tennesse®, are currently developing a novel
asthma therapeutic designed to prevent remodefiagway smooth muscle to reduce
asthmatic reaction in pediatric patients. Airwasnagleling occurs when the cells or muscles
that line the airway become inflamed and can r@sudecreased lung function. University of
Tennessee researchers believe they have foundtm@et that can reduce, or even prevent,
asthma attacks in childre

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Since inception, we have had an active businessld@went program focused on acquiring
rights to marketed products and product candidigsfit our strategy and target markets. We
source our business development leads both througkenior executives and our international
network of pharmaceutical and medical industrydass. These opportunities are reviewed and
considered on a regular basis by a multi-discipjir@am of our managers against a list of
selection criteria. We have historically focusedpooduct opportunities with relatively low
acquisition, development and commercialization€asmploying a variety of deal structures.

We intend to continue to build a portfolio of cormpientary, niche products largely through
product acquisitions. Our primary targets are urgtemoted, FDA-approved drugs with
existing brand recognition and late-stage developmpeducts that address unmet medical
needs in the hospital acute care and gastroenggratarkets. We also plan to explore
opportunities to acquire rights to and seek apgrfmranew uses of pharmaceutical products.
We believe that by focusing mainly on approved or
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late-stage products, we can minimize the significesk, cost and time associated with drug
development. We have completed three material aitopunis including:

> exclusive, worldwide rights from Vanderbilt Univéysto data for intravenous ibuprofen to
support our FDA submission and approval for Caldc

> exclusive, worldwide rights to clinical data supirtg the safety and efficacy of Acetadote,
which served as a key component of our FDA submisand approval; ar

> exclusive U.S. commercial rights to Kristalose.

Our business development team is also responsibldéntifying appropriate CET product
candidates and negotiating with our university pens to secure rights to these candidates.
Through CET, we are collaborating with a growirgd bf research institutions including:

» Vanderbilt University;
> University of Mississippi, School of Pharmacy; and
> University of Tennessee Research Foundation.

Since 2004, these collaborations secured nearigilibn in National Institutes of Health gra
funding for the development of promising new praduand several additional proposals have
been submitted or are awaiting review. Althoughbgéeve that these collaborations may be
important to our business in the future, theseabolfations are not material to our business at
this time.

CLINICAL AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS

We have established in-house capabilities for theagement of our clinical, professional and
regulatory affairs. Our team develops and manageslimical trials, prepares regulatory
submissions, manages ongoing product-related regyleesponsibilities and manages our
medical information call center. They were respblesfor devising the regulatory and clinical
strategies and obtaining FDA approvals for Acetagotd Caldolor.

Clinical development
Our in-house clinical development personnel arparsible for:

» creating clinical development strategies;

> designing and monitoring our clinical trials;

> creating case report forms and other study-reldtedments;
> overseeing clinical work contracted to third pastiend

> overseeing CET grant funding proposals.

Regulatory and quality affairs

Our internal regulatory and quality affairs teamesponsible for:

> preparing and submitting NDAs and fulfilling pogipaoval marketing commitments;

> maintaining investigational and marketing applicas through the submission of appropriate
reports;

» submitting supplemental applications for additiciadlel indications, product line extensions



and manufacturing improvemen
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> evaluating regulatory risk profiles for product atgition candidates, including compliance
with manufacturing, labeling, distribution and metikg regulations

> monitoring applicable third-party service providéss quality and compliance with current
Good Manufacturing Practices, Good Laboratory Rrast and Good Clinical Practices, and
performing periodic audits of such vendors;

» maintaining systems for document control, product process change control, customer
complaint handling, product stability studies andwal drug product review

Professional and medical affairs

Our clinical and regulatory team provides in-housedical information support for our
marketed products. This includes interacting diyaeith healthcare professionals to address
any product or medical inquiries through our meldicgrmation call center. In preparation for
the launch of Caldolor, we have expanded our meéditairs staff to support inquiries from
medical professionals regarding the appropriateofi€aldolor as well as to support the efforts
of our expanded hospital sales force. Our calleremtis previously operated by the Rocky
Mountain Poison and Drug Center, or RMPDC. In 2006 expanded our clinical and
regulatory capabilities and brought our call ceimenouse in an effort to ensure the highest
level of quality and service. The RMPDC continugsupplement our efforts by providing
after-hours support for our call center and asgjstis with our adverse event
collection/reporting and global pharmacovigilancéties. In addition to coordinating the ¢
center, our clinical/regulatory group generatesissdnformation letters, provides
informational memos to our sales forces and assiglisongoing training for the sales forces.

SALES AND MARKETING

Our sales and marketing team has broad industmgreeqe in selling branded
pharmaceuticals. They manage the dedicated hogpithyjastroenterology sales forces, which
are comprised of 66 sales representatives and raemag of July 1, 2009, direct our national
marketing campaigns and maintain key national agcmlationships. We promote our
products to hospitals and offitesed physicians across the U.S. and plan to coomtiee our
products internationally through marketing alliasice

In January 2007, we converted our hospital saleefavhich had previously been contracte
us by Cardinal Health Inc., or Cardinal, to Cuméaed employees through our newly-formed,
wholly-owned subsidiary, Cumberland Pharma Salep Ckhe hospital sales team is
comprised of 30 sales representatives and managses,ing approximately 1,768 hospitals
across the U.S. We are currently expanding ouritedsales force to 77 representatives in
preparation for the launch of Caldolor. The gasitemlogy-focused team, formed in
September 2006 with our re-launch of Kristalose, field sales force comprised of 36
representatives and district managers and covappgoximately 8,000 high prescribers of
laxatives. This gastroenterology sales force igremted to us by Ventiv Commercial Services,
LLC, or Inventiv. Under our agreement, we pay Inikea monthly fee of $0.4 million, a
portion of which is used to compensate the saleefdn addition to this monthly fee, as of
March 31, 2009, we have paid Inventiv an aggregaspproximately $1.8 million for bonuses
and expenses during the existence of this agreerfieistagreement terminates in March 2(
We have the option, with Inventiv’s consent, toeext the contract for one additional year. We
also have the option to bring this sales forceande.

Our sales and marketing executives conduct ongo@udet analyses to evaluate marketing
campaigns and promotional programs. The evaluatiaigde development of product
profiles, testing of the profiles against the neefdthe market, determining what additional
product information or development work is neededffectively market the products and
preparing financial forecasts. We
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utilize professional branding and packaging as aglbromotional items to support our
products, including direct mail, sales brochuresrjal advertising, educational and reminder
leave-behinds, patient educational pieces and ptadmpling. We also regularly attend
targeted trade shows to promote broad awareness @roducts.

Our National Accounts group is responsible for karge buyers and related marketing
programs. This group supports sales and markeffogeby maintaining relationships with
our wholesaler customers as well as with thirdyppayors such as Group Purchasing
Organizations, Pharmacy Benefit Managers, HosBisging Groups, state and federal
government purchasers and influencers and heathiance companies.

International Sales and Marketing

Consistent with our strategy to outsource non-fametions, we have licensed to third parties
the right to distribute certain products outside thS. We have granted Alveda
Pharmaceuticals Inc., or Alveda, an exclusive Beeto distribute Caldolor in Canada subje!
receipt of regulatory approval. Alveda is obligatednake payments to us of up to $1,000,000
Canadian upon Caldolor’s achieving specified repajamilestones in Canada and to pay us a
royalty based on Canadian sales of Caldolor. Titénke terminates five years after regulatory
approval is obtained in Canada for the later offéwver or pain indications. We have granted
Phebra Pty. Limited, or Phebra, an exclusive liegnamarket and distribute Acetadote in
Australia, New Zealand, and Southeast Asia, sultettte receipt of regulatory approval.
Phebra is obligated to make payments to us of §3&5,000 upon Phebra’s achieving
specified milestones as well as royalty paymeritss Ticense terminates seven years after ¢

of Acetadote are recorded in Australia.

MANUFACTURING AND DISTRIBUTION

We outsource certain non-core, capital-intensivetions, including manufacturing and
distribution. Our executives have years of expegen these areas and manage these third-
party relationships with a focus on quality assaean

Manufacturing
Our key manufacturing relationships include:

> In July 2000, we established an international mactufing alliance with a predecessor to
Hospira Australia Pty. Ltd., or Hospira. Hospiraigzes active pharmaceutical ingredients, or
APIs, and manufactures Caldolor for us under areagent that expires on the fifth
anniversary of FDA approval of Caldolor, subjecetoly termination upon 45 days prior
notice in the event of uncured material breach $grnHospira. The agreement will
automatically renew for successive three-year temhsss Hospira or we provide at least
12 months prior written notice of non-renewal. Unttee agreement, we pay Hospira a
transfer price per unit of Caldolor supplied. Irdéibn, we reimburse Hospira for
agreed-upon development, regulatory and inspeatiohaudit costs. As of March 31, 2009,
we have made payments to Hospira for validationHzs of commercial supplies of Caldc
pursuant to this agreement. We have paid approgimét.1 million in the aggregate for
validation batches, supplies, development, regotatospection, audit and all other costs for
Caldolor to Hospira and its predecessors, MaynerRa®ty. Ltd. and F.H. Faulding & Co.
Limited,
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as of March 31, 2009. We have also granted Hospirght of first negotiation with respect
the manufacture of all future pharmaceutical préslwe intend to sell and the distribution of
these products in Australia, New Zealand, Canadanautually agreed Southeast Asian and
Latin American countries

> Bioniche Teoranta, or Bioniche, sources APls andufectures Acetadote for us for sale in
the U.S. at its FDA-approved manufacturing faciiityireland. Our relationship with
Bioniche began in January 2002. Bioniche manufastand packages Acetadote for us, and
we purchase Acetadote from Bioniche pursuant taggaement expiring in January 2011.
This agreement is subject to early termination upgor written notice in the event of an
uncured material default by us or Bioniche. We hawveption to renew the agreement for a
five-year term upon expiration. Under the agreemeantpay Bioniche a transfer price per
unit of Acetadote supplied, which transfer priceubject to annual adjustment, and a
percentage royalty in the mid-single digits throogtthe term of the agreement based on our
net sales of the product. In addition, we are neglio purchase minimum quantities of
Acetadote

> Inalco S.p.A. and Inalco Biochemicals, Inc., ordectively Inalco, from which we licensed
exclusive U.S. commercialization rights to Kristsddn April 2006, source APIs and supply
us with the product under an agreement that expir2621. The agreement renews
automatically for successive three-year terms gnlesor Inalco provide written notice of
intent not to renew at least 12 months prior to@tjpn of a term. Either we or Inalco may
terminate this agreement upon at least 45 days written notice in the event of uncured
material breach. Under the agreement, we are rdjtir pay Inalco a transfer price per unit
of Kristalose supplied and a percentage royalthélow to mid-single-digits throughout the
term of the agreement based on our net sales sfafose. In addition, we are required to
purchase minimum quantities of Kristalo

> We entered into an agreement with Bayer Healthd¢ar€, or Bayer, in February 2008 for
the manufacture of Caldolor and Acetadote. Theaagemt expires in February 2013, subject
to early termination upon 30 days prior writtenicetn the event of uncured material breach
by us or Bayer. The agreement will automaticallyesg for successive one-year terms unless
Bayer or we provide at least six months prior writhotice of non-renewal. Under the
agreement, we pay Bayer a transfer price per eaittouCaldolor or Acetadote supplied. In
addition, we pay Bayer for agreed upon developroests.

Distribution

Like many other pharmaceutical companies, we emafogutside third party logistics
contractor to facilitate our distribution effor&ince August 2002, Specialty Pharmaceutical
Services, or SPS, (formerly CORD Logistics, In@} exclusively handled all aspects of our
product logistics efforts, including warehousinipping, customer billing and collections.
SPS is a division of Cardinal. SPS’s main facilityocated just outside of Nashville,
Tennessee, with more than 325,000 square feetagbspnd a welkkstablished infrastructure.
2008, SPS opened a second, distribution-only fgéili Reno, Nevada, with an additional
88,000 square feet of space. We began utilizirgyfthility for distribution to certain locations
in the second half of 2008. We maintain ownershipus finished products until their sale to
our customers.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We seek to protect our products from competitionulgh a combination of patents,
trademarks, trade secrets, FDA exclusivity andreatiial restrictions on disclosure.
Proprietary rights, including patents, are an ingrorelement of our business. We seek to
protect our proprietary information by requiringr@amployees, consultants, contractors and
other advisors to execute agreements providing for
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protection of our confidential information on conmeement of their employment or
engagement, through which we seek to protect daliéctual property. We also require
confidentiality agreements from entities that reeedur confidential data or materials.

Caldolor

We are the owner of U.S. Patent No. 6,727,286, lisiclirected to ibuprofen solution
formulations, methods of making the same, and nastiod using the same, and which expires
in 2021. This U.S. patent is associated with ounpeted international application

No. PCT/US01/42894We have filed for international patent protectiarassociation with this
PCT application in various countries, some of whielve been allowed and some of which
remain pending.

We have an exclusive, worldwide license to clinidala for intravenous ibuprofen from
Vanderbilt University, in consideration for royakynd other payment obligations conditioned
upon approval by the FDA of Caldolor.

In addition, we received three years marketingusielty upon receipt of FDA approval for
Caldolor. We may also seek further exclusivity frita FDA upon completion of successful
pediatric clinical trials for the product.

Effective May 2009, we introduced the trade namkl@ar to replace the trade name Amelior
for our intravenous ibuprofen product.

Acetadote

Acetadote was approved by the FDA in January 280ahaorphan drug for the intravenous
treatment of acetaminophen overdose. As an orphay) dcetadote is entitled to seven years
of marketing exclusivity for the treatment of thigproved indication. We have applied for
patent protection for a new formulation of Acetadtitrough U.S. patent application

No. 11/209,804as well as through international application NoTRIS06/20691, both of
which are directed to acetylcysteine compositiomsthods of making the same and methoc
using the same. In addition, we have an exclusiggldwide license to NAC clinical data fro
Newcastle Master Misercordiae Hospital in Australige have no expected outstand
payment obligations pursuant to this contract.

Kristalose

We are the exclusive licensee of U.S. Patent Nt8(1491 owned by Inalco relating to
Kristalose, directed to a process for preparatfocrystalline lactulose. Related license rights
include an exclusive license to use related Inkimmv-how and the Kristalose trademark to
manufacture, market and distribute Kristalose thS. Under our agreement with Inalco,
Inalco is solely responsible for prosecuting andntaéning both the patents and kndww tha
we license from them. Our license expires in 201 ia subject to earlier termination for
material breach. Our payment obligations underagieement are described under
“Manufacturing and Distribution — Manufacturing.”

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgris¢é competition and rapid innovation. Our
continued success in developing and commercialighmrmaceutical products will depend, in
part, upon our ability to compete against exiséng future products in our target markets.
Competitive factors directly affecting our markatslude but are not limited to:

> product attributes such as efficacy, safety, edses® and cost-effectiveness;

> brand awareness and recognition driven by salesramkieting and distribution capabilities;
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> intellectual property and other exclusivity rights;

> availability of resources to build and maintain diepmental and commercial capabilities;
> successful business development activities;

> extent of third-party reimbursements; and

> establishment of advantageous collaborations tdwttrdevelopment, manufacturing or
commercialization efforts

A number of our competitors possess research arglafament and sales and marketing
capabilities as well as financial resources grei@n ours. These competitors, in addition to
emerging companies and academic research instifytinay be developing, or in the future
could develop, new technologies that could compéife our current and future products or
render our products obsolete.

Caldolor

We are developing Caldolor for the treatment ohid fever, primarily in a hospital setting.
A variety of products already address the acute peirket.

» Morphine, the most commonly used product for teatiment of acute, post-operative pain, is
manufactured and distributed by several genericrpaeeutical companie

> DepoDur®is an extended release injectable formulation ofprhime that is marketed by
EKR Therapeutics, In(

> Other generic injectable opioids, including fentanyeperidine and hydromorphone, address
this market

> Ketorolac (brand name Torad®), an injectable NSAID, is also manufactured and
distributed by several generic pharmaceutical conigse

We are aware of other product candidates in dewedop to treat acute pain including
injectable NSAIDs, novel opioids, new formulatiosfsexisting therapies and extended release
anesthetics. We believe the companies developjegtable, non-narcotic analgesics for the
treatment of post-surgical pain are the primaneptial competitors to Caldolor. Cadence
Pharmaceuticals Inc. has filed for FDA regulatgopraval of an injectable formulation of
acetaminophen for the treatment of pain and fdeeryhich it has received priority review,

and Javelin Pharmaceuticals Inc. is developingigatiable form of an NSAID, diclofenac.

In addition to the injectable analgesic productsvat) many companies are developing
analgesics for specific indications such as migrand neuropathic pain, oral extended-release
forms of existing narcotic and non-narcotic prodyend products with new methods of
delivery such as transdermal.

We are not aware of any approved injectable pradincticated for the treatment of fever in
U.S. other than Caldolor. There are, however, nomedrugs available to physicians to reduce
fevers in hospital settings via oral administratiorthe patient, including acetaminophen,
ibuprofen and aspirin. These drugs are manufactoyetimerous pharmaceutical companies.

Acetadote

Acetadote is our injectable formulation of NAC fbe treatment of acetaminophen overdose.
NAC is accepted worldwide as the standard of car@éetaminophen overdose. Despite
availability of injectable NAC outside the Uniteth&s, Acetadote, to our knowledge, is the
only injectable NAC product approved in the U.Stramt acetaminophen overdose. Our
competitors in the acetaminophen overdose markethase companies selling orally
administered NAC including, but not limited to,
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Geneva Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Bedford Laboratalidsion of Ben Venue Laboratories, Inc.,
Roxane Laboratories, Inc. and Hospira Inc.

Kristalose

Kristalose is a dry powder crystalline prescriptformulation of lactulose indicated for the
treatment of constipation. The U.S. constipati@rdlpy market includes various prescription
and OTC products. The prescription products whiehbelieve are our primary competitors
Amitiza ® and liquid lactuloses:

> Amitiza is indicated for the treatment of chromioipathic constipation in adults and is
marketed by Sucampo Pharmaceuticals Inc. and TdRedanaceutical Company Limited;
and

> Liquid lactulose products are marketed by a nunsb@harmaceutical companies.

In addition, Kristalose competed with Novartis RharAG’s prescription product Zelnorfh
until the company announced its withdrawal from th8. market in April 2008 after adverse
safety findings led to U.S. marketing suspensiokda?.

There are several hundred OTC products used tbdoaatipation marketed by numerous
pharmaceutical and consumer health companies. Mx@l(polyethylene glycol 3350),
previously a prescription product, was indicatedtfi@ treatment of constipation and
manufactured and marketed by Braintree Laboratalfies Under an agreement with Braintr
Schering-Plough introduced MiraLax as an OTC produé&ebruary 2007.

EMPLOYEES

As of July 1, 2009, we had 59 full-time employeghich includes 30 hospital sales force
representatives and managers. We also have a tetigastroenterology field sales force ul
contract that is comprised of 36 dedicated salpesentatives and district managers. We
believe that employing experienced, independentraotors and consultants is a cost-efficient
and effective way to accomplish our goals. A nuntdfeadditional individuals have provided
are currently providing services to us pursuargdgeements between the individuals or their
employers and us. None of our employees are repebby a collective bargaining unit. We
believe that we have positive relationships with @mployees.

FACILITIES

We currently lease approximately 9,300 squaredéetfice space in Nashville, Tennessee for
our headquarters. This lease expires in Decemtd 20 approximately 6,300 square feet and
in December 2015 for approximately 3,000 square f&e also entered into a sublease
agreement for approximately 9,000 square feet ditiadial office space adjoining our
headquarters, effective June 1, 2007. The subkeqgsees in October 2010. We believe that
these facilities are adequate to meet our curreedls for office space. We currently do not |

to purchase or lease facilities for manufacturpeigkaging or warehousing, as such service
provided to us by third-party contract groups.

Under an agreement expiring in July 2011, CET leaggproximately 6,900 square feet of
office and wet laboratory space in Nashville, Tessee. CET uses this space to operate the
CET Life Sciences Center for product developmerkwo be carried out in collaboration with
universities, research institutions and entreprend@lET has an option to lease up to

20,000 square feet at the Life Sciences Centendliioneed additional space. The CET Life
Sciences Center provides laboratory and officesspagquipment and infrastructure to early-
stage life sciences companies and university spia-o
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Pharmaceutical companies are subject to extensggation by national, state, and local
agencies in countries in which they do business. Mhanufacture, distribution, marketing and
sale of pharmaceutical products is subject to gowent regulation in the U.S. and various
foreign countries. Additionally, in the U.S., we stdollow rules and regulations establishec
the FDA requiring the presentation of data indiogihat our products are safe and efficacious
and are manufactured in accordance with cGMP régok If we do not comply with
applicable requirements, we may be fined, the gowent may refuse to approve our marke
applications or allow us to manufacture or marketgroducts and we may be criminally
prosecuted.

We and our manufacturers and clinical researchnizgtions may also be subject to
regulations under other federal, state and loeed lancluding the Occupational Safety and
Health Act, the Resource Conservation and Reco&etythe Clean Air Act and import, expe
and customs regulations as well as the laws andatgns of other countries.

FDA Approval Process

The steps required to be taken before a new ppigeridrug may be marketed in the
U.S. include:

> completion of pre-clinical laboratory and animadtieg;

> the submission to the FDA of an investigational mug application, or IND, which must |
evaluated and found acceptable by the FDA befoneamuclinical trials may commenc

» performance of adequate and well-controlled huntiacal trials to establish the safety and
efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended wse

> submission and approval of an NDA.

The sponsor of the drug typically conducts humanmaal trials in three sequential phases, but
the phases may overlap. In Phase | clinical trtaks product is tested in a small number of
patients or healthy volunteers, primarily for sgfat one or more dosages. In Phase Il clinical
trials, in addition to safety, the sponsor evalsdke efficacy of the product on targeted
indications, and identifies possible adverse effactd safety risks in a patient population.
Phase Il clinical trials typically involve testirfigr safety and clinical efficacy in an expanded
population at geographically-dispersed test sites.

The FDA requires that clinical trials be conducite@ccordance with the FDA'’s good clinical
practices (GCP) requirements. The FDA may ordeptréal, temporary or permanent
discontinuation of a clinical trial at any timeiorpose other sanctions if it believes that the
clinical trial is not being conducted in accordamdth FDA requirements or presents an
unacceptable risk to the clinical trial patienteeTinstitutional review board (IRB), or ethics
committee (outside of the U.S.), of each cliniged generally must approve the clinical trial
design and patient informed consent and may atpainethe clinical trial at that site to be
halted, either temporarily or permanently, forded to comply with the IRB’s requirements, or
may impose other conditions.

The results of the pre-clinical and clinical trigisgether with, among other things, detailed
information on the manufacture and compositiorhefproduct and proposed labeling, are
submitted to the FDA in the form of an NDA for matiug approval. The FDA reviews all
NDAs submitted before it accepts them for filinglanay request additional information rat|
than accepting an NDA for filing. Once the submigsis accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an indepth review of the NDA. Under the policies agréety the FDA under the Prescripti
Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, the FDA has ten moirhshich to complete its initial review
of a standard NDA and respond to the applicant.r€kiw process and the PDUFA goal date
may be extended by three months if the FDA requarstise NDA
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sponsor otherwise provides additional informatiomlarification regarding information
already provided in the submission within the thsée months of the PDUFA goal date. If the
FDA's evaluations of the NDA and the clinical andmafacturing procedures and facilities are
favorable, the FDA may issue an approval lettee FBA may also issue an approvable letter
setting forth further conditions that must be nmetider to secure final approval of the NDA
and when those conditions have been met to the EBatisfaction, the FDA will issue an
approval letter. An approval letter authorizes carotal marketing of the drug for certain
indications. According to the FDA, the median t@pproval time for NDAs approved during
calendar year 2004 was approximately 13 monthstéordard applications. If the FDA's
evaluations of the NDA submission and the clinaradl manufacturing procedures and facili
are not favorable, it may refuse to approve the NiDA issue a not-approvable letter.

The time and cost of completing these steps arairibg FDA approval can vary dramatically
depending on the drug. However, to complete thieges$or a novel drug can take many years
and cost millions of dollars.

Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

As an alternate path for FDA approval of new intlares or new formulations of previously-
approved products, a company may file a Sectiorfl(®) NDA, instead of a “stand-alone” or
“full” NDA. Section 505(b)(2) of the FDC Act was acted as part of the Drug Price
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1@derwise known as the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments. Section 505(b)(2) permits the submissfan NDA where at least some of the
information required for approval comes from stgdiet conducted by or for the applicant and
for which the applicant has not obtained a rightaférence. Some examples of products that
may be allowed to follow a 505(b)(2) path to apcare drugs which have a new dosage
form, strength, route of administration, formulatior indication.

We successfully secured FDA approvals for Acetadofanuary 2004 and for Caldolor in
June 2009 pursuant to the 505(b)(2) pathway.

Upon approval of a “full” or 505(b)(2) NDA, a drugay be marketed only for the FDA-
approved indications in the approved dosage foruagher clinical trials are necessary to gain
approval for the use of the product for any addaidndications or dosage forms. The FDA
may also require post-market reporting and mayirecurveillance programs to monitor the
side effects of the drug, which may result in withwlal of approval after marketing begins.

Special Protocol Assessment Process

The special protocol assessment, or SPA, processaly involves FDA evaluation of a
proposed Phase lll clinical trial protocol and ancoitment from the FDA that the design and
analysis of the trial are adequate to support agbraf an NDA, if the trial is performed
according to the SPA and meets its endpoints. Th&'$-guidance on the SPA process
indicates that SPAs are designed to evaluate ithgi@kiclinical trial protocols primarily in
response to specific questions posed by the spansopractice, the sponsor of a product
candidate may request an SPA for proposed Phasallbbjectives, designs, clinical
endpoints and analyses. A request for an SPA istda in the form of a separate amendn
to an IND, and the FDA'’s evaluation generally ol completed within a 45-dagview periot
under applicable PDUFA goals, provided that thedgrhave been the subject of discussion at
an end-of-Phase Il and pre-Phase Il meeting ii¢hRDA, or in other limited cases.

On June 14, 2004, we submitted a request for SRA0€aldolor Phase 11l clinical study.
During a meeting with the FDA on September 29, 2804 FDA confirmed that the efficacy
data from our study of post-operative pain withoaifive outcome was considered sufficient to
support a 505(b)(2)
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application for the pain indication. Final deterations by the FDA with respect to a product
candidate, including as to the scope of its “latggli are made after a complete review of the
applicable NDA and are based on the entire datfaeimpplication. Moreover, notwithstanding
any SPA, FDA approval of an NDA is subject to fetpublic health concerns unrecognized at
the time of protocol assessment.

Orphan Drug Designation

The Orphan Drug Act of 1983, or Orphan Drug Acairages manufacturers to seek appi
of products intended to treat “rare diseases anditions” with a prevalence of fewer than
200,000 patients in the U.S. or for which theredgeasonable expectation of recovering the
development costs for the product. For productsrédweive orphan drug designation by the
FDA, the Orphan Drug Act provides tax credits finical research, FDA assistance with
protocol design, eligibility for FDA grants to furdinical studies, waiver of the FDA
application fee, and a period of seven years oketarg exclusivity for the product following
FDA marketing approval. Acetadote received Orphamgiesignation in October 2001 and
was approved by the FDA for the intravenous treatroémoderate to severe acetaminophen
overdose in January 2004. As an orphan drug, Aotgdd entitled to marketing exclusivity
until January 2011 for the treatment of this apptbindication. This exclusivity would not
prevent a product with a different formulation frammpeting with Acetadote, however.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

The Hatch-Waxman Act provides three years of margetxclusivity for the approval of new
and supplemental NDAs, including Section 505(bNPWAs, for, among other things, new
indications, dosages or strengths of an existinig df new clinical investigations that were
conducted or sponsored by the applicant are eastmthe approval of the application. It is
under this provision that we received three yeaagkating exclusivity for Caldolor upon
receipt of FDA approval in June 2009.

Other regulatory requirements

Regulations continue to apply to pharmaceuticatipets after FDA approval occurs. Post-
marketing safety surveillance is required in otgdecontinue to market an approved product.
The FDA also may, in its discretion, require postrketing testing and surveillance to monitor
the effects of approved products or place conditimm any approvals that could restrict the
commercial applications of these products.

If we seek to make certain changes to an FDA-amat@roduct, such as promoting or labeling
a product for a new indication, making certain nfanturing changes or product enhancem
or adding labeling claims, we will need FDA reviamd approval before the change can be
implemented. While physicians may use productsnidications that have not been approved
by the FDA, we may not label or promote the prodactn indication that has not been
approved. Securing FDA approval for new indicationproduct enhancements and, in some
cases, for manufacturing and labeling claims, reegally a time-consuming and expensive
process that may require us to conduct clinicaldrinder the FDA’s IND regulations. Even if
such studies are conducted, the FDA may not apmoyehange in a timely fashion, or at all.
In addition, adverse experiences associated wilotithe products must be reported to the
FDA, and FDA rules govern how we can label, adgertir otherwise commercialize our
products.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of
state and federal laws have been applied to resaitain marketing practices in the
pharmaceutical industry
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in recent years. These laws include anti-kickbaatutes and false claims statutes. The federal
health care program anti-kickback statute prohilsitsong other things, knowingly and

willfully offering, paying, soliciting or receivingemuneration to induce or in return for
purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging forghechase, lease or order of any health care
item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Madioa other federally financed health care
programs. This statute has been interpreted tyaprrangements between pharmaceutical
manufacturers on the one hand and prescribershasecs and formulary managers on the
other. Violations of the anti-kickback statute ptmishable by imprisonment, criminal fines,
civil monetary penalties and exclusion from papi#tion in federal health care programs.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fiarowingly presenting, or causing to be
presented, a false claim for payment to the fedgraérnment, or knowingly making, or
causing to be made, a false statement to haveadkdim paid. Recently, several
pharmaceutical and other health care companiesthese prosecuted under these laws for
allegedly inflating drug prices they report to g services, which in turn were used by the
government to set Medicare and Medicaid reimbursemates, and for allegedly providing f
product to customers with the expectation thattstomers would bill federal programs for
the product.

Outside of the U.S., our ability to market our prots will also depend on receiving marketing
authorizations from the appropriate regulatory arities. The foreign regulatory approval
process includes all of the risks associated ighRDA approval process described above.
requirements governing the conduct of clinicall$reend marketing authorization vary widely
from country to country.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Except as described below, we are not a partyig@ation or other legal proceedings.

During the second quarter of 2006, our Chief Exgeut Vice President of ours, and we were
named as co-defendantsRarniani v. Cardinal Health, Inc. et al.Case

No. 0:0¢-cv-02514-PJS-JJG in the U.S. District Court inEhstrict of Minnesota for
unspecified damages based on workers’ compensatidmelated claims. In July 2007, the
federal district court dismissed the case agaisistna our officers. The U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Eighth Circuit (Eighth Circuit) affirmedithruling in December 2008. The plaintiff fil
a petition for rehearing en banc with the Eighttrcit in February 2009. After this petition v
denied in March 2009, the plaintiff filed a motifor stay of mandate with the Eighth Circuit
April 2009. The Eighth Circuit denied plaintiff'sation for stay of mandate as well as the
plaintiff's subsequent motion appealing that demahpril 2009. The plaintiff requested an
extension of time to file a petition for writ of t®rari with the U.S. Supreme Court in May
2009. The U.S. Supreme Court granted the plaistéRtension request until July 14, 2009.
plaintiff did not file a petition for writ of certirari with the U.S. Supreme Court by the Supr
Court’s July 14, 2009 deadline. The plaintiff ifoamer employee of a third-party service
provider to us. The service provider, which wag alamed as a cdefendant, agreed to asst
control of our defense at its cost pursuant tordrect between the service provider and us.
Based upon the information available to us to dagebelieve that all asserted claims again
and the individual defendants are without meritwidaer, if any of the plaintiff's claims are
deemed to be meritorious upon rehearing, we expdm indemnified by the service provider
so that resolution of this matter is not expectellave a material adverse effect on our future
financial results or financial condition.
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OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The following table sets forth the names and adesiodirectors, executive officers and key
managers as of July 1, 2009:

Name Age Position

Directors and executive officer

A.J. Kazimi 51 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Martin E. Cearnaft) 64 Director, Senior Vice President and Chief
Commercial Officel

Dr. Robert G. Edward@ 81 Director

Dr. Lawrence W. Gree@).(2) 64 Director

Thomas R. Lawrenc).(2) 69 Director

Jean W. Marstiller 59 Senior Vice President and Corporate
Secretary

Dr. Gordon R. Bernard 57 Senior Vice President and Medical
Director

Leo Pavliv, R.Ph. 48 Senior Vice President, Operatic

David L. Lowrance 41 Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Key managers

James L. Herman 54 Senior Director, National Accounts and
Corporate Compliance Offici

Amy D. Rock, Ph.D. 38 Senior Director, Regulatory & Scientific
Affairs

Dr. Arthur P. Wheele 52 Director, Medical Affairs

Barry L. Lee 50 Product Directo

Cindy Pattor 55 Director, Sales & Marketin

Doug Jack 39 Senior Manager, SEC Reporti

(1) Member of Audit Committe
(2) Member of Compensation Committ

A.J. Kazimi, Chairman and Chief Executive Offic Mr. Kazimi founded our company in
1999 and has served as our Chief Executive OffindrChairman of our Board of Directors
since inception. His career includes 20 years énbibbpharmaceutical industry. Prior to joining
our company, he spent eleven years from 1987 t8 h8%ing to build Therapeutic Antibodies
Inc., a biopharmaceutical company, where as Presatel Chief Operating Officer he made
key contributions to the company’s growth fromstart-up phase through its initial public
offering and product launches. Mr. Kazimi oversgyemtions in three countries and was
personally involved with the company’s product depenent strategies, licensing and
distribution agreements, and the raising of moaa th100 million through equity and debt
financings. From 1984-1987, Mr. Kazimi worked ab®&n-Forman Corporation, rising throu

a series of management positions and helping teclageveral new products. Mr. Kazimi
currently serves on the board of directors forNlashville Health Care Council; Aegis Scier
Corporation, a federally certified forensic toxioegy laboratory; and the Tennessee
Biotechnology Association. He also serves as Chairand Chief Executive Officer of
Cumberland Emerging Technologies, Inc., or CEThHlels a B.S. from the University of
Notre Dame and an M.B.A. from the Vanderbilt Owera@uate School of Manageme

Martin E. Cearnal, Director, Senior Vice Presidertd Chief Commercial Office

Mr. Cearnal has served as a member of our bdatulextors since 2004, and in 2008 joined
our management team to head commercial developime@umberland. He is the former
President and Chief Executive Officer of Physicis¥arld, which became the largest provider
of continuing medical education during his
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tenure from 1985 to 2000. Physicians World was sedwy Thomson Healthcare in 2000,
Mr. Cearnal served as President of Thomson Physididorld from 2000 to 2003 and
Executive Vice President-Chief Strategy Officer Ttromson Medical Education from 2003
through 2005. Since 2006, he has been Executive Riesident-Chief Strategy Officer for
Jobson Medical Information. Mr. Cearnal has 40 geaperience in the healthcare industry
has been involved with the launches of such notwgrharmaceutical products as Lipifor
Actos®, Intron-A®, Straterr®® , Botox® and Humira® . He spent 17 years at Revlon
Healthcare in a variety of domestic and internaigrharmaceutical marketing roles
culminating in his position as Vice President, Maikg for International Operations. He ser
the industry through several organizations, inecigdhe Healthcare Marketing &
Communications Council and the Alliance for ConimguMedical Education. Mr. Cearnal also
serves as a member of our Audit Committee. He iaSadegree from Southeast Missouri
State University.

Dr. Robert G. Edwards, Directo Dr. Edwards has served as a member of our bdard o
directors since 1999. From 1991 to 1999, he wasr@aa and Managing Director of the
Australasian subsidiary of Therapeutic Antibodies. | overseeing operations in Australia, I
Zealand and Southeast Asia. Dr. Edwards also sexwv&kputy Director of the Institute for
Medical & Veterinary Science in South Australiaggldent of the Royal College of
Pathologists of Australasia, and member of the raliah National Health & Medical Research
Council. Dr. Edwards currently serves as a membeupCompensation Committee. He also
serves as a director for CET, and is chairman®fQRT Scientific Advisory Board.

Dr. Edwards holds a Primary Degree from London drsity, Master of Human Physiology
from London University and an M.D. from the Univigysof Adelaide.

Dr. Lawrence W. Greer, Directo Dr. Greer has served as a member of our boaddexdtors
since 1999. Since 2002, he has been Senior Man&giriger of Greer Capital Advisors of
Birmingham, Alabama. Dr. Greer serves as investradmisor to two private equity funds and
general partner for two additional private equipds, including the S.C.0.U.T. Healthcare
Fund from which we have received equity financing. Greer and his firm are established
leaders in private healthcare investments in trdesouth. Previously, he served as Vice
President-Investments of Dunn Investment Compatmgreshe was responsible for
management of a marketable securities portfolis pkrsonal management of a portfolio of 15
private equity investments. He is the former Chaimmof Southern BioSystems which was
acquired by DURECT Corporation in 2001. Dr. Greas hlso worked as an independent
consultant in healthcare administration and finaiwe Greer serves as the chairman of the
Audit Committee of our board of directors, as a henof our Compensation Committee, and
is an Audit Committee financial expert. He alsovedras the chairman of the Audit Committee
for the Southtrust (Bank) Funds Board of Trusteeséveral years. Dr. Greer holds a B.S.
from Tulane University, D.D.S. from Emory Univegsdnd an M.B.A. from Emory Universit

Thomas R. Lawrence, DirectorMr. Lawrence has served as a member of our bafard
directors since 1999. Since 2003 he has been Chaiamd Chief Executive Officer of Aetos
Technologies Inc., a corporation formed in 2003Ajpurn University to market technological
breakthroughs by its faculty. From 1998 to 2003, Mawrence advised business clients on
matters of marketing and corporate governance girdiis firm Capital Consultants. He
previously served as Co-Founder and Managing Raofrigelta Capital Partners in Memphis
from 1989 to 1998. The partnership made investmerten early-stage companies which, by
1998, were valued at more than $30 million. Priothie formation of Delta, Mr. Lawrence
founded several companies in the areas of comnhégeaising and venture capital financing.
also worked for most of the 1980s as an Instit@i@ales Representative and Commercial
Leasing Specialist with the Investment Banking @rofiUnion Planters Bank in Memphis,
where he was responsible for the structure andofaleer $1 billion in securities.
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Mr. Lawrence serves as the chairman of our Compems@ommittee, as a member of our
Audit Committee and as a director for CET. He h&@d3.S. from Mississippi State University.

Jean W. Matrstiller, Senior Vice President and Cagte Secretary Ms. Marstiller joined our
company in 1999. She oversees our administratieeadpns, human resources, site services
and information systems, and became our Corpoeteetary in 2007. She has 18 years
biopharmaceutical industry experience and was fdynigirector of Administrative Operatior
at Therapeutic Antibodies Inc., where she workednfd989 until 1998. In that capacity, she
oversaw administrative services, information systeamd human resources. Ms. Marstiller
employed by Brown-Forman Corporation from 1982 Iut887, where she held management
level positions in the areas of finance and openati She holds a B.E. from Vanderbilt
University and attended the Vanderbilt Owen Gragl&thool of Management.

Dr. Gordon R. Bernard, Senior Vice President andiMal Director. Dr. Bernard has served
as our medical director since 1999. Dr. BernattiésAssistant Vic&shancellor for Research
Vanderbilt University, and also the Melinda OwersB#&rofessor of Medicine and former
Chief of the Division of Allergy, Pulmonary and Gcal Care Medicine at Vanderbilt. In
addition, he is the Medical Director of the Vandidnstitutional Review Board and Chairman
of Vanderbilt's Pharmacy and Therapeutics Commijtigech is responsible for approving the
Vanderbilt Medical Center Formulary of approvedgiand therapeutics. Dr. Bernard also
chairs the National Institutes of Health, Acute [ietory Distress Syndrome Clinical Trials
Network. He holds a B.S. from the University of 8ouvestern Louisiana and an M.D. frc
Louisiana State University.

Leo Pavliv, R. Ph., Senior Vice President, Operati Mr. Pavliv has served as our Vice
President, Operations since 2003, and in 2009 haased Senior Vice President. He is
responsible for Cumberland’s overall drug developmiacluding manufacturing and quality
operations, and has 24 years of experience dewgjqtiarmaceutical and biological products.
From 1997 to 2003 he worked at Cato Research, tambmesearch organization, most rece
as Vice President of Pharmaceutical Developmentevhe oversaw development of a wide
variety of products throughout the developmente&yBlrior to 1997, he held various scientific
and management positions at both large pharmaeéatic smaller biopharmaceutical firms
including Parke-Davis from 1984 to 1986, Agouroraimaceuticals from 1992 to 1997,
ProCyte from 1989 to 1992, and Interferon Scierficaa 1986 to 1989. He is a registered
pharmacist (R.Ph.) and is regulatory affairs cedi{RAC). Mr. Pavliv holds a B.S., Pharme
and an M.B.A. from Rutgers University.

David L. Lowrance, Vice President and Chief Finah€fficer. Mr. Lowrance is responsible
for overseeing all our accounting and financiahdibgs, including financial reporting and
planning. He has been with us since 2003 and hged® of accounting and financial
experience in both international business and naantuifing. From 1994 to 2003, he spent e
years with two global conglomerates, including fgaears as Senior Vice President for Ic
International, a division of Smiths Group, PLC.dPtio that, Mr. Lowrance worked as a senior
accountant for Ernst & Young, LLP from 1990 to 198 is a Certified Public Accountant, or
CPA, and holds a B.B.A. from the University of Ggiat

James L. Herman, Senior Director, National Accowartd Corporate Compliance Office

Mr. Herman handles all national accounts sateduding wholesalers and retail chain buying
offices, managed care home offices and federalrgavent accounts. He is also charged with
overseeing our corporate compliance efforts. Hebleas with us since 2003 and has 18 years
pharmaceutical industry experience. From 1998 i828e was with Solvay Pharmaceuticals
and served as Director of Managed Care as welir@stor of Trade Affairs and Customer
Service. From 1990 to 1998, Mr. Herman was withvgaza Pharma, where he held national
sales leadership positions in National
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Accounts and Managed Care. He holds a B.S. fronatadUniversity and an M.B.A. from
Cardinal Stritch University.

Amy Dix Rock, Ph.D., Senior Director, Regulatorg &tientific Affairs Dr. Rock joined our
company in 2001 and built our Regulatory Affairspaement and infrastructure. In addition to
managing all interactions between our company bad-DA, Dr. Rock oversees the
preparation of pre-approval and post-approval rguy submissions. Her additional
responsibilities include involvement in protocolvdmpment and clinical trials management,
overseeing our medical call center and supportimgcorporate compliance initiatives. She
holds a B.A. from Washington University, a Ph.DIimmunology from the University of
Kentucky, and an M.B.A. from the Vanderbilt Owera@uate School of Management.

Dr. Arthur P. Wheeler, Director, Medical Affair Dr. Wheeler joined our company as Dire
of Medical Affairs in 2007 and has served on ourdiel Advisory Board since 2005. He is
Associate Professor of Allergy, Pulmonary and €CaitiCare Medicine as well as Associate
Professor of Medicine at Vanderbilt University. BWheeler also serves as Director of the
Medical Intensive Care Unit at Vanderbilt Univeysiedical Center. He is the vice chairman
of the Vanderbilt Pharmacy and Therapeutics conesithnd Director of the Vanderbilt
Clinical Coordinating Center. He holds B.A. and Mdagrees from the University of
Maryland.

Barry L. Lee, Product Director Mr. Lee joined our company as Product DirectarGaldolor
in 2008. He is responsible for all marketing atigs associated with the launch and ongoing
commercialization of Caldolor, our lead productdidate. Beginning his career with Berlex
Laboratories, Inc. in 1984, Mr. Lee spent 24 yedithe company, which is now known as
Bayer Healthcare Pharmaceuticals Inc. followingitguisition of Berlex in 2006. There he
served in a variety of pharmaceutical sales andatizig positions, and most notably was
responsible for the launch of Yasnfiin 2001—one of the most successful industry product
launches at that time. He has a B.S. degree frorasTA&M University.

Cindy Patton, Director, Sales and Marketinds. Patton joined our company in 2009 as
National Sales Director. She is responsible fordiseelopment and managemen
Cumberlands hospital and field sales forces, and the sucgkessécution of sales plans for ¢
current and future products. Ms. Patton joinedramfNovartis/CIBA-GEIGY Pharmaceutical
Corporation where she acquired 25 years of phamtiaat sales and marketing experience
from 1983 to 2008. Her responsibilities there rahfyem field and hospital sales to customer
and product marketing, including serving as prodiiietctor for the successful Novartis’ brand
Lotensin®. Most recently, she served as Regional Sales iret the Ciba Novartis Field
Force, leading a team of managers and represeggatisix states. Ms. Patton received her
B.A. from Lambuth College.

Doug Jack, Senior Manager, SEC Reporti Mr. Jack is responsible for the preparation bf al
SEC required financial reports, including quartedports on Form 10-Q and annual reports on
Form 10-K. Joining us in 2007, he has over 15 yeaescounting and financial experience.

Mr. Jack spent a combined eight years in the pw@aéounting arena, most recently as an audit
manager with Ernst & Young LLP from 2006 to 200iid greviously with
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1993 to 2000. He hakadavith manufacturing, wholesale ¢
retail clients, including SEC registrants. Mr. Jatso served as Chief Financial Officer and
Controller at Southern Specialty Brands from 2G02Q06. He is a Certified Public Account
and holds a B.B.A. from the University of Georgia.

ADVISORY BOARDS

In order to augment the efforts of our managemadtdirectors, we have established two key
advisory boards to support our management andtdiec
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Pharmaceutical Advisory Board

Our Board of Pharmaceutical Advisors is compriskéight individuals who have spent their
careers in the pharmaceutical industry. These adviselp to build our company by actively
contributing to many areas of our business sudtraggy, business development, human
resources, marketing, international activities,cattting and logistics. The members of our
Board of Pharmaceutical Advisors are:

Joseph D. Williams Former Chairman and CEO
Warner Lambert Compar

Joseph Carpino Former VP, Business Development
Warner Lambert Compar

Jonathan Griggs Former VP, Human Resources
Warner Lambert Compar

Robert Anderson Former Chief Marketing Officer
Thomson Medical Education
Former Marketing Positions at Pfizer Pharmaceutical
Company, Ciba Corp., Pal-Davis Compan)

Timothy Meakin Former CEO
Faulding Hospital Pharmaceuticals Division of F &luking
& Co. Limited
Former President
Bristol-Myers Squibb Canada C

Neil M. Richie, Jr. Former Director of Logistics
Parke-Davis Company

J. William Hix Former Vice President, Sales & Marketing
Cumberland Pharmaceutici

Medical Advisory Board

We have also established a Board of Medical Adsisosupport our product development
efforts. This board includes five physicians frdm tJ.S. and international medical
communities who are leaders in the fields of emeeyggecritical care and infectious disease
medicine as well as toxicology and cardiology. Ehieslividuals meet as a group with our
management to help us identify unmet medical naedsunderserved patient populations in
our target areas. They also help us identify araduate relevant product opportunities. The
members of our Board of Medical Advisors are:

Dr. Art Wheeler Associate Professor of Medicine
Vanderbilt University
Dr. Ben deBoisblanc Professor of Medicine and Physiology
Louisiana State University Medical Schc
Dr. Richard Dart Director
Rocky Mountain Poison and Drug Cen
Dr. Robert Roberts President and CEO

University of Ottawa Heart Institu

Dr. David Watrrell Head, Nuffield Department of Clinical Medicine
Professor Emeritus Tropical Medicine and InfectiDisease
Oxford University
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BOARD COMPOSITION

Our board of directors currently consists of fiveedtors who are divided into three classes
serving staggered three-year terms. Dr. Robertd@atds is a Class | director who will serve
until our 2011 annual meeting of shareholders.Lawrence W. Greer and Thomas R.
Lawrence are Class Il directors who will serve lumtir 2012 annual meeting. A.J. Kazimi and
Martin E. Cearnal are Class Il directors who wirve until our 2010 annual meeting. Upon
expiration of the term of a class of directorsediors in that class will be eligible to be elected
for a new three-year term at the annual meetirghafeholders in the year in which their term
expires. Any additional directorships resultingnfran increase in the number of directors will
be distributed among the three classes so thagady as possible, each class will consist of
one-third of the directors. This classificationdifectors could have the effect of increasing the
length of time necessary to change the compositi@gmmajority of our board of directors. In
general, at least two annual meetings of shareloldill be necessary for shareholders to
effect a change in a majority of the members oftmard of directors.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

In July 2009, our board of directors undertook\daaw of the independence of the directors
considered whether any director had a materialiogiship with us that could compromise his
ability to exercise independent judgment in camyiut his responsibilities. As a result of this
review, our board of directors determined thatllZxwrence W. Greer and Thomas R.
Lawrence were “independent” as defined under agpleeNational Association of Securities
Dealers Automated Quotation System, or NASDAQ,sualed SEC rules and regulations. We
expect that a majority of our board will be indegent within a year following this offering as
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, SEEsrahd regulations and NASDAQ rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The standing committees of our board consist ciwadit committee and a compensation
committee. Both committees will have three memif@iewing this offering, two of whom
will be independent. We expect that all directarsoar audit and compensation committees
will be independent within a year following thiferfing.

Audit committee

The members of our audit committee are Dr. Lawrdiic&reer, Martin E. Cearnal and
Thomas R. Lawrence. The Chair of the audit committeDr. Greer, who has been
affirmatively determined by our board of directtwshe independent in accordance with
applicable rules. In addition, the board of direstoas determined that Dr. Greer is an “audit
committee financial expert,” as such term is déstiin Item 407 of Regulation S-K.

The primary function of the audit committee is ssiat our board of directors in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities by reviewing the finaaigieports and certain financial information
provided by us to any governmental body or the ipubtviewing our systems of internal
controls regarding finance, accounting, legal caamgle and ethics that we have established
and overseeing our auditing, accounting and firemeporting processes generally. Consistent
with this function, we expect the audit committeeehcourage continuous improvement of,

to foster adherence to, our policies, procedurdspaactices at all levels, to be responsible for
managing the relationship with our independentstegéd public accountants, and to provide a
forum for discussion with the independent registqreblic accountants and our board.
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Some of the audit committee’s responsibilities !

> appointing, determining the compensation for anereeeing our relationship with our
independent registered public accounta

> overseeing, reviewing and evaluating our finansiatements, the audits of our financial
statements, our accounting and financial repopigesses, the integrity of our financial
statements, our disclosure controls and proceduréur internal audit function

> reviewing and approving the services provided byiodependent registered public
accountants, including the scope and results af #huelits and pre-approving permissible
nor-audit services to be performed by the

> resolving disagreements between management ariddependent registered public
accountants

> overseeing our compliance with legal and regulateguirements and compliance with
ethical standards adopted by

> establishing and maintaining whistleblower proceduand

> evaluating periodically our Standards of Businesadtict and Ethics, Code of Ethics for
Senior Financial Officers and Procedures for Compdaand Concerns Regarding
Accounting, Internal Accounting Controls and AudiiiMatters

Compensation committee

The members of our compensation committee are &wrénce W. Greer,
Dr. Robert G. Edwards, and Thomas R. Lawrence.Qtredr of the compensation committee
Thomas R. Lawrence. The responsibilities of the pemsation committee include:

> reviewing and recommending to the board of dirextbe compensation and benefits of a
our executive officers and directo

> evaluating the performance of the principal exeeutfficer;
> administering our equity incentive plans;

> establishing and reviewing general policies retatm compensation and benefits of our
employees

» reviewing and evaluating the compensation discasai@ analysis prepared by managen
and

» preparing an executive compensation report foripatibn in our annual proxy statement.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTI CIPATION

Thomas R. Lawrence, the Chair of our compensationnaittee, is the Chairman of Aetos
Technologies, Inc., a corporation formed in 2003A§purn University to market technologic
breakthroughs by its faculty. Until June 2009 Mazitni, our Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, served on the board of directors of Aefeshnologies. Other than this relationship,
none of our executive officers serves, or in thet paar has served, as a member of the board
of directors or compensation committee of any o#wdity that has one or more executive
officers who serve on our board of directors or penmsation committee.

CODES OF CONDUCT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We have implemented and continue to develop a Catp@ompliance Program. Within this
program, we plan to maintain internal processesravieéw procedures that ensure our busil
activities are conducted in compliance with appdlegederal and state laws, statutes,
regulations or prograi
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requirements, including guidance documents drafpetifically by governing entities for the
healthcare and pharmaceutical industries, consigtiém advancing, preserving and protecting
public health.

To help ensure compliance, we plan to conduct exgpkriodic compliance audits by internal
and external auditors and compliance staff, wheelepertise in federal and state healthcare
laws and regulations.

Our codes of conduct consist of a Standards ofriggsi Conduct and Ethics, a Code of Ethics
for Senior Financial Officers, an Insider Infornmatj Trading or Dealing and Stock Tipping
Policy and Procedures for Complaints and ConcestaRling Accounting, Internal
Accounting Controls, and Auditing Matters. As pafrour corporate compliance program, in
2006 we established a compliance hotline to enatnligloyees, directors and other
representatives to report compliance violationsluiding violations of our codes of conduct.

Standards of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a StandardsishBss Conduct and Ethics which establish
the standards of ethical conduct applicable tofadlur directors, officers, employees, key
advisors, consultants and contract organizatiohs.cbde of ethics addresses, among other
things, compliance with laws and regulations, besénpractices, conflicts of interest,
employment policies and reporting procedures. Sttegeviolations of this code may be
reported on a confidential, anonymous basis thrahgttompliance hotline. The audit
committee oversees this process, tracks the contpland resolutions and reports the
significant results to the full board of directof$ie code is distributed to all employees and
directors. All employees and directors must sigriednd return a certification stating that they
received, understand and will comply with the code.

Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

In 2006, we adopted a Code of Ethics for Senioakaial Officers. The code is designed to
deter wrongdoing and to promote honest and etbaadiuct, full and accurate disclosure in
periodic reports, and compliance with laws and l&tinns by our senior management who has
financial responsibility. We expect that any suspéwiolations of this code will be reported to
the audit committee. Any waiver of this code malydre authorized by our audit committee
and will be disclosed as required by applicable law

Insider Information, Trading or Dealing and Stock T ipping Policy

We are committed to fair trading for publicly tradeecurities and have established standal
conduct for directors, employees and others whaiolrhaterial or price-sensitive, non-public
information through their work with us. The politsydistributed to all employees. Non-
compliance with the policy may be submitted on afictential, anonymous basis through the
compliance hotline.

Procedures for Complaints and Concerns Regarding Ac counting, Internal
Accounting Controls, and Auditing Matters

In 2006, we established Procedures for ComplaimisGoncerns Regarding Accounting,
Internal Accounting Controls and Auditing Matteosencourage any person who has a
reasonable basis for a complaint or concern reggmiirr financial statement disclosures,
accounting matters, internal accounting controlauwatiting matters to promptly submit a
complaint or concern. Complaints may be submitte@ confidential, anonymous basis
through the compliance hotline. The audit commitieersees this process, immediately
reviews the complaints and oversees all necessaegtigations. The audit committee tracks
the complaints and resolutions and reports thafgignt results to the full board of directors.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We provide what we believe is a competitive totahpensation package to our executive
management team through a combination of baseysalanual bonuses, grants under our long-
term equity incentive compensation plan and broagktd benefits programs.

We place significant emphasis on performance-bassshtive compensation programs. This
Compensation Discussion and Analysis explains oorpensation philosophy, policies and
practices with respect to our chief executive effichief financial officer, and the other three
most highly-compensated executive officers or tamed executive officers.

Overall compensation objectives

Our compensation committee is responsible for éistabg and administering the policies
governing the compensation for our executive ofic®ur executive officers are appointed by
our board of directors.

Our executive compensation programs are designadhieve the following objectives:

> attract and retain talented and experienced exexgjti

> motivate and reward executives whose knowledgéls siid performance are critical to our
success

> align the interests of our executive officers ahdreholders by motivating executive officers
to increase shareholder value and rewarding execafficers when shareholder value
increases

> provide a competitive compensation package in wtotdl compensation is primarily
determined by company and individual results amrdctieation of shareholder valt

> ensure fairness among the executive managementgaecognizing the contributions each
executive makes to our success;

» compensate our executives to manage our busin@ssdbour long-range objectives.

When making decisions on setting compensationdar executive officers, the compensation
committee considers the importance of the posttious, the past salary history of the
executive officer and the contributions to be mgé¢he executive officer to us.

We use the following principles to guide our demis regarding executive compensation:

> provide compensation opportunities targeted at ptarledian levels;

> require performance goals to be achieved or constark price to increase in order for the
majority of the target pay levels to be earr

» offer a comprehensive benefits package to alltimle employees; and

> provide fair and equitable compensation.

Our executive compensation programs

Overall, our executive compensation programs as&gyded to be consistent with the objecti
and principles set forth above. The basic elemeintair executive compensation programs are
base salary, annual bonuses, long-term equity tiveeplan awards, retirement savings
opportunities and health and welfare benefits.

In making compensation determinations, our compg@rsaommittee considers published
survey data to guide compensation decisions anddbesiders the performance of each na
executive officer through a review of annual cogterand individual objectives. In 2008 and
previous years, the
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committee has used the Radford Global Life Sciestasey of approximately 650
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to ertbat our compensation practices are
competitive relative to our industry and our sizséd on number of employees. The survey
provides benchmarking data for base salary, arraralses and long-term equity incentive
awards, and we target the midpoint in the rangejpérted compensation for positions held by
each named executive officer. The committee théerohénes adjustments in each element of
compensation paid to our named executive officaset on a review of annually established
corporate and individual objectives. These annb@daiives help identify achievements made
by our executive officers, and are not relatednyp guantifiable targets for determining
compensation. Increases or decreases in compengatielation to the midpoint of the range
identified in the Radford survey are based on ommensation committee’s subjective review
of each individual’s performance, as well as ofaetors including the committeeassessme
of the executive officer’s past experience, knowgkeduture potential and the scope of his or
her responsibilities.

Corporate objectives against which all of our etieeuwofficers are evaluated involve growth
sales and promotion of our marketed products, gsgin expanding our product pipeline
through development or acquisition activities, exdeament of our corporate infrastructure and
improvement in overall financial performance of ttenpany. Individual objectives for our
executive officers involve more specific progressiieas of personal responsibility and var
individual. The achievement of particular corporatel individual objectives does not
determine compensation levels in a formulaic manner

The compensation committee meets outside the pres#rall of our executive officers,
including the named executive officers, to consajgpropriate compensation for our CEO. For
all other named executive officers, the committeets outside the presence of all executive
officers except our CEO. Mr. Kazimi annually revieeach other named executive officer’s
performance with the committee and makes recomntiemgato the compensation committee
with respect to the appropriate base salary, artmuralses and grants of long-term equity
incentive awards for all executive officers. Bage@art on these recommendations from our
CEO, the compensation committee approves the awongbensation package of our execu
officers other than our CEO. The compensation cdtemalso annually analyzes Mr. Kazimi’
performance and determines his base salary, abonakes and grants of long-term equity
incentive awards based on its assessment of Higrpemce.

Our compensation committee believes that our exaxofficers made positive forward
progress in meeting corporate and individual objestin 2008 and that the progress justified
the resulting increases in base salary, annualdesnand equity awards. In general, with re:
to progressing corporate objectives in 2008, prodates increased substantially and clinical
trials for Caldolor were significantly advanced. \Also strengthened our corporate
infrastructure in 2008 by adding personnel, upgrgdiur communications systems and
expanding our office facilities. Overall financi@rformance for the company also improved
over the fiscal year 2008. With regard to indivitaljectives, factors considered by our
compensation committee in assessing performaneraufutive officers in 2008 are set forth
below:

> AJ. Kazimi. Mr. Kazimi has overseen significant growth inegaues and net income for
our company and has provided steady leadershigivalenging economic environment. He
has continued to position us for future growth tlylo development and expansion of our
product pipeline as well as by adding key persamath as our Senior Vice President of
Commercial Development and a new Product Dire:

> Leo Pavliv. Mr. Pavliv has provided leadership for the clalidevelopment activities of o
company, and under his guidance we completed mical program to support FDA
approval of
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Caldolor. He is also responsible for the continpedormance and expansion of our
manufacturing facilities

> J. William Hix. Mr. Hix, who retired effective July 1, 2009, ptad/a key role in advancing
sales and marketing activities for Acetadote andtKiose. Under his leadership net rever
from Acetadote sales increased from $18.8 millim@007 to $25.4 million in 2008. He was
also responsible for the continued growth and perémce of our sales tean

» Jean W. Marstiller. Ms. Marstiller has assumed additional administeatesponsibility as
the number of our employees continues to incremsd plays a key role in recruiting talented
individuals to our management team. She also coated expansion of our office space and
our communications systems in 20

> David L. Lowrance. Mr. Lowrance led further development of our fingh reporting
infrastructure and negotiated the expansion ofcoedit facility in 2008. Under his
leadership, Cumberland’s financial performance iomed to improve, and our company
remained profitable in 2008. He also oversaw thpdition from an accumulated deficit to
retained earnings on our balance sheet in 2

Base salary and annual bonuses

We review salary ranges and individual salarieofarexecutive officers on an annual basis.
We establish the base salary for each executiveeofhased on consideration of median pay
levels in the market and internal factors, sucthasndividual’s performance and experience,
and the pay of others on the executive team.

The base salaries paid to our named executiveeddfiare set forth below in the Summary
Compensation Table. For the fiscal year ended DbeeRil, 2008, base cash compensation to
our named executive officers was approximately 81,800, with our CEO receiving
approximately $333,000 of that amount. As discusdeale, our compensation committee
determines base salaries for each named execifiverafter a review of published survey
data, which provides us with a general understandfrthe reasonableness and competitive

of compensation for our named executive officers. hWelieve that the base salary paid to our
executive officers during 2008 achieves our exgeutompensation objectives, compares
favorably to market pay levels and is within ougtt of providing a base salary at the market
median.

The awards of discretionary annual bonuses arerdited after consideration of our executive
compensation objectives and are intended to rezegmid reward our named executive offi
with cash payments above base salary based omocess in a given year. Our compensation
committee uses the Radford survey as a benchmagkiidg for bonuses as a percentage of
base salary, and then considers each named exasitidividual performance to determine
bonuses paid in a given year.

In 2009, adjustments to our executive officersat@bmpensation were made based on an
analysis of current market pay levels in the af@etioned Radford survey. In addition to the
market pay levels, factors taken into account ikingaany changes for 2009 included the
contributions made by the executive officer, thefggenance of the executive officer, the role
and responsibilities of the executive officer ahe telationship of the executive officer’s base
pay to the base salary of our other executives.

Long-term equity incentive compensation

We award long-term equity incentive grants to exgewfficers, including the named
executive officers, as part of our total compemsagiackage. These awards are consistent with
our pay for performance principles and align therests of the executive officers with the
interests of our
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shareholders. The compensation committee reviedsemommends to the board of directors
the amount of each award to be granted to eachdharexutive officer and the board of
directors approves each award. The compensatiométea’s goal is to provide awards that
are competitive with the external market. Long-temuity incentive awards granted to
executive officers are determined after considenatif data included in the Radford survey.
The awards generally vest over a period of yeatlsaaa intended to focus our executive
officers on achievement of our long-term strategials. Long-term equity incentive awards to
our executives were made pursuant to our 1999 Sdmtion Plan, or the 1999 Plan, until

April 2007, and thereafter, pursuant to our LongrTéncentive Compensation Plan.

1999 Stock Option Plan

Our 1999 Plan provides for the grant of incentitaek options and nonqualified stock options.
Grants can be made under the 1999 Plan to anyrafroployees, directors and consultants.
The 1999 Plan is administered by a committee daséghby our board of directors. The
committee, in its sole discretion, granted optionder the 1999 Plan to certain persons
rendering services to us. Except as otherwise mi@ted by the committee and stated in the
applicable option agreement, the exercise pricespare of each option granted under the 1999
Plan will be the fair market value per share, dsdd in the 1999 Plan. In general, the fair
market value per share is determined by our bobdirectors.

An option may generally be exercised until theheariniversary of the date that we granted the
option. Option holders who exercise their optioresymay for their shares in cash, check or
such other consideration as is deemed acceptahle.by

As of March 31, 2009, there were outstanding ogtimnpurchase a total of 6,735,398 share
common stock pursuant to the 1999 Plan. The exeprise per share under such options
ranges from $0.50 to $11.00.

Under the 1999 Plan, all executive officers wermnggd incentive option agreements for
common stock at exercise prices equal to fair maritleie at time of issuance, except

Mr. Kazimi’s, whose exercise price is 110% of faiarket value at time of issuance. Each
option agreement has a term of ten years, excepdifoKazimi’s option agreements, which
have five-year terms. All agreements have defiresting schedules.

2007 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan

The purposes of the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Corsgéon Plan, or the 2007 Plan, are:

> to encourage our employees and consultants toracsjioick and other equity-based interests;
and

> to replace the 1999 Plan without impairing the imgsbr exercise of any option granted
thereunder

The 2007 Plan authorizes the issuance of eactedbtlowing incentives:

> incentive stock options (options that meet InteR@Venue Service requirements for special
tax treatment)

> non-statutory stock options (all stock options othan Incentive Stock Options);

> stock appreciation rights (right to receive anyesscin fair market values of shares over a
specified exercise price

» restricted stock (shares subject to vesting, tearesfid forfeiture limitations); and

> performance shares (contingent awards comprisetbok and/or cash and paid only if
specified performance goals are m
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The compensation committee administers the 2007. Flae compensation committee is
authorized to select participants, determine tpe §nd number of awards to be granted,
determine and later amend, subject to certaindiioits, the terms of any award, interpret and
specify the rules and regulations relating to th@72Plan and make all other necessary
determinations.

Employees and consultants other than non-employeetars are eligible to participate. We
may cancel unvested or unpaid incentives for teateith employees and consultants to the
extent permitted by law.

Upon the occurrence of a change of control eventledined in the 2007 Plan, all outstanding
options will automatically become exercisable i, fand restrictions and conditions for other
issued incentives will generally be deemed terneidatr satisfied. In addition, our board of
directors may amend or terminate the 2007 Planjesuto shareholder approval, to comply
with tax or regulatory requirements.

As of March 31, 2009, there were outstanding optimnpurchase a total of 272,417 shares of
common stock pursuant to the 2007 Plan. The exeprise per share of these options ranges
from $13.00 to $14.30.

Under the 2007 Plan, all executive officers wermnggd incentive option agreements for
common stock at exercise prices equal to fair marikeie at time of issuance, except

Mr. Kazimi, whose exercise price is 110% of fairrked value at time of issuance. Each option
agreement has a term of ten years, except for lziri's option agreements which have five-
year terms. All agreements have defined vestingdides

As of March 31, 2009, there were 6,550 shares wésiied restricted stock issued pursuant to
the 2007 Plan, which have defined vesting schedtuilesre were also 9,711 shares of common
stock outstanding as of that date which were isgpuesluant to the 2007 Plan.

Retirement savings opportunity

Effective January 1, 2006, we established a 40dlée) covering all employees meeting certain
minimum service and age requirements. The planvali@l qualifying employees to contribute
the maximum tax-deferred contribution allowed bg thternal Revenue Code. The nidighly
Compensated Employees, or non-HCEs, do not havieiemom or maximum percentage limit
that they can defer. The HCEs, however, are lintibedhat they can defer based on prior
year's testing. Hardship distributions are permittedemwell-defined circumstances.
Beginning January 2008, our Board approved matchingloyee contributions. We intend to
match a portion of the employee contributions omamnual basis. We do not provide profit
sharing at this time; however, the plan is desiggwthat profit sharing can be arranged at any
time.

Health and welfare benefits

All full-time employees, including our named exdeatofficers, may participate in our health
and welfare benefits programs, including medicahtdl and vision care coverage, disability
insurance and life insurance.

Employment agreements, severance benefits and chang e in control provisions

We have entered into employment agreements in 2i9A.J. Kazimi, our Chairman and
CEO; Jean W. Marstiller, our Senior Vice Presidéatministrative Services and Corporate
Secretary; Leo Pavliv, our Vice President, Opereid. William Hix, our Vice President, Se
and Marketing; and David L. Lowrance, our Vice Rteat and CFO. The following is a
summary of the material provisions of those empleghagreements.
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The employment agreements provide for an annua salary of $366,000 for Mr. Kazimi,
$204,500 for Ms. Marstiller, $246,000 for Mr. Payl$212,000 for Mr. Hix, and $186,400 for
Mr. Lowrance. Effective July 1, 2009, Mr. Hix retd and Mr. Pavliv was named Senior Vice
President Operations and entered into an amendvhéig employment agreement, resulting
a $20,000 increase in annual base salary. The gmplat agreements provide that the
individuals may be eligible for any bonus prograimah has been approved by our board of
directors. Any such bonus is discretionary and béllsubject to the terms of the bonus
program, the terms of which may be modified froraryto-year in the sole discretion of our
board of directors. During the period of employmender these agreements, each of our
executives will be entitled to additional benefitg;luding eligibility to participate in any
company-wide employee benefits programs approveslibyoard of directors and
reimbursement of reasonable expenses.

Each executive’s employment is at-will and maydreninated by us at any time, with or
without notice and with or without cause. Similafach executive may terminate his or her
employment with us at any time, with or withoutinet The employment agreements do not
provide for any severance payments in the evengitq@oyment is terminated for cause nor
any severance benefits in the event the employméatminated as a result of his or her death
or permanent disability.

The employment agreements also include non-congetiton-solicitation and nondisclosure
covenants on the part of the executives. Duringehma of each executive’s employment with
us and for one year after the executive ceases @miployed by us, the employment
agreements provide that he or she may not comp#ieowr business in any manner, unless
executive discloses all facts to our board of doecand receives a release allowing him or her
to engage in a specific activity. Pursuant to timpleyment agreements, the executives also
agree for a period of one year after the executdases to be employed by us, he or she wi
solicit business related to the development orssaflgpharmaceuticals products from any er
organization or person which is contracted withwisich has been doing business with us, or a
firm which the executive knew we were going to Ggblbusiness from at the time the executive
ceased to be employed. Also, the executives magaiiit our employees. The employment
agreements also impose obligations regarding cenfidl information and state that any
discoveries or improvements that are conceiveceldped or otherwise made by the
executives, or with others, are deemed our solpgity. The employment agreements do not
contain any termination or change in control primris.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table sets forth information, for tfiscal years ended December 31, 2006, 2007
and 2008, regarding the aggregate compensatioraileég@our named executive officers:

Change in

Pension

Value and

Nonqualified

Deferred

Stock Option Compensation All Other
Name and Salary Bonus Awards Awards Earnings Compensation Total
Principal Position Year $) $) ($) $) (%) %) ($)
A.J. Kazimi 200¢ 333,00( 125,00( — 55,42t — — 513,42!
Chairman and CE( 2007 303,39( 106,00( — 20,82t — — 430,21!
200€ 293,13( 96,25t — 20,82t — — 410,21(
Leo Pavliv 200¢ 230,000 55,00( — 35,74t — — 320,74!
V.P., Operation: 2007 211,00 50,00( — 20,67 — — 281,67(
200€ 192,50 42,00( — — — — 234,50(
J. William Hix 200¢ 198,00( 55,00( —  32,30( — — 285,30(
V.P., Sales &

Marketing 2007 176,48: 50,00( — 17,22 — — 243,70¢
200€ 137,80( 25,00( — — — — 162,80(
Jean W. Marstille 200¢ 187,000 55,00( — 50,92t — — 292,92!
Senior V.P. an( 2007 170,00( 50,00( —  35,85( — — 255,85(
Corporate Secretar  200€ 135,16( 40,00( — 15,18( — — 190,34(
David L. Lowrance 200¢ 172,60( 45,00( — 30,62¢ — — 248,22!
V.P. and CFC 2007 158,40( 40,00( — 17,22t — — 215,62!
200€ 126,500 28,50( — — — — 155,00(

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS TABLE

The following table sets forth information regamligrants of compensatory awards we paid to
our named executive officers during the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2008:

All Other All Other

Stock Option
Awards: Awards: Grant Date
Number Number of Exercise or Fair Value
of Shares Securities Base Price of Stock
of Stock Underlying of Option and Option
or Units Options Awards Awards
Name Grant Date #) (#) ($/sh) _®
A.J. Kazimi 7/31/200¢ — 30,00( 14.3C 138,30(
Leo Pavliv 7/22/200i — 9,00( 13.0C 60,30(
J. William Hix 7/31/200i — 9,00( 13.0C 60,30(
Jean W. Marstille 7/31/200¢ — 9,00( 13.0C 60,30(
David L. Lowrance 7/31/200¢ — 8,00( 13.0C 53,60(

Our executive compensation policies and practigessuant to which the compensation set
forth in the Summary Compensation Table and thetSraf Plan-Based Awards Table was
paid or awarded, are described above under, “Cosgpiem Discussion and Analysis.” A
summary of certain material terms of our compensagtians and arrangements is set forth
above under “Compensation Discussion and AnalysisiyplByment Agreements, Severance
Benefits and Change in Control Provisions.”
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS TABLE

The following table sets forth information regaglimnvested stock and unexercised option
awards held by our named executive officers asesfedmber 31, 2008:

Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan

Incentive  Awards:
Plan Market or

Option Awards Awards: Payout
Equity Number of  Value of
Incentive Market Unearned Unearned
Plan Number of  Value of Shares, Shares,
Awards: Shares or Shares or Units or Units or
Number of Number of Number of Units of Units of Other Other
Securities Securities Securities Stock Stock Rights Rights
Underlying Underlying Underlying That That That That
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Have Have Have Have
Options(#) Options(#) Unearned Exercise Expiration Not Not Not Not
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Options(#)  Price($) Date Vested(#) Vested($) Vested(#) Vested($)
AJ. Kazimi® 585,00( — — 0.11 01/23/0¢ — — — —
4,097,091 — 0.5E 09/15/0¢
6,93( — 1.62 12/18/1:
3,40( — 6.6C 04/01/0¢
53,00( — 6.6C 01/15/1(
15,00( 5,00( 9.9C 06/30/1:
7,50(C 22,50( 14.3C 07/31/1%
Leo Pavliv 5,00( — — 0.5C 12/27/0¢ — — — —
18,00( — 0.9 05/15/1(
3,00( — 1.6% 09/30/1:
160,00( — 3.5C 04/14/1%
— 40,00( 6.0C 01/15/1t
6,00( 6,00( 11.0C 02/02/1°
2,25( 6,75( 13.0C 07/22/1¢
J. William Hix ® 58,00( — — 6.0C 05/03/1: — — — —
5,00( 5,00(C 11.0C 02/02/1°
2,25( 6,75( 13.0C 07/31/1¢
Jean W. Marstiller
@ 145,68( — — 0.1C 01/23/0¢ — — — —
280,00( — 0.5C 09/15/0¢
9,23( — 1.62 01/04/1:
40C — 3.5C 01/31/1¢
10,00( — 6.0C 04/01/1«
15,00( — 6.0C 01/15/1t
8,25( 2,75(C 9.0C 06/30/1¢
6,00( 6,00( 11.0C 02/02/1°
2,25( 6,75( 13.0C 07/31/1¢
David L. Lowrance
®) 90,00( — — 3.5C 01/30/1: — — — —
4,000 — 6.0C 04/01/1«
— 25,00( 6.0C 01/15/1*
5,00( 5,000 11.0C 02/02/1°
2,00¢ 6,00(C 13.0C 07/31/0¢
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(1)A.J. Kazimi:
585,000 Options granted on January 23, 1999; vestecdiately; and exercised in full in January 2009
Mr. Kazimi used a nethare settlement that provided for him to use 2Bl ghares acquired upon exercise to s
the minimum statutory tax withholding requiremeatsl to receive a net total of 380,755 shares tfier
withholding. We agreed to purchase up to $100,60mmon stock acquired by Mr. Kazimi upon exerafe
these options during the first quarter of 2010dnreection with settlement of the remaining taxiliibs associated
with the exercise.
4,097,090 Option granted on September 15, 199%d&X% equally each December 31 over 5 year period
1999-2003. Mr. Kazimi has submitted notice to e thpon the closing of this offering, he will exiseoptions to
purchase 4,097,090 shares. In connection withetkescise, we expect Mr. Kazimi to use a net-shatigesnent that
will provide for him to use 1,445,074 shares aceghiupon exercise to satisfy the minimum statutagy t
withholding requirements. Mr. Kazimi will use 138%5shares to pay the exercise price of approximatel
$2.3 million.
6,930 Options granted on December 18, 2001; vestetkdiately.
3,400 Options granted on April 1, 2004; vested idiaely.
53,000 Options granted on January 15, 2005; 10@fions or 20% vested immediately; 20% more vestpdlly
each December 31 over 4 year period 2005-2008 .
20,000 Options granted on June 30, 2006; 25% vesteld December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008; the remgeRti%
vests December 31, 2009
30,000 Options granted on July 31, 2008; 25% veSwzember 31, 2008; the remainder will vest 25%aégeact
December 31 over 3 year period 2-2011.

(2)Leo Pavliv:
5,000 Options granted on December 27, 1999; véstetbdiately.
18,000 Options granted on May 15, 2000; vested idiately.
3,000 Options granted on September 30, 2001; vésteediately.
160,000 Options granted on April 14, 2003; 25% egstach December 31 over the 4 year period 2008-200
40,000 Options granted on January 15, 2005; aibogtwill vest on December 31, 2009.
12,000 Options granted on February 2, 2007; 3,&30ed December 31, 2007 and 2008; 3,000 will vesh e
December 31, 2009 and 2010.
9,000 Options granted on July 22, 2008; 25% veBrember 31, 2008; remainder vests 25% equally each
December 31 over 3 year period 2-2011.

(3)J. William Hix:
58,000 Options granted on May 3, 2004; 10,000 deistenediately; 16,000 options vested each Decerdber
2004, 2005 and 2006.
10,000 Options granted on February 2, 2007; 2,%3%ed on December 31, 2007 and 2008; 1,250 ventzf a
separation agreement dated June 24, 2009.
9,000 Options granted July 31, 2008; 25% vesteceder 31, 2008; 1,125 vested under a separati@@agnt
dated June 24, 200

(4)Jean W. Marstiller:
145,680 Options granted on January 23, 1999; vestetediately. We agreed to purchase up to $530;000
common stock acquired by Ms. Marstiller upon exaaf these options during the first quarter of®@Bil
connection with settlement of the tax liabilitiessaciated with the exercise.
280,000 Options granted on September 15, 19990B0;8sted immediately; 46,000 vested each DeceBiher
1999-2003. Ms. Marstiller has submitted notice tian the closing of this offering, she will exeeioptions to
purchase 280,000 shares. Ms. Marstiller will u38,shares to pay the exercise price of approxignate
$0.1 million. In connection with this exercise, agreed to purchase up to approximately $1.3 milliocommon
stock during the first quarter of 2010 in connettwith settlement of her tax liabilities associavéth the exercise.
9,230 Options granted on January 4, 2002; vestettiliately.
400 Options granted on January 31, 2003; vestectuiiately.
10,000 Options granted on April 1, 2004; vested edrately.
15,000 Options granted on January 15, 2005; 3,886:d immediately; 3,000 vested each December(®5, 2
2006, 2007 and 2008.
11,000 Options granted on June 30, 2006; 2,75@s&esich December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008; 2,750esi
December 31, 2009.
12,000 Options granted on February 2, 2007; 3,@&30ed December 31, 2007 and 2008; 3,000 will et e
December 31, 2009 and 2010.
9,000 Options granted July 31, 2008; 25% vesteceBbder 31, 2008; remainder vests 25% equally each
December 31 over 3 year period 2-2011.
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(5)David L. Lowrance:
90,000 Options granted on January 30, 2003; 10486td immediately; 20,000 options vested each iDbee 31,
2003-2006.
4,000 Options granted on April 1, 2004; vested irdiately.
25,000 Options granted on January 15, 2005; albogtwill vest on December 31, 2009.
10,000 Options granted on February 2, 2007; 2,%3%ed on December 31, 2007 and 2008; 2,500 witleash
December 31, 2009 and 2010.
8,000 Options granted July 31, 2008; 25% vesteceBbder 31, 2008; remainder vests 25% equally each
December 31 over 3 year period 2-2011.

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table sets forth information regamglithe exercise and vesting of stock and
option awards held by our named executive officensng the fiscal year ended December 31,

2008:
Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of

Shares Acquired Value Realized Shares Acquired Value Realized
Name on Exercise(#) on Exercise($) on Vesting(#)  on Vesting($)
A.J. Kazimi 6,00( 42,90( — —
Leo Pavliv — — — —
J. William Hix — — — —

Jean W. Marstille — — _ _
David L. Lowrance — — — _

PENSION BENEFITS TABLE

We do not have any plan that provides for paymentsher benefits at, following, or in
connection with retirement.

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION TABLE

We do not have any plan that provides for the defef compensation on a basis that is no
qualified.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table sets forth information regamglitne aggregate compensation we paid to the
members of our board of directors during the fisesr ended December 31, 2008:

Change in

Pension Value

Fees and

Earned or Non-Equity ~ Nonqualified

Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan Deferred All Other

Cash Awards Awards Compensation Compensation Compensation Total
Name ($) ($) ($) (%) Earnings ($) ($)
Martin E. Cearna@® 80,00( — — — — — 80,00(
Dr. Robert G. Edward®  80,00( — — — — 80,00(
Dr. Lawrence W. Gree® 35,007 44,99: — — — — 80,00(
Thomas R. Lawrenc® 80,00( — — — — 80,00(

(1) For service as a director in 2008, Mr. Cearnalivezkfees equal to $80,000, paid fully in ce
(2) For service as a director in 2008, Dr. Edwardsiveckfees equal to $80,000, paid fully in ce

(3)For service as a director in 2008, Dr. Greer reztifiees equal to $80,000, paid as follows: $35¢@3h, and shar
of our common stock valued at $44,9

(4)For service as a director in 2008, Mr. Lawrencenezd fees equal to $80,000, paid fully in c¢
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Director compensation

Compensation to each of the four directors listethe preceding table for service on the board
of directors including board committee respondilesi for 2009 will consist of a total fee in the
amount of $83,500. All fees will be paid in a comdtion of cash and equity, as we and each
director shall agree. Cash fees will be accruedpaid on either a monthly or quarterly basis.
Directors will not receive separate compensatigraftendance at board meetings, board
committee meetings or other company board-relatédiges. Outside directors will be
reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary bissagmnses incurred in the performance of
their service on the board of directors.

Long-term equity incentive awards to our directeese made pursuant to the 1999 Plan until
April 2007, and thereafter, pursuant to the 200/e€brs’ Compensation Plan, or the
Directors’ Plan.

The purposes of the Directors’ Plan are:

> to strengthen our ability to attract, motivate, aethin qualified independent directors; and

> to replace the 1999 Plan without impairing the wgsbr exercise of any option granted to
any director thereunde

The Directors’ Plan authorizes the issuance toemopioyee directors of each of the following
types of awards:

> options (all options to be issued under the DinettBlan will not meet IRS requirements for
special tax treatment and therefore are-qualified options)

> restricted stock grants (shares subject to vamiesisictions and conditions as determined by
our compensation committee); a

> stock grants (award of shares or our common stattkfull and unrestricted ownership
rights).

The compensation committee of our board of directall administer the Directors’ Plan, if it
is adopted. In the event of a change of contrauwfcompany (as defined in the Directors’
Plan), all outstanding options would automatichicome exercisable in full, and restrictions
and conditions for other issued awards shall gdigdya deemed terminated or satisfied. Our
board of directors may amend or terminate the DarstPlan, subject to shareholder approval
if necessary, to comply with tax or regulatory regoents.

As of March 31, 2009, there were 3,461 shares wincon stock outstanding which were iss
pursuant to the Directors’ Plan.

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

Our charter and bylaws provide for indemnificatafrour directors to the fullest extent
permitted by the Tennessee Business Corporationadamended from time to time. Our
directors shall not be liable to us or our sharéérd for monetary damages for breach of their
fiduciary duty of care. The Tennessee Business @atjpn Act provides that a Tennessee
corporation may indemnify its directors and offE@gainst expenses, judgments, fines and
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonablyrred by them in connection with any
proceeding, whether criminal or civil, administvatior investigative if, in connection with the
matter in issue, the individual's conduct was iogdaith, and the individual reasonably
believed: in the case of conduct in the individsalfficial capacity with the corporation, that
the individual's conduct was in its best interestd in all other cases, that the individual's
behavior was at least not opposed to its bestdsteand in the case of a criminal proceeding,
the individual had no reason to believe the indigits conduct was unlawful. In addition, we
have entered into indemnification agreements withdirectors. These provisions and
agreements
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may have the practical effect in certain casedinfigating the ability of our shareholders to
collect monetary damages from directors. We beltbaéthese contractual agreements and the
provisions in our charter and bylaws are necedsaajtract and retain qualified persons as
directors.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

We maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurancéiqyothat provides coverage to our directors
and officers relating to certain potential liabéi. The directors’ and officersisurance policy
provided by The Hartford with a coverage amountmto $3,000,000, covers “wrongful act”
or “securities” claims.
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Other than compensation agreements and other amsargs which are described in
“Compensation” and the transactions described betowee January 1, 2006, there has not
been, and there is not currently proposed, angéeion or series of similar transactions to
which we were or will be a party in which the ambinvolved exceeded or will exceed
$120,000 and in which any related party, including director, executive officer, holder of
five percent or more of any class of our capitatktor any member of their immediate fami
had or will have a direct or indirect material irgst.

All of the transactions set forth below were apgaby a majority of the board of directors,
including a majority of any independent and disies¢ed members of the board of directors.
We believe that all of the transactions set fodtoty had terms no less favorable to us than we
could have obtained from unaffiliated third partigsconnection with this offering, we have
adopted a written policy which requires all futtn@nsactions between us and any related
persons (as defined in Item 404 of Regulation approved in advance by our audit
committee.

Board members were granted a total of 3,461, 11208624,818 shares of common stock in
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, for servicedeead as directors and consultants. The
amounts recorded for such services were approxiynd4,000, $121,000, and $249,000, in
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In 2008, a boshber was granted an option to purchase
18,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$&3.00 per share. No options were is

to board members in 2007 or 2006.

In connection with our $5 million Share RepurchBsegram offered in December 2008 to all
of our shareholders and allocated on a pro rata baparticipating shareholders, certain
executive officers, directors and holders of fieeqent or more of any class of our capital s
received an aggregate of $1,733,485 in paymernh#redemption of some of their shares,
including payments of $547,248 to Mr. and Mrs. énKeth Hazen, $634,296 to A.J. Kazimi
and $161,876 to Jean W. Marstiller.

In January 2009, A.J. Kazimi exercised optionsurpase 585,000 shares of common stock
with an exercise price of $0.11, or $64,350 indggregate, per share and Jean W. Marstiller
exercised options to purchase 145,680 shares afmoonstock with an exercise price of $0.10
per share, or $14,568 in the aggregate. The aggregarcise price of $78,910 was satisfiec
the option holders with 6,070 shares, resultingdrcash proceeds to us. Options were
exercised using a net-share settlement featurgtbhaided for Mr. Kazimi to use

204,245 shares acquired upon exercise to settimithienum statutory tax withholding
requirements of approximately $2.7 million. In cention with these exercises, we agreed to
repurchase during the first quarter of 2010 atthies fair market value up to $0.1 million in
common stock from Mr. Kazimi, acquired upon exezcend approximately $0.5 million in
common stock from Ms. Marstiller, acquired uponreig®, to provide for the settlement of the
remaining tax liabilities associated with the retpwe exercises.

In July 2009, we entered into an amended debt agreethat replaced the existing $5.0 mil
term debt and $7.5 million revolving credit fagilivith an $18.0 million term debt and a

$4.0 million revolving credit facility from Bank dAmerica. In the third quarter of 2009, we
expect Mr. Kazimi will exercise options to purch&s@97,090 shares of common stock witt
exercise price of $0.55 per share, or $2.3 millaomd that Ms. Marstiller will exercise options
to purchase 280,000 shares of common stock wittxarcise price of $0.50 per share, or
$140,000 (the Option Transaction). Mr. Kazimi and. Marstiller will tender 132,553 and
8,235 shares to satisfy their respective aggregatien exercise prices, resulting in no cash
proceeds to us. We expect Mr. Kazimi will exerdisese options using a net-share settlement
feature that will enable Mr. Kazimi to use shareguared upon exercise to settle the minimum
statutory tax withholding requirements of approxietya$24.6 million. Mr. Kazimi would use
1,445,074 shares acquired upon exercise to sSe#lminimum
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statutory tax withholding requirements. In connattivith the expected option exercises by
Ms. Marstiller, we expect to repurchase approxifyebé.3 million in common stock from

Ms. Marstiller during the first quarter of 2010govide for the settlement of the tax liabilities
associated with those exercises. This would réstlte repurchase of 76,094 shares based on
the public offering price listed on the cover abtprospectus. We intend to use the proceeds
from the Bank of America term loan to fund in pidag minimum statutory tax withholding
requirements. In connection with the exercise esthoptions and the related minimum
statutory tax withholding, we expect to generatieferred tax asset of approximately

$25.5 million to offset future tax liabilities.

In connection with this offering, we have adoptedrdten policy, the Policy and Procedures
with Respect to Related Person Transactions. Candbaf directors has determined that our
audit committee is best suited to review and appwifuture related person transactions. The
Policy and Procedures with Respect to Related Réfsansactions covers a transaction,
arrangement, or relationship in which we or anguf subsidiaries is or will be a participant
and the amount involved exceeds $120,000 per gedrin which any related person has or
will have a direct or indirect interest. The Polexyd Procedures with Respect to Related P
Transactions defines a related person as:

> any person who is, or at any time since the begmof our last fiscal year was, a director or
executive officer of ours or a nominee to becond@ector of ours

> any person who is known to be the beneficial ovafenore than 5% of any class of our
voting securities

> any immediate family member of any of the foreggimgsons; and

> any firm, corporation or other entity in which aofythe foregoing persons is employed or
partner or principal or in a similar position onimich such person has a 5% or greater
beneficial ownership interes

No member of our audit committee shall review qurape a related person transactiol

which he or an immediate family member of his is tblated person. The audit committee ¢
approve only those related person transactionsatiean, or are not inconsistent with, the best
interests of us and our shareholders.
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The following table sets forth information knownus with respect to beneficial ownership of
shares of our common stock as of July 1, 2009)wa@h of our directors, (ii) each of our
named executive officers; (iii) all of our directaand executive officers as a group; and

(iv) each person or group of affiliated personswndao us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or
more of our outstanding common stock.

Beneficial ownership and percentage ownership aterchined in accordance with the rules of
the SEC. This information does not necessarilycatdi beneficial ownership for any other
purpose. In computing the number of shares beadifi@wned by a person and the percentage
ownership of that person, shares of common stodelying options or warrants held by that
person that are currently exercisable or will bee@xrercisable within 60 days of July 1, 2009
are deemed outstanding and are included in the euoflshares beneficially owned, while the
shares are not deemed outstanding for purposeswuting percentage ownership of any
other person. To our knowledge, except as indicatdioe footnotes to this table and subject to
community property laws where applicable, the pesstamed in the table have sole voting
investment power with respect to all shares ofammmon stock shown as beneficially owned
by them.

As of July 1, 2009, there were 259 holders of réairour common stock and 42 holders of
record of preferred stock, which will automaticatly converted into common stock at the
completion of this offering. For purposes of caftilg amounts beneficially owned by a
shareholder before the offering, the number ofeshdeemed issued and outstanding was
10,465,693 shares of common stock as of July 19.2D8e percentage of beneficial ownership
after this offering is based on 17,091,191 shafe®mmon stock. For purposes of calculating
the percentage beneficially owned after the offgrthe number of shares deemed outstanding
includes all shares deemed to be outstanding b#fereffering, all shares into which our
outstanding shares of preferred stock will be coieeeas a result of the offering and all shares
being sold in the offering.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address for eardopdisted is c/o Cumberland
Pharmaceuticals Inc., 2525 West End Ave., Suite BB8hville, Tennessee 37203.
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Number of Percentage of Shares

Shares Beneficially Owned

Beneficially Before After
Executive officers and directors Owned Offering Offering
A.J. Kazimi@ 7,067,621 48.2¢% 33.2%
Thomas R. Lawrenc(@ 242 57t 2.31% 1.472%
Robert G. Edward® 432,76:¢ 4.08% 2.51%
Lawrence W. Gree® 814,64( 7.65% 4.7 %
Martin E. Cearna® 119,57. 1.14% *
Leo Pavliv®) 194,25( 1.82% 1.12%
Jean W. Marstille(” 640,72 5.9%% 3.68%
Gordon R. Bernar(®) 110,20! 1.05% @
David L. Lowrance®) 101,00 * *

Directors and executive officers as a group (9 qes} 9,723,35. 62.2% 43.7%%

5% Shareholders

Douglas J. Marchai(10) 700,000  6.6%% 4.1(%
Mr. and Mrs. J. Kenneth Haz(11)(12) 557,90« 5.3% 3.2¢%
S.C.0.U.T. Healthcare Fund, L.(13)(14) 696,36¢ 6.6(% 4.05%

* Less than 1.0% of the outstanding common st

(1) Includes 4,179,520 shares that Mr. Kazimi hasitie to acquire upon the exercise of outstanding
stock options. Mr. Kazimi has provided notice thpon the closing of this offering, he will exercise
options to purchase 4,097,090 shares. In connegiibrthis exercise, we expect Mr. Kazimi to us
net-share settlement that will provide for him seu.,445,074 shares acquired upon exercise to
satisfy the minimum statutory tax withholding reguments. Mr. Kazimi will use 132,553 shares to
pay the exercise price of approximately $2.3 mill

(2) Includes 38,466 shares Mr. Lawrence has the ri@ghtguire upon exercise of outstanding stock
options.

(3) Includes 132,566 shares Dr. Edwards has the mghtdquire upon exercise of outstanding stock
options.

(4) Includes (i) 613,248 shares owned of record by@.\Q.T., a limited partnership with respect to
which Dr. Greer is the President and majority shalder of the general partner, (ii) 43,120 shares
S.C.0.U.T. has the right to acquire upon exercismutstanding stock options, (iii) 40,000 shares
S.C.0.U.T. has the right to acquire immediatelyrfres pursuant to a warrant, and (iv) 52,000 shares
Dr. Greer has the right to acquire immediately uprercise of outstanding stock optio

(5) Includes (i) 26,400 shares Mr. Cearnal has the tmhcquire upon exercise of outstanding s
options and (ii) 15,400 shares Mr. Cearnal willsige upon conversion of his preferred stc

(6) Includes 194,250 shares Mr. Pavliv has the riglaiciquire upon exercise of outstanding stock
options.

(7) Includes 331,130 shares Ms. Marstiller has thet tiglacquire upon exercise of outstanding stock
options. Ms. Marstiller has provided notice thabmphe closing of this offering, she will exercise
options to purchase 280,000 shares. Ms. Marsiilikuse 8,235 shares to pay the exercise price of
approximately $0.1 million. In connection with th@gercise, we agreed to purchase approximately
$1.3 million in common stock during the first quearbf 2010 in connection with settlement of the
liabilities associated with the exerci:

(8) Includes 5,179 shares Dr. Bernard has the righttpire upon exercise of outstanding stock opti
(9) Includes 101,000 shares Mr. Lowrance has the t@htquire upon exercise of outstanding stock
options.
(10) The address for Mr. Marchant is 60 Germantown C&uite 220, Cordova, Tennessee 38|

(11) The address for Mr. and Mrs. J. Kenneth Hazen Gs26 Andrews Fairway, Memphis, Tennessee
38111.

(12) The number of shares reflected above as benefidiald by Mr. and Mrs. J. Kenneth Hazen are |
jointly.

(13) Includes (i) 43,120 shares S.C.O.U.T. has the tmghtquire upon exercise of outstanding stock
options, and (ii) 40,000 shares S.C.0.U.T. hasitire to acquire immediately from us pursuant to a
warrant.

(14) The address for S.C.0.U.T. is 2200 Woodcrest Paaie 309, Birmingham, Alabama 352
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Description of capital stock
GENERAL

Our authorized capital stock consists of one huwhdnélion shares of common stock, no par
value, three million shares of Series A prefertedls no par value, and twenty million shares
of undesignated preferred stock, no par value.

COMMON STOCK

As of March 31, 2009, 10,465,693 shares of comnbackswvere issued and outstanding (wt
does not include 7,207,247 shares of common s&stkable upon exercise of outstanding
options or warrants to purchase common stock, 6s8ades of unvested restricted stock, and
1,625,498 shares of common stock issuable uponecsion of all outstanding shares of our
preferred stock). We plan to issue additional stmoftons to our directors, employees and
consultants, and we may issue shares of commok gisellers of rights to certain
pharmaceutical products. Giving effect to the 418,000,000 shares offered hereby and the
conversion of all outstanding shares of our prefistock, there would be 17,091,191 share
common stock outstanding following this offering.

The holders of shares of common stock are entitiezhe vote per share on any matter that
comes before the shareholders. Cumulative votimgtsuthorized. Holders of shares of
common stock do not have preemptive rights to psetsecurities that we may subsequently
issue. Subject to preferences that may be applidatdny outstanding preferred stock, the
holders of common stock are entitled to receivdslicidends as may be declared by our b
of directors out of funds legally available for pagnt as dividends. However, we do not
anticipate paying any dividends in the foresee8lilgre to holders of our common stock. In
event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding apour affairs, the holders of outstanding
shares will be entitled to share pro rata accortiritpeir respective interests in our assets and
funds remaining after payment of all of our delstd ather liabilities and the liquidation
preference of any outstanding preferred stockofthe shares of common stock currently
outstanding are fully paid and nonassessable.

On July 6, 2007, the Board of Directors declar@dfar-1 stock split of our company’s

common stock effective on such date. All applicatdenmon stock share and per share
amounts have been retroactively adjusted in themapanying consolidated financial
statements and condensed consolidated financtehs¢ats for such stock split. In accordance
with the anti-dilution provisions of the respectagreements, the share and per share amounts
associated with our company’s stock option gramgsrants and preferred stock conversion
rights reflected in the accompanying consolidatedrfcial statements and condensed
consolidated financial statements have also bepstad to reflect the effects of the stock s

PREFERRED STOCK

Our board of directors is authorized, without apt@f our shareholders, to provide for the
issuance of shares of preferred stock in one oerseries, to establish the number of shares in
each series, and to fix the designations, poweefegences, and rights of each such series and
the qualifications, limitations, or restrictionsm@dng the specific matters that may be
determined by our board are:

> the designation of each series;
> the number of shares of each series;
> the rights in respect of dividends, if any;

> whether dividends, if any, shall be cumulative onstumulative;

103




Table of Contents

Description of capital stock

> the terms of redemption, repurchase obligatiorirddsg fund, if any;

> the rights in the event of any voluntary or invdlny liquidation, dissolution or winding up
of our affairs;

> rights and terms of conversion, if any;

> restrictions on the creation of indebtedness, ¥ an

> restrictions on the issuance of additional prefés®@ck or other capital stock, if any;

» restrictions on the payment of dividends on sheagking junior to the preferred stock; and
» voting rights, if any.

Upon completion of this offering, no shares of pre¢d stock will be outstanding and we have
no current plans to issue preferred stock. Theaissel of shares of preferred stock, or the
issuance of rights to purchase preferred stoclddmel used to discourage an unsolicited
acquisition proposal. For example, a business coatioin could be impeded by the issuance of
a series of preferred stock containing class vatiglgts that would enable the holder or holders
of such series to block any such transaction. Aétvely, a business combination could be
facilitated by the issuance of a series of pretesteck having sufficient voting rights to
provide a required percentage vote of our sharensldn addition, under some circumstances,
the issuance of preferred stock could adversebcathe voting power and other rights of the
holders of common stock. Although prior to issuamny series of preferred stock our board is
required to make a determination as to whetheisthence is in the best interests of our
shareholders, our board could act in a mannenthatd discourage an acquisition attempt or
other transaction that some, or a majority, ofshareholders might believe to be in their best
interests or in which our shareholders might rez@iyremium for their stock over prevailing
market prices of such stock. Our board of directlorss not at present intend to seek
shareholder approval prior to any issuance of otlre@authorized preferred stock, unless
otherwise required by law or applicable stock exggarequirements.

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

As of March 31, 2009, in addition to outstandingiaps to acquire 7,007,815 shares of
common stock issued pursuant to our 1999 Plan an@@07 Plan, we have issued options to
purchase 284,902 shares of our common stock inemiom with two debt financing rounds in
2001 and 2003 of which 199,432 remain outstandihgse options have ten-year terms with
exercise prices of $1.63 and $6.00 per share, ctégply. Total options outstanding as of
March 31, 2009 have an average exercise price.08%zr share. We have also issued
warrants to purchase 65,000 shares of our comnogk st a price of $6.00 per share to Bank
of America and to S.C.0.U.T., a consulting and strreent company in which Dr. Lawrence
W. Greer, one of our directors, is a principal, aradrants to purchase 3,958 shares of our
common stock at a price of $9.00 per share to Bdrkmerica. We have received notice that,
prior to this offering, certain shareholders wikecise options to purchase 4,377,090 shares of
common stock.

ANTI-TAKEOVER EFFECTS OF TENNESSEE LAW AND PROVISIO NS OF OUR
CHARTER AND BYLAWS

The Tennessee Business Combination Act, the Teeadsgestor Protection Act, the
Tennessee Greenmail Act and the Tennessee Cohtrad Acquisition Act provide certain
anti-takeover protections for Tennessee corporstion
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The Tennessee Business Combination Act

The Tennessee Business Combination Act, or TBCAegws all Tennessee corporations. It
imposes a five-year standstill on transactions siscimergers, share exchanges, sales of assets,
liquidations and other interested party transastioetween Tennessee corporations and
“interested shareholders” and their associategfiintes, unless the business combination is
approved by the board of directors before the @stexd shareholder goes above the 10%
ownership threshold. Thereafter, the transactitreerequires a two-thirds vote of the
shareholders other than the interested sharehotdeatisfaction of certain fair price standards.

The TBCA also provides for additional exculpatorgtection for the board of directors in
resisting mergers, exchanges and tender offer§ émessee corporation’s charter specifically
opts-in to such provisions. A Tennessee corporaticimarter may specifically authorize the
members of a board of directors, in the exercighaif judgment, to give due consideration to
factors other than price and to consider whethraeeger, exchange, tender offer or significant
disposition of assets would adversely affect tippa@tion’s employees, customers, suppliers,
the communities in which the corporation operatesny other relevant factor in the exercise
of their fiduciary duty to the shareholders.

Our charter expressly opts-in and provides for gpation of the board of directors to the full
extent permitted under the TBCA. The opt-in willveahe effect of protecting us from
unwanted takeover bids, because the board of dieid permitted by the charter to take into
account all relevant factors in performing its dalythorized duties and acting in good faith
in our best interests.

The Tennessee Investor Protection Act

The Tennessee Investor Protection Act, or TIPAggaly requires the registration, or an
exemption from registration, before a person caker@atender offer for shares of a Tennessee
corporation which, if successful, will result iretbfferor beneficially owning more than 10%
any class of shares. Registration requires thafilvith the Tennessee Commissioner of
Commerce and Insurance of a registration stateraertpy of which must be sent to the target
company, and the public disclosure of the mateéeiahs of the proposed offer. Additional
requirements are imposed under that act if theaffieeneficially owns 5% or more of any
class of equity securities of the target company, & which was purchased within one year
prior to the proposed takeover offer. TIPA alsohiods fraudulent and deceptive practices in
connection with takeover offers, and provides reieetbr violations.

TIPA does not apply to an offer involving a votehmlders of equity securities of the offeree
company, pursuant to its charter, on a share eyehawonsolidation or sale of corporate assets
in consideration of the issuance of securitiesnoftiaer corporation, or on a sale of its secur

in exchange for cash or securities of another catpm. Also exempt from TIPA are tender
offers which are open on substantially equal tetoredl shareholders, are recommended by the
board of directors of the target company, and ielfull disclosure of all terms.

The Tennessee Greenmail Act

The Tennessee Greenmail Act, or TGA, prohibitsramfpurchasing or agreeing to purchase
any of our securities, at a price higher thanrzarket value, from a holder of 3% or more of
any class of its securities who has beneficiallyedrthe securities for less than two years. We
can, however, make this purchase if the majoritthefoutstanding shares of each class of
voting stock issued by us approves the purchagera make an offer of at least equal value
per share to all holders of shares of the sames dfasecurities as those held by the prospective
seller.
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The Tennessee Control Share Acquisition Act

Sections 48-103-301 through 48-103-312 of the Tesee Control Share Acquisition Act, or
TCSA, limit the voting rights of shares owned bgeason above certain percentage thresholds,
unless the non-interested shareholders of the catipn approve the acquisition above the
designated threshold. However, the TCSA only appbiecorporations whose charter or byl:
contain an express declaration that control shegaisitions are to be governed by the TCSA.
In addition, the charter or bylaws must specificaltovide for the redemption of control shares
or appraisal rights for dissenting shareholdems dontrol share transaction.

Our charter makes all of the express declaratieaessary to avail us of the full protection
under the TCSA. The provisions described abovehaile the general effect of discouraging,
or rendering more difficult, unfriendly takeoverarquisition attempts. Consequently, such
provisions would be beneficial to current managenrean unfriendly takeover attempt but
could have an adverse effect on shareholders whhtmiish to participate in such a
transaction. However, management believes that gihsions are advantageous to
shareholders in that they will permit managemeudtthe shareholders to carefully consider
understand a proposed acquisition and may requirghreer level of shareholder participatior
the decision.

Pursuant to Section 48-103-308 of the TCSA, wepatoption, may redeem from an acquiring
person all, but not less than all, control shaoegiaed in a control share acquisition, at any
time during the period ending 60 days after thedagquisition of control shares by that person,
for the fair value of those shares, if (1) no cohaicquisition statement has been filed, or (2) a
control acquisition statement has been filed aedstiares are not accorded voting rights by the
shareholders of this corporation pursuant to Seet®103-307. For these purposes, fair value
shall be determined as of the effective date oWtite of the shareholders denying voting ri¢

to the acquiring person, if a control acquisititetement is filed, or if no control acquisition
statement is filed, as of the date of the last &itippn of control shares by the acquiring person
in a control share acquisition.

Pursuant to Section 48-103-309 of the TCSA, if marghares acquired in a control share
acquisition are accorded voting rights and the aiguperson has acquired control shares that
confer upon that person a majority or more of ating power entitled to vote generally with
respect to the election of directors, all this cogtion’s shareholders of record, other than the
acquiring person, who have not voted in favor @inging those voting rights to the acquiring
person shall be entitled to an appraisal of thenfeirket value of their shares in accordance
with Chapter 23 of the Tennessee Business Corpaoratit.

Our corporate documents contain provisions that emaple our board of directors to resist a
change in control of our company even if a changeointrol were to be considered favorable
by you and other shareholders. These provisionsdec

> the authorization of undesignated preferred sttekferms of which may be established and
shares of which may be issued without shareholpjercsal;

» advance notice procedures required for shareholdersminate candidates for election as
directors or to bring matters before an annual mgetf shareholder:

> limitations on persons authorized to call a spatieéting of shareholders;
> a staggered board of directors;
> a restriction prohibiting shareholders from remapitirectors without cause;

> a requirement that vacancies in directorshipsaietfilled by a majority of the directors
then in office and the number of directors is tdiked by the board of directors; a

> no cumulative voting.



106




Table of Contents

Description of capital stock

These and other provisions contained in our thingreded and restated charter and bylaws
could delay or discourage transactions involvingetual or potential change in control of us
or our management, including transactions in whighshareholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares over then current priaes, may limit the ability of shareholders to
remove our current management or approve transactiat our shareholders may deem to be
in their best interests and, therefore, could asblgraffect the price of our common stock.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our commooksi®BNY Mellon Shareowner Services.

NASDAQ GLOBAL SELECT MARKET LISTING

Our common stock has been approved for listing loé Nasdaq Global Select Market under
the trading symbol “CPIX".
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Immediately prior to this offering, there was ndpe market for our common stock. Future
sales of substantial amounts of common stock irpthiic market, or the perception that such
sales may occur, could adversely affect the mamke¢ of our common stock and could impair
our ability to raise capital in the future throutipie sale of our securities. Although our comr
stock has been approved for listing on The Nasdabdab Select Market, we cannot assure you
that there will be an active public market for ctommon stock.

Upon completion of this offering, we will have otaisding an aggregate of 17,091,191 shares
of common stock, based on the issuance of 5,00&0&@ks of common stock offered in our
initial public offering, conversion of our outstand shares of preferred stock and no exercise
of options and warrants or vesting of restrictextkstafter March 31, 2009. Of these shares, the
shares sold in this offering will be freely tradalithout restriction or further registration
under the Securities Act, except for any sharestmaged by our “affiliates,” as that term is
defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, wheaes would be subject to certain
limitations and restrictions described below. Sed bck-Up Agreements.” Persons who may
be deemed affiliates generally include individuai®ntities that control, are controlled by or
are under common control with us and may includeofficers, directors and significant
shareholders.

The remaining 12,091,191 shares of common stockydimg the preferred, as converted, held
by existing shareholders were issued and sold by tediance on exemptions from the
registration requirements of the Securities Acttl@@se shares, 11,884,191 shares will be
subject to “lock-up” agreements described beloviheneffective date of this offering. Upon
expiration of the lock-up agreements 180 days #fireieffective date of this offering, shares
will become eligible for sale, subject in most catethe limitations of Rule 144. In addition,
holders of stock options could exercise such optamd sell certain of the shares issued upon
exercise as described below. See “—Lock-Up Agredsien

Days after date of Shares eligible

this prospectus for sale Comment

Upon effectivenes 5,000,001 Shares sold in the offerir

Upon effectiveness 207,00( Freely tradable shares saleable under Rule 144tk
not subject to thlock-up

90 Days 207,00( Shares saleable under Rules 144 and 701 that aire no
subject to dock-up

180 Days 11,884,19 Lock-upreleased; shares saleable under Rules 14
701

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

As of March 31, 2009, there were a total of 7,00%3,8hares of common stock subject to
outstanding options under our 1999 Plan and 208, PIf which 6,636,900 were vested and
exercisable.

Immediately after the completion of this offeringg intend to file registration statements on
Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register ithe shares of common stock issued or
reserved for future issuance under the 1999 Oftlan and the 2007 Long-Term Incentive
Compensation Plan. On the date which is 180 ddgs thie effective date of this offering, a
total of approximately 6,636,900 shares of comntonkssubject to outstanding options will
vested and exercisable. After the effective datébeoregistration statements on

Form S-8, shares purchased under the 1999 Optamd®id the 2007 Long-Term Incentive
Compensation Plan generally would be availabledsale in the public market.
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LOCK-UP AGREEMENTS

We, all of our directors and executive officers aineir affiliates, and holders of

11,884,191 shares of our outstanding stock haweedghat, without the prior written consent
of UBS Securities LLC, we and they will not dirgcdr indirectly, sell, offer, contract or grant
any option to sell (including without limitation ysshort sale), pledge, transfer, establish an
open “put equivalent position” or liquidate or degse a “call equivalent position” or otherwise
dispose of or transfer (or enter into any transactvhich is designed to, or might reasonabl
expected to, result in the disposition of), inchglthe filing (or participation in the filing) of a
registration statement with the SEC in respecany, shares of common stock, options or
warrants to acquire shares of common stock, orrgesuexchangeable or exercisable for or
convertible into shares of common stock currentlereafter owned either of record or
beneficially by such persons (except for the Bi&gys referred to in the previous paragraph’
publicly announce an intention to do any of theeming, for a period commencing on the date
hereof and continuing through the close of tradinghe date 180 days after the date of this
prospectus, other than permitted transfers destbbtow. In addition, we and they agree that,
without the prior written consent of UBS Securitid<C, we and they will not, during such
period, make any demand for or exercise any rigtit mespect to, the registration of any shi

of common stock or any security convertible inteerercisable or exchangeable for common
stock.

The 180-day restricted period described in thequig two paragraphs will be extended if:

> during the last 17 days of the 180-day restriciedgg we issue an earnings release or
announce material news or a material event relating occurs; ¢

> prior to the expiration of the 180-day restrictedtipd, we announce that we will release
earnings results during tl16-dayperiod beginning on the last day of 18C-day period,

in which case the restrictions described in thegdang two paragraphs will continue to apply
until the expiration of the 18-day period beginnorgthe issuance of the earnings release, the
announcement of material news or the occurreneenoéterial event.

UBS Securities LLC, in its sole discretion, mayessde the common stock and other securities
subject to the lock-up agreements described abowhole or in part at any time with or
without notice. When determining whether or notedlease common stock and other securities
from lock-up agreements, UBS Securities LLC wilhs@er, among other factors, the holder’s
reasons for requesting the release, the numbdranés of common stock and other securities
for which the release is being requested and madlitions at the time.

RULE 144

The SEC recently amended Rule 144, effective Feprlf, 2008. In general under Rule 144,
beginning 90 days after the date of this prospeetperson who is deemed to be an affiliate
and has beneficially owned shares of our commockdtir at least one year would be entitled
to sell in “broker’s transactions” or to market ree& within any three-month period, a number
of shares that does not exceed the greater of:

> 1% of the number of shares of our common stock thestanding, which will equal
approximately 181,000 shares immediately afteraffisring; or

> the average weekly trading volume in our commonlstin The Nasdaq Global Select
Market during the four calendar weeks precedinditimg of a notice on Form 144 with
respect to such sal

Sales under Rule 144 are generally subject tovhiadility of current public information
about us.
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A person who is not deemed to have been an affibhburs at any time during the three
months preceding a sale under Rule 144, and whbdvaficially owned the shares proposed
to be sold for at least one year, is entitled tbsseh shares without having to comply with the
manner of sale, public information, volume limitatior notice filing provisions of Rule 144.
Therefore, unless otherwise restricted, these fidliate shares that have been held for at least
one year may be sold immediately upon the complaifahis offering.

RULE 701

In general, under Rule 701, any of our employeesctbrs, officers, consultants or advisors
who purchases shares from us in connection wittngensatory stock or option plan or other
written agreement before the effective date of diffiering is entitled to sell such shares 90 ¢
after the effective date of this offering in reli@non Rule 144, without having to comply with
the holding period and notice filing requirementt&ale 144 and, in the case of non-affiliates,
without having to comply with the public informatipvolume limitation or notice filing
provisions of Rule 144.

The SEC has indicated that Rule 701 will applyytuidal stock options granted by an issuer
before it becomes subject to the reporting requaresof the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢
as amended, along with the shares acquired upanisg@f such options, including exercises
after the date of this prospectus.
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Material U.S. federal income and estate tax
consequences to non-U.S. holders

GENERAL

The following is a general summary of the matddab. federal income and estate tax
consequences of the ownership and disposition oé@mmon stock that may be relevant to a
non-U.S. holder (as defined below). The summahaised on provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, U.S. Treasuratiegps promulgated thereunder, rulings
and pronouncements of the Internal Revenue Semfd®S, and judicial decisions, all as in
effect on the date of this prospectus and all attviare subject to change (possibly on a
retroactive basis) or to differing interpretatiodée have not sought, and will not seek, any
ruling from the IRS with respect to the tax conssapes discussed in this prospectus, and there
can be no assurance that the IRS will not takes#ipo contrary to the tax discussion below or
that any such position would not be sustained.

This summary is limited to non-U.S. holders thatghase our common stock issued pursuant
to this offering and that hold our common stoclaaspital asset, which generally is property
held for investment. This summary also does notesidthe tax considerations arising under
the laws of any foreign, state or local jurisdiatior under U.S. federal estate or gift tax laws
except as specifically described below. In addijtibis summary does not address tax
considerations that may be applicable to a non-kbfler in light of its particular
circumstances or to non-U.S. hold#drat may be subject to special tax rules, inclugwighout
limitation:

> banks, insurance companies or other financialtingins;
> partnerships or other pass through entities;

> U.S. expatriates;

> tax-exempt organizations;

> tax-qualified retirement plans;

> dealers in securities or currencies;

> traders in securities that elect to use a mark-aoket method of accounting for their
securities holdings; ¢

> persons that will hold common stock as a positioa hedging transaction, “straddle” or
“conversion transacti” for tax purposes

For purposes of this summary, the term “non-U.&ddr§ means a beneficial owner of our
common stock that is not, for U.S. federal incomegurposes:

> an individual citizen or resident of the U.S.;

> a corporation, or other entity treated as a cotpmrdor U.S. federal income tax purposes,
that is created or organized under the laws ofJthiged States or any political subdivision of
the United State:

> an estate whose income, regardless of its sowdecludible in gross income for U.S. fede
income tax purpose

> atrust (1) if a U.S. court is able to exerciserany supervision over the administration of
trust and one or more U.S. persons have the agithiorcontrol all substantial decisions
regarding the trust, or (2) that has in effect kdvelection to be treated as a U.S. persot

> a partnership, or other entity treated as a pastigfor U.S. federal income tax purposes.
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Material U.S. federal income and estate tax consequ  ences to non-U.S. holders

If a partnership or other entity classified as sfwHJ.S. federal income tax purposes holds
shares of our common stock, the tax treatmentpatrner or owner will generally depend on
the status of the partner or owner and the aaibf the partnership or other entity. It is
advised that partnerships (and other entities ifledss such for U.S. federal income tax
purposes) owning shares of our common stock, alteiof interests in such entities, consult
their tax advisors.

Any non-U.S. holder of our common stock should condt their tax advisor regarding the
tax consequences of purchasing, holding, and dispog of these shares of stock.

DIVIDENDS

As previously discussed, we do not anticipate gadinidends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. If we pay dividends on our camrstock, however, those payments will
constitute dividends for U.S. federal income taxgmses to the extent paid from our current or
accumulated earnings and profits, as determinedridcs. federal income tax principles. To
the extent those payments exceed our current anohadated earnings and profits, the
payments will constitute a return of capital andtfreduce the non-U.S. holder’s adjusted tax
basis, but not below zero, and then will be treatedain from the sale of stock, as described
below under the heading “Gain on Disposition of @oom Stock.” Any amount treated as a
dividend paid to a non-U.S. holder will ordinarbg subject to a 30% U.S. federal withholding
tax, or a lower rate if an applicable income taaty so provides. A non-U.S. holder will be
required to satisfy certain certification and distlre requirements in order to claim a reduced
rate of withholding pursuant to an applicable ineatx treaty.

Dividends that are effectively connected with a+tb6. holder’s conduct of trade or business
within the United States (and, where an applictdotetreaty so requires, are attributable to a
permanent establishment or fixed base in the WH.hot be subject to U.S. federal
withholding tax, provided certain certification adidclosure requirements are met, but instead
generally will be taxed in the same manner asdfrtbn-U.S. holder were a U.S. person.
Additionally, non-U.S. holderthat are corporations receiving such dividends begubject t

an additional branch profits tax at a rate of 30%at a lower rate if provided by an applicable
income tax treaty.

Non-U.S. holders are encouraged to consult their dwisars regarding any claim to benefits
under an applicable income tax treaty and the ntetficlaiming the benefits of the treaty. A
refund or credit for any non-U.S. holder that ibjsat to a reduced U.S. federal withholding
income tax rate may be obtained by timely filingl@m for a refund with the IRS.

GAIN ON DISPOSITION OF COMMON STOCK

A non-U.S. holder of our common stock generallyl wilt be taxed on gain recognized upon
disposition unless:

> the non-U.S. holder is present in the U.S. for d8®s or more during the taxable year of the
disposition and has met certain other requirem:

> the income or gain is effectively connected witd tion-U.S. holder’s conduct of trade or
business within the U.S. and, if an applicable medax treaty so requires, is attributable
permanent establishment or fixed base ofinor-U.S. holdelin the U.S.; ol

> we are or have been a “United States real propeitying corporation” for U.S. federal
income tax purposes at any time within the shatéhe five-year period preceding such
disposition or your holding period for our commaack, and certain other requirements are
met. We believe that we are not, and that we waillbecome, a United States real property
holding corporation
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If you are an individual described in the first letipoint immediately above you will be subj

to a flat 30% tax on the amount by which gain résglfrom the disposition of our common
stock and any other U.S.-source capital gainszedlin the same taxable year exceed the
U.S.-source capital losses recognized in that faxgdar, unless an applicable income tax
treaty provides for an exemption or lower rateydéi are an individual described in the second
bullet point immediately above you will be subjeztax on the net gain derived from the sale
under regular graduated U.S. federal income tasrdt you are a corporation described in the
second bullet point immediately above, you willduibject to tax on the net gain generally in
the same manner as if you were a U.S. corporatiol fS. federal income tax purposes, and
may also be subject to the branch profits tax etpuab%, or such lower rate as may be
specified by an applicable income tax treaty, oaryeffectively connected earnings and pro

U.S. FEDERAL ESTATE TAX

Common stock owned or treated as owned by a nonkal8er who is an individual will be
included in that non-U.S. holder’s gross estatdf@. federal estate tax purposes unless an
applicable estate tax or other treaty providesrotlse and such non-U.S. holder therefore may
be subject to U.S. federal estate tax.

U.S. INFORMATION REPORTING AND BACKUP WITHHOLDING

We must report to you and to the Internal Reverem@i€e on an annual basis the amount of
dividends paid to you and any related taxes withlfreim those dividends. Copies of the
information returns reporting dividends and theted tax withheld may also be made avalil
to the tax authorities in the country in which yegide under the provisions of an applicable
income tax treaty.

Backup withholding generally will not apply to pagnts of dividends made by us or our
paying agents, in their capacities as such, toraUh&. holder of our common stock if the
holder has provided the required certification ib& not a U.S. person or certain other
requirements are met.

In general, backup withholding and information nejpy will not apply to proceeds from the
disposition of our common stock paid to a non-U@der if the holder has provided the
required certification that it is a non-U.S. holder

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any @mts withheld may be refunded or
credited against the holder’s U.S. federal incoaxdiability, if any, provided that the required
information is furnished to the IRS in a timely man.

Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisorardiong the application of the information
reporting and backup withholding rules to them.

Prospective non-U.S. holders of our common stock shld consult their tax advisors with
respect to the particular tax consequences to thenf owning and disposing of our
common stock, including the consequences under thawvs of any state, local or foreign
jurisdiction or under any applicable tax treaty.
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We are offering the shares of our common stockrisest in this prospectus through the
underwriters named below. UBS Securities LLC, Ja&ffe& Company, Inc., Wells Fargo
Securities, LLC and Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc. aeerdpresentatives of the underwriters. U
Securities LLC, Jefferies & Company, Inc. and Weksgo Securities, LLC are the joint book-
running managers of this offering. We have entémzlan underwriting agreement with the
representatives. Subject to the terms and conditiéthe underwriting agreement, each of the
underwriters has severally agreed to purchaseuth®ar of shares of common stock listed |
to its name in the following table.

Number of

Underwriters Shares
UBS Securities LLC 2,500,001
Jefferies & Company, In 1,250,001
Wells Fargo Securities, LL 1,000,001
Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc 250,00(
Total 5,000,001

The underwriting agreement provides that the undeses must buy all of the shares if they
buy any of them. However, the underwriters areraquired to take or pay for the shares
covered by the underwriters’ over-allotment optitascribed below.

Our common stock is offered subject to a numbeolitions, including:

> receipt and acceptance of our common stock byridenwriters, and
> the underwriters’ right to reject orders in whotdropart.

We have been advised by the representatives thaintierwriters intend to make a market in
our common stock, but that they are not obligateda so and may discontinue making a
market at any time without notice.

In connection with this offering, certain of thedemwriters or securities dealers may distribute
prospectuses electronically.

OVER-ALLOTMENT OPTION

We have granted the underwriters an option to lutowan aggregate of 750,000 additional
shares of our common stock. The underwriters mayoise this option solely for the purpose
of covering over-allotments, if any, made in cortir@twith this offering. The underwriters
have 30 days from the date of this prospectus ¢océse this option. If the underwriters
exercise this option, they will each purchase &aldlil shares approximately in proportion to
the amounts specified in the table above.

COMMISSIONS AND DISCOUNTS

Shares sold by the underwriters to the public witlally be offered at the initial offering price
set forth on the cover of this prospectus. Any sbaold by the underwriters to securities
dealers may be sold at a discount of up to $0.7Glpere from the initial public offering price.
If all the shares are not sold at the initial paloffering price, the representatives may change
the offering price and the other selling terms. paecution of the underwriting agreement,
the underwriters will be obligated to purchaseghares at offering price, the representatives
may change the offering price and the other setiémms. Upon execution of the underwriting
agreement, the underwriters will be obligated tochase
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the shares at the prices and upon the terms staesin and, as a result, will thereafter bear
any risk associated with changing the offering et the public or other selling terms. The
representatives of the underwriters have inforngethat they do not expect to sell more than
an aggregate of 312,500 shares of common stoakctmuats over which such representatives
exercise discretionary authority.

The following table shows the per share and tatdenwriting discounts and commissions we
will pay to the underwriters assuming both no eiserand full exercise of the underwriters’
option to purchase up to an additional shares.

No exercise Full exercise

Per shart $ 1.1¢ $ 1.1¢
Total $5,950,00 $ 6,842,50!

We estimate that the total expenses of this offgpiayable by us, not including the
underwriting discounts and commissions, will beragpnately $3.9 million.

NO SALES OF SIMILAR SECURITIES

We, our executive officers and directors and shadens owning substantially all of our stock
have entered into lock-up agreements with the wadkers. Under these agreements, subject to
certain exceptions, we and each of these persopsiotawithout the prior written approval of
UBS Securities LLC, offer, sell, contract to sellatherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly,

or hedge our common stock or securities convertititeor exchangeable or exercisable for
common stock. These restrictions will be in efflecta period of 180 days after the date of this
prospectus. At any time and without public notld8S Securities LLC may, in its sole
discretion, release some or all of the securitiesifthese lock-up agreements.

INDEMNIFICATION

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters agasain liabilities, including certain
liabilities under the Securities Act. If we are bleato provide this indemnification, we have
agreed to contribute to payments the underwritexg be required to make in respect of those
liabilities.

NASDAQ GLOBAL SELECT MARKET LISTING

Our common stock has been approved for listing loe Nasdaq Global Select Market under
the trading symbol “CPIX".

PRICE STABILIZATION, SHORT POSITIONS

In connection with this offering, the underwritengy engage in activities that stabilize,
maintain or otherwise affect the price of our commnstock, including:

> stabilizing transactions;

> short sales;

> purchases to cover positions created by short;sales
> imposition of penalty bids; and

» syndicate covering transactions.

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or puresamade for the purpose of preventing or
retarding a decline in the market price of our cammatock while this offering is in progress.
These transactions
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may also include making short sales of our comntocks which involve the sale by the
underwriters of a greater number of shares of comstack than they are required to purchase
in this offering, and purchasing shares of comntonkson the open market to cover positions
created by short sales. Short sales may be “cowred sales,” which are short positions in an
amount not greater than the underwriters’ overtalént option referred to above, or may be
“naked short sales,” which are short positionsxcess of that amount.

The underwriters may close out any covered shaitipa by either exercising their over-
allotment option, in whole or in part, or by purshay shares in the open market. In making
determination, the underwriters will consider, agather things, the price of shares available
for purchase in the open market as compared tpribe at which they may purchase shares
through the over-allotment option.

Naked short sales are in excess of the-allotment option. The underwriters must close out
any naked short position by purchasing sharesdroffen market. A naked short position is
more likely to be created if the underwriters asaaerned that there may be downward
pressure on the price of the common stock in tlemoparket that could adversely affect
investors who purchased in this offering.

The underwriters also may impose a penalty bids ®ours when a particular underwriter
repays to the underwriters a portion of the undiginvg discount received by it because the
representatives have repurchased shares soldfbythe account of that underwriter in
stabilizing or short covering transactions.

As a result of these activities, the price of caimenon stock may be higher that the price that
otherwise might exist in the open market. If thasivities are commenced, they may be
discontinued by the underwriters at any time. Thdeuwriters may carry out these transact
on The Nasdaq Global Select Market, in the overethunter market or otherwise.

DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE

Prior to this offering, there was no public marf@tour common stock. The initial public
offering price will be determined by negotiation by and the representatives of the
underwriters. The principal factors to be considéredetermining the initial public offering
price include:

> the information set forth in this prospectus arfieovise available to representatives;

> our history and prospects, and the history of andgects for the industry in which we
compete

> our past and present financial performance andgs@sament of our management;
> our prospects for future earnings and the predate ef our development;
> the general condition of the securities markethatime of this offering;

> the recent market prices of, and demand for, piyttiiaded common stock of generally
comparable companies; a

> other factors deemed relevant by the underwritedsus.

AFFILIATIONS

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliatesynfiam time to time provide certain
commercial banking, financial advisory, investmieabking and other services for us for wt
they were and will be entitled to receive sepafe¢s. The underwriters and their affiliates may
from time to time in the future engage in transattiwith us and perform services for us in the
ordinary course of their business.
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Notice to investors
EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA

In relation to each Member State of the EuropeamBmic Area, or EEA, which has
implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a {ReleMember State”)ith effect from, an
including, the date on which the Prospectus Diveds implemented in that Relevant Member
State, or the Relevant Implementation Date, arr ¢éf¢he public of our securities which are
the subject of the offering contemplated by thisspectus may not be made in that Relevant
Member State, except that, with effect from, arauding, the Relevant Implementation Date,
an offer to the public in that Relevant Member &taftour securities may be made at any time
under the following exemptions under the Prospebiusctive, if they have been implemented
in that Relevant Member State:

(a) to legal entities which are authorized or reguldtedperate in the financial markets,
if not so authorized or regulated, whose corpoparpose is solely to invest in our
securities

(b) to any legal entity which has two or more of (1)aaerage of at least 250 employees
during the last financial year; (2) a total balasbeet of more than €43,000,000 and
(3) an annual net turnover of more than €50,000,88Ghown in its last annual or
consolidated accounts;

(c) to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (othen tqualified investors as defined in
the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtainingpher consent of the representatives for
any such offer; o

(d) in any other circumstances falling within Articl€23 of the Prospectus Directiv

provided that no such offer of our securities stesult in a requirement for the publication by
us or any underwriter or agent of a prospectusyauntsto Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

As used above, the expression “offered to the publirelation to any of our securities in any
Relevant Member State means the communicationyifaam and by any means of sufficient
information on the terms of the offer and our séi@s to be offered so as to enable an investor
to decide to purchase or subscribe for our seeariis the same may be varied in that Member
State by any measure implementing the Prospectestidie in that Member State and the
expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directi®@3271/EC and includes any relevant
implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

The EEA selling restriction is in addition to amyher selling restrictions set out in this
prospectus.

UNITED KINGDOM

This prospectus is only being distributed to anonly directed at (1) persons who are outside
the United Kingdom, (2) investment professionalbrfig within Article 19(5) of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotionjer 2005, or Order; or (3) high net
worth companies, and other persons to who it mafullly be communicated, falling within
Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order, all such pmrgogether being referred to as “relevant
persons.” The securities are only available to, amdinvitation, offer or agreement to
subscribe, purchase or otherwise acquire suchiteswill be engaged in only with, relevant
persons. Any person who is not a relevant persoualdmot act or rely on this prospectus or
any of its contents.
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SWITZERLAND

Our securities may not and will not be publiclyesffd, distributed or re-distributed on a
professional basis in or from Switzerland only ba basis of a non-public offering, and neither
this prospectus nor any other solicitation for stmeents in our securities may be
communicated or distributed in Switzerland in argywhat could constitute a public offering
within the meaning of articles 652a or 1156 of 8veiss Federal Code of Obligations or of
Article 2 of the Federal Act on Investment Fund$/arch 18, 1994. This prospectus may not
be copied, reproduced, distributed or passed otthiers without the underwriters’ and agents’
prior written consent. This prospectus is not aspeztus within the meaning of Articles 1156
and 652a of the Swiss Code of Obligations or atisprospectus according to article 32 of the
Listing Rules of the Swiss exchange and may notptpmith the information standards
required thereunder. We will not apply for a ligtiof our securities on any Swiss stock
exchange or other Swiss regulated market and thi&ppctus may not comply with the
information required under the relevant listingesul The securities have not been and will not
be approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. 3é¢wurities have not been and will not be
registered with or supervised by the Swiss Fedgaaking Commission, and have not been
and will not be authorized under the Federal Actrarestment Funds of March 18, 1994. The
investor protection afforded to acquirers of inwesnt fund certificates by the Federal Act on
Investment Funds of March 18, 1994 does not exteradquirers of our securities.

HONG KONG

Our securities may not be offered or sold in Hormmé, by means of this prospectus or any
document other than to persons whose ordinary bssiis to buy or sell shares, whether as
principal or agent, or in circumstances which documstitute an offer to the public within the
meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.32, Lawtoofy Kong). No advertisement,
invitation or document relating to our securitieaynbe issued or may be in the possession of
any person other than with respect to the secsinitigich are or are intended to be disposed of
only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “pesfenal investors” within the meaning of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571slafwlong Kong) and any rules made
thereunder.

SINGAPORE

This prospectus has not been registered as a ptaspeith the Monetary Authority of
Singapore. Accordingly, this prospectus and angmottocument or material in connection with
the offer or sale, or invitation for subscriptionpurchase, of our securities may not be
circulated or distributed, nor may our securitiesolffered or sold, or be made the subject of an
invitation for subscription or purchase, whetheedily or indirectly, to persons in Singapore
other than (i) to an institutional investor undecton 274 of the Securities and Futures Act,
Chapter 289 of Singapore, or SFA, (ii) to a relé\@arson pursuant to Section 275(1), or any
person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accalarnth the conditions specified in

Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursumtand in accordance with the conditions of,
any other applicable provision of the SFA, in eaabe subject to compliance with conditions
set forth in the SFA.

Where our securities are subscribed or purchaseeriBection 275 by a relevant person which
is: (a) a corporation (which is not an accrediteeestor as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)
the sole business of which is to hold investmentsthe entire share capital of which is owned
by one or more individuals, each of whom is an edited investor; or (b) a trust (where the
trustee is not an accredited investor) whose salpgse is to hold investments and each
beneficiary of the trust is an individual who isaatredited investor; shares of that corporation
or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoelescribed) in that trust shall not be
transferable for six months after that corporation
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that trust has acquired the shares under Sectibofthe SFA, except: (1) to an institutional
investor (for corporations under Section 274 of $ifd\) or to a relevant person defined in
Section 275(2) of the SFA, or any person pursuaantoffer that is made on terms that such
shares of that corporation or such rights and éstein that trust are acquired at a consideration
of not less than S$200,000 (or its equivalentfioraign currency) for each transaction, whe
such amount is to be paid for in cash or by excharigecurities or other assets, and furthe
corporations, in accordance with the conditiongcgfed in Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where
no consideration is given for the transfer; ory8ere the transfer is by operation of law.

JAPAN

Our securities have not been and will not be regést under the Securities and Exchange Law
of Japan (the Securities and Exchange Law) andexurities will not be offered or sold,
directly or indirectly, in Japan, or to, or for thenefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as
used herein means any person resident in Japdugiimg any corporation or other entity
organized under the laws of Japan), or to otharesfoffering or resale, directly or indirectly,

in Japan, or to a resident of Japan, except pursaam exemption from the registration
requirements of, and otherwise in compliance vitib, Securities and Exchange Law and any
other applicable laws, regulations and ministagiatielines of Japan.

AUSTRALIA

This prospectus is not a formal disclosure docuraadthas not been lodged with the
Australian Securities and Investments Commissipdoés not purport to contain all
information that an investor or their professioadlisers would expect to find in a product
disclosure statement for the purposes of Partfitl®eoCorporations Act 2001 (Australia) in
relation to the securities.

The securities are not being offered in Australiarétail clients” as defined in section 761G of
the Corporations Act 2001 (Australia). This offeriis being made in Australia solely to
“wholesale clients” as defined in section 761Ghaf Corporations Act 2001 (Australia) and as
such no product disclosure statement in relatichécsecurities has been prepared.

This prospectus does not constitute an offer intralia other than to wholesale clients. By
submitting an application for our securities, yepnesent and warrant to us that you are a
wholesale client. If any recipient is not a wholesdient, no applications for our securities \

be accepted from such recipient. Any offer to dpieat in Australia, and any agreement
arising from acceptance of such offer, is persandl may only be accepted by the recipient. In
addition, by applying for our securities you undkg to us that, for a period of 12 months fi
the date of issue of the securities, you will mahsfer any interest in the securities to any
person in Australia other than a wholesale client.
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Legal matters

The validity of the shares of common stock issurethis offering will be passed upon for us by
the law firm of Adams and Reese LLP, Nashville, iessee. Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP, New
York, New York is counsel to the underwriters impection with this offering.

Experts

The consolidated financial statements and schaxfudar company as of December 31, 2008
and 2007, and for each of the years in the three{yeriod ended December 31, 2008, have
been included herein and in the registration staterim reliance upon the report of

KPMG LLP, independent registered public accountimg, appearing elsewhere herein, and
upon the authority of said firm as experts in acting and auditing.

Where you can find additional information

We filed a registration statement on Form S-1 wlih Commission with respect to the
registration of the common stock offered for salthwhis prospectus. This prospectus, which
constitutes part of the registration statementsdus contain all of the information set forth in
the registration statement and the exhibits tadlgéstration statement. For further information
about us, the common stock we are offering bypghispectus and related matters, you should
review the registration statement, including thkilkits filed as a part of the registration
statement. Statements contained in this prospattost the contents of any contract or any
other document that is filed as an exhibit to #ngistration statement are not necessarily
complete, and we refer you to the full text of deatract or other document filed as an exhibit
to the registration statement. A copy of the regtiin statement and the exhibits that were
filed with the registration statement may be inspeéavithout charge at the public reference
facilities maintained by the Securities and Exclea@gmmission Headquarters Office, 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, and copiedlafr any part of the registration statement
may be obtained from the SEC upon payment of teegpibed fee. Information on the
operation of the public reference facilities mayol¢ained by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a world wide sitebthat contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regaydegistrants that file electronically with
the SEC. The address of the sitatip://www.sec.gov.

Upon completion of this offering, we will becomebgect to the information and periodic
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, an@dceordance with such requirements, will
file periodic reports, proxy statements and othérrimation with the SEC. These periodic
reports, proxy statements and other informatioh vélavailable for inspection and copying at
the regional offices, public reference facilitiexlaveb site of the SEC referred to above.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

The Board of Directors
Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Cumberland
Pharmaceuticals Inc. and subsidiaries (the Compaspf December 31, 2007 and 2008, and
the related consolidated statements of incomeghlbbders’equity and comprehensive incor
and cash flows for each of the years in the thes-period ended December 31, 2008. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated fitial statements, we have also audited the
financial statement Schedule ll—Valuation and (fyaidg Accounts for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2008 eTtwssolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsilufithe Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thegesotidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standagisinethat we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfaiatatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aldasis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, aisgp®e accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as welvaluating the overall financial statem
presentation. We believe that our audits provideazonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegaferred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Cuntdred Pharmaceuticals Inc. and subsidiarie

of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the resultsedf dperations and their cash flows for €

of the years in the three-year period ended DeceBhe2008, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Als@unopinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the cadeigld financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth herein.

/sl KPMG LLP

Nashville, Tennesse
February 17, 2009
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Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated balance sheets
December 31, 2007 and 2008

2007 2008
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $10,814,51 11,829,55
Accounts receivable, net of allowanc 2,373,53 3,129,34
Inventories 949,10¢ 1,762,77!
Prepaid and other current ass 288,24 481,31:
Deferred tax asse 363,17" 507,21
Total current asse 14,788,58 17,710,19
Property and equipment, r 459,84 432,411
Intangible assets, n 9,153,75. 8,528,73.
Deferred tax asse 1,827,98; 1,000,03.

Other asset 2,688,51. 3,447,81.
Total asset $28,918,66 31,119,18
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current portion of lon-term debr

$ 1,833,33. 1,250,00

Revolving line of credi 1,325,95: —
Current portion of other lor-term obligations 410,42: 457,91!
Accounts payabl 1,921,10: 3,257,16
Other accrued liabilitie 2,628,45. 2,640,85!
Total current liabilities 8,119,26/ 7,605,93.
Revolving line of credi — 1,825,95
Long-term debt, excluding current porti 916,66: 3,750,00!
Other lon¢-term obligations, excluding current porti 3,136,57: 382,48

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (see nc
Shareholder equity:

Convertible preferred stock—no par value. Authatize
3,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 855,495 an
812,749 shares at December 31, 2007 and 2008 ctasbe 2,742,99. 2,604,07

Common stock—no par value. Authorized 100,000,0G0es as
of December 31, 2007 and 2008; issued and outstgndi
10,091,260 and 9,903,047 shares at December 37,810
2008, respectivel

Retained earnings (accumulated defi

Total shareholde’ equity
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

12,172,49 13,564,37

17,318,71 13,500,03
(3,315,53) 1,450,71
16,746,16 17,554,81
$28,018,66 31,119,18

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008

2006 2007 2008
Revenues
Net product revenu $16,980,89 27,821,64 34,889,96
Revenue from c-promotion agreemen 286,62: — —
Other revenu: 547 95! 241,94, 185,19:
Net revenue: 17,815,48 28,063,58 35,075,16
Operating costs and expens
Cost of products sol 2,399,13° 2,669,62 3,045,67.
Selling and marketin 7,348,541 10,053,35 14,387,15
Research and developm 2,232,98. 3,693,991 4,429,06.
General and administrati\ 2,999,34° 4,137,94. 5,139,93
Amortization of product license rig| 515,18: 686,90! 686,90
Other 96,43: 96,52 104,20¢
Total operating costs and expen 15,591,61 21,338,27 27,792,93
Operating incom: 2,223,86; 6,725,311 7,282,222
Interest incom 208,67 382,91¢ 241,28
Interest expens (721,804 (639,59() (213,30)
Other expens (2,800 — —
Net income before income tax 1,707,93" 6,468,64 7,310,20
Income tax benefit (expens 2,696,511 (2,424,26) (2,543,95)
Net income $ 4,404,45 4,044,381 4,766,24!
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.4f 0.4C 0.47
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.27 0.2¢ 0.2¢
Weighte-average shares outstanc—basic 9,797,191 10,032,08 10,142,80
Weightec-average shares outstanc—diluted 16,454,11 16,581,90 16,539,66

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity and

comprehensive income

Years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008

Preferred stock

Common stock

Retained earnings

Shares  Amount

Shares

Amount deficit)

Total

(accumulated shareholders ’

equity

Balance, December 31

2005
Issuance of common stock

warrants — —
Stock-based

compensation-employee

stock option grant — —
Issuance of common stock

for services receive — —
Stock-based

compensation—

nonemployee stock optic

grants — —
Exercise of options and

related tax benefit, net of

mature shares redeemed

for the exercise pric — —
Net and comprehensiy

income — —

855,49 $2,742,99.

9,780,29! $15,255,02 $

27,51¢

36,33«

25,68( —

104,08! —

273,29t —

37,75 —

46,747 —

— 4,404,45

(11,764,37) $

6,233,64:

25,68(

104,08¢

273,29t

37,751

46,747

4,404,45

Balance, December 31,

2006
Stock-based

compensation-employee

stock option grant — —
Issuance of common stock

for services receive — —
Stock-based

compensation—

nonemployee stock optic

grants — —
Exercise of options and

related tax benefit, net of

mature shares redeemed

for the exercise pric — —
Net and comprehensi

income — —

2,742,99.

9,844,15!

25,23¢

221,87«

15,742,59 (7,359,92)

299,21: —

222,59t —

93,83¢ —

960,47¢ —

— 4,044,38I

11,125,66

299,21:

222,59¢

93,83¢

960,47¢

4,044,38I

Balance, December 31

2007
Stock-based

compensation-employee

stock option grant — —
Issuance of common stock

for services receive — —
Stock-based

compensation—

nonemployee stock optic

grants — —
Conversion of preferred

stock into common stoc
Repurchase of common

shares — —
Exercise of options and

related tax benefit, net of

mature shares redeemed

for the exercise pric — —
Net and comprehensiy

income — —

855,49! 2,742,99

(42,740

(138,92))

10,091,26

7,961

85,49:

17,318,71 (3,315,53)

397,50( —

106,55¢ —

58,64¢ —

138,92- —

(384,619 (4,999,99) —

102,94¢

479,68t —

— 4,766,24!

16,746,16

397,50(

106,55¢

58,64¢

(4,999,99)

479,68t

4,766,24!

Balance, December 31,

2008 812,74¢ $2,604,07!

9,903,04" $13,500,03 $

1,450,71. $

17,554,81

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of cash flows
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008

2006 2007 2008
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $4,404,45 4,044,381 4,766,24!
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashkiges by operating
activities:
Gain on early extinguishment of other I-term obligation: — — (38,577)
Depreciation and amortization expel 587,74: 762,22: 786,59°
Deferred tax (benefit) expen (2,833,30) 2,230,591 683,91
Nonemployee stock granted for services rece 273,29¢ 222,59¢ 106,55¢
Nonemployee stock option grant expe 37,75! 93,83¢ 58,64¢
Stocl-based compensati—employee stock optior 104,08! 299,21: 397,50(
Excess tax benefit derived from exercise of stqukons (37,747) (449,52 (398,529
Noncash interest expen 339,59: 273,71 71,93
Net changes in assets and liabilities affectingaiirey activities:
Accounts receivabl (2,705,64) 2,746,92!  (755,81()
Inventory (124,71¢) (278,01) (813,66
Prepaid, other current assets and other a (71,844 (184,26) (163,279
Accounts payable, accrued interest and other addialgilities 3,308,01° (811,107 1,652,91:
Other lon¢-term obligations (1,118,42) (323,69) 42,501
Net cash provided by operating activit 2,163,25! 8,626,88. 6,396,95:
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of intangible ass—license (6,479,65) — —
Additions to property and equipme (59,714  (152,42() (67,577)
Additions to trademarks and pate (13,55¢) (11,069 (66,57¢)
Net cash used in investing activiti (6,552,93) (163,489 (134,149
Cash flows from financing activitie
Costs of initial public offering — (2,031,41) (687,97
Proceeds from issuance of note payi 5,500,00t — 4,083,341
Costs of financing for lor-term debt and credit facilit (65,737) — (29,49))
Principal payments on note paya (916,66¢) (1,833,330 (1,833,33))
Payment of other lor-term obligations — (1,500,00) (2,760,001
Net borrowings on line of crec 544,74. 500,00( 500,00(
Payments made in connection with repurchase of comshare! — —  (4,999,99)
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 9,00( 510,95: 81,15¢
Excess tax benefit derived from exercise of stquions 37,745 449,52¢ 398,52¢
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 5,109,08! (3,904,27) (5,247,77)
Net increase in cash and cash equival 719,410 4,559,121 1,015,03:
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of ' 5,535,98' 6,255,391 10,814,51
Cash and cash equivalents, end of $6,255,39: 10,814,51 11,829,55
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest $ 377,20: 419,10( 221,00(
Income taxe: 55,65¢ 89,07t 1,486,99:
Noncash investing and financing activiti
Liability for license acquire: 4,500,001 — —
Deferred financing cos' 25,68( — 125,00(
Exercise of options paid with mature shares ofls — 22,03 23,10¢
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expehsesad public
offering — 645,93 —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.




Table of Contents

CUMBERLAND PHARMACEUTICALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to consolidated financial statements
(1) ORGANIZATION

Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. and its subsidigtiee Company or Cumberland) is a
specialty pharmaceutical company incorporated imEssee on January 6, 1999. Its mission is
to provide high quality products to address undgestmedical needs. Cumberland is focused
on acquiring rights to, developing, and commerziafj branded prescription products for the
acute care and gastroenterology markets.

The Company’s corporate operations and productisitigns have been funded by a
combination of equity and debt financings. The Campfocuses its resources on maximizing
the commercial potential of its products, as weltlaveloping new product candidates, and has
outsourced manufacturing and distribution to cdlefelected entities with the appropriate
expertise and infrastructure to support these iéiesv

In order to create access to a pipeline of eadgesproduct candidates, the Company formed a
subsidiary, Cumberland Emerging Technologies, (6&T), which assists universities and
other research organizations to help bring bionsdgimjects from the laboratory to the
marketplace. The Company’s ownership in CET is 8bB& remaining interest is owned by
Vanderbilt University and the Tennessee Technodgyelopment Corporation. During 2002,
CET'’s losses reduced its equity to a deficit positiAccordingly, the Company reduced
minority interest to zero and has recorded 100%h@losses associated with the joint venture
since that time in accordance with Accounting Rege8ulletin No. 51 Consolidated

Financial Statement. These losses amounted to approximately $172%i0,,000 and
$272,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 200 2008, respectively. As a result of
adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Stansld8FAS) No. 160Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Stateme— an amendment of ARB No.(&FAS 160),

on January 1, 2009, the Company expects to alldaaiee operating results, including
operating losses, to minority interest shareholders

Beginning January 1, 2007, the Company’s new wholiyied subsidiary, Cumberland Phal
Sales Corp. (CPSC), began full operations for timp@se of employing the newly converted
Hospital Sales Force that promotes the Companydumts, Acetadot® and Kristalosé® , in

the acute care market. Previously, this sales fa®contracted through a third-party contract
sales organization.

The Company operates in a single operating segaiaptecialty pharmaceutical products.
Management has chosen to organize the Company bagéeé type of products sold. All of t
Company’s assets are located in the United Stattal revenues are primarily attributable to
U.S. customers. Net revenues from non-U.S. custemere less than $0.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006, and totaled approxim&@8 million and $0.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respgc

(2) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements are statddS. dollars and are prepared under
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. ddresolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its majority-owsidasidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquicgtmnents with an original maturity of three
months or less when purchased.

(c) Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear interest. The
Company records allowances for uncollectible amgurdash discounts, chargebacks and
credits to be taken by customers for product dashagshipments, based on historical
experience. The Company reviews its customer bataon an individual account basis for
collectibility. The allowance for uncollectible ammats, cash discounts, chargebacks and credits
for damaged product was approximately $0.1 milksrof December 31, 2007 and 2008.

Cash discounts are reductions to invoiced amoufeseal to customers for payment within a
specified period of time from the date of the iro@iThe majority of the Company’s products
are distributed through independent pharmaceutibalesalers. In conjunction with
recognizing a sale to a wholesaler, net produaneg and accounts receivable take into
account the sale of the product at the wholesajaisition cost, and an accrual is recorded to
reflect the difference between the wholesale adpriscost and the estimated average asdr
contract price. This accrual is calculated on alpobd-specific basis and is based on the
estimated number of outstanding units sold to wdadkrs that will ultimately be sold under
end-user contracts. When the wholesaler sellsrbdupt to the end-user at the agreed upon
end-user contract price, the wholesaler charge€timepany for the difference between the
wholesale acquisition price and the end-user confiace and that chargeback is offset against
the initial accrual balance.

The Company’s estimate of the allowance for damageduct is based upon historical
experience of claims made for damaged producthétime the transaction is recognized as a
sale, the Company records a reduction in revenuthéestimate of product damaged in
shipment.

(d) Inventories

The Company utilizes third parties to manufactureé package finished goods for sale, takes
title to the finished goods at the time of shipmfeom the manufacturer and warehouses such
goods until distribution and sale. The Companyi&irtory was comprised completely of
finished goods at December 31, 2007 and 2008. tovies are stated at the lower of cost or
market with cost determined using the first-instfiout method.

(e) Prepaid Assets

Prepaid assets consist of the prepaid premiumifectrs’ and officers’ insurance, product
liability insurance, prepaid consulting services, @he Company expenses all prepaid amc
as used or over the period of benefit on a strdightbasis, as applicable.

(f) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold impmomets, are stated at cost. Depreciation is
provided using the straight-line method over theévested useful lives of the assets. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter ofrtti@l lease term plus its renewal options, if
renewal is reasonably assured, or the remaininfglugie of the asset. Upon retirement or
disposal of assets, the asset and accumulatedcitgpye accounts are adjusted accordingly
any gain or loss is reflected in
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are seghas incurred. Improvements that extend
an asset’s useful life are capitalized.

(9) Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets consist of cosisriad related to licenses, trademarks and
patents.

In 2006, the Company acquired the exclusive U.Bimercialization rights (license) to
Kristalose® . The cost of acquiring the licenses of producss #re approved for commercial
use are capitalized and amortized ratably oveestienated economic life of the products. At
the time of acquisition, the product life is esttathbased upon the term of the license
agreement, patent life or market exclusivity of pneducts and our assessment of future sales
and profitability of the product. We assess thiteate regularly during the amortization pel
and adjust the asset value or useful life when@pyate. The total purchase price, which
includes the cost of the U.S. commercializatiomtsgand other related costs of obtaining the
licenses, is being amortized on a straight-linésager 15 years, which is management’s
estimate of the asset’s useful life.

Trademarks are amortized on a straight-line bases D0 years, which is management’s
estimate of the asset’s useful life.

Patents consist of outside legal costs associatbdltaining patents for products that have
already been approved for marketing by the Foodnmg Administration (FDA). Upon
issuance of a patent, the finite useful econonfiecdf the patent (or family of patents) is
determined, and the patent is amortized on a sirdilge basis over such useful life. If it
becomes probable that a patent will not be issugdated costs associated with the patent
application will be expensed at that time. All @associated with obtaining patents for
products that have not been approved for markéynipe FDA are expensed as incurred.

When the Company acquires license agreements, gradhts and other identifiable
intangible assets, it records the aggregate pueghidse as an intangible asset. The Company
allocates the purchase price to the fair valudefarious intangible assets in order to amo
their cost as an expense in its consolidated s&tesof income over the estimated useful life
of the related assets.

(h) Impairment of Long -Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipmehparchased intangible assets subject to
amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenesents or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may noebeverable. If circumstances require a
longdived asset to be tested for possible impairméet,Gompany first compares undiscour
cash flows expected to be generated by an asHe tarrying value of the asset. If the carr
amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverablam undiscounted cash flow basis, an
impairment charge is recognized to the extenttthatarrying value exceeds its fair value. Fair
value is determined through various valuation tégines including quoted market prices, third-
party independent appraisals and discounted cashrflodels, as considered necessary. Assets
to be disposed of would be separately presentdtkinonsolidated balance sheet and reported
at the lower of the carrying amount or fair valaed costs to sell, and no longer depreciated.
The assets and liabilities of a disposed grousiflad as held-for-sale would be presented
separately in the appropriate asset and liabiéistiens of the consolidated balance sheet. The
Company recorded no impairment charges duringhtfeetyear period ended December 31,
2008.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

(i) Costs of Initial Public Offering

Incremental costs directly attributable to thei@ipublic offering of the Company’s common
stock of approximately $3.3 million at December 2008 have been deferred and included in
other assets. These costs will be accounted faraduction to the proceeds received from a
successful offering, or will be expensed in therttke offering is postponed indefinitely or
abandoned. As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, ajppatedy $0.6 million of unpaid costs
related to the initial public offering are includedaccounts payable and other accrued
liabilities.

() Revenue Recognition

Revenue is realized or realizable and earned wief the following criteria are met:

(1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exBjtstglivery has occurred or services have
been rendered; (3) the selkeprice to the buyer is fixed and determinable; @adollectibility
is reasonably assured. Delivery is considered ve logcurred upon either shipment of the
product or arrival at its destination, dependingruthe shipping terms of the transaction.

The Company’s net product revenue reflects rednaifayross product revenue for estimated
allowances for chargebacks, discounts, and damggeds and accruals for rebates, product
returns, certain administrative fees, and fee éovises. Allowances of $0.1 million as of
December 31, 2007 and 2008 for chargebacks, dissama allowances for product damaged
in shipment reduce accounts receivable, and acdiagtities of $0.7 million and $1.0 million
as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectivelyefmates, product returns and administra
fees are included in other accrued liabilities.

As discussed in 2(c) above, the allowances forg#tzacks, discounts and damaged goods are
determined on a product-by-product basis, and steblished by management as the
Company’s best estimate at the time of sale basezhoh product’s historical experience
adjusted to reflect known changes in the factaas ithpact such allowances. These are
established based on the contractual terms widttand indirect customers and analyses of
historical levels of chargebacks, discounts anditselaimed for damaged product.

Other organizations, such as managed care proyioleasmacy benefit management compe

and government agencies, may receive rebates frer@ompany based on negotiated cont

to carry the Company’s product or reimbursementsifed prescriptions. These entities
represent indirect customers of the Company. Initiadd the Company may provide rebates to
the end-user. In conjunction with recognizing a&4ala wholesaler, sales revenues are reduced
and accrued expenses are increased by the Compstiyiates of the rebates that will be

owed.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company t@irs a return policy that allows customers
to return product within a specified period priorand subsequent to the expiration date. The
Company’s estimate of the provision for returnbased upon historical experience with actual
returns. Any changes in the assumptions used ifoast the provision for returns is recogni

in the period those assumptions were changed.

The Company has agreements with certain key whelssancluding fee for service costs. In
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITd=)04-9,Accounting for Consideration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Resel the Vendor’s Products}hese
administrative costs have been netted against ptoduenues.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

The Company’s net product revenue and revenue émpromotional agreements consist of
the following as of December 31:

2006
Revenue from
Net Product Co-Promotional
Revenue Agreements Total
Acetadote $10,722,33 — 10,722,33
Kristalose(@ 6,223,93 286,62: 6,510,55!
Other product() 34,631 — 34,63}
$16,980,89 286,62« 17,267,52
2007
Revenue from
Net Product Co-Promotional
Revenue Agreements Total
Acetadote $18,817,29 — 18,817,229
Kristalose 9,012,78! —  9,012,78!
Other product: (8,436 — (8,436
$27,821,64 — 27,821,64
2008
Revenue from
Net Product Co-Promotional
Revenue Agreements Total
Acetadote $25,438,77. — 25,438,77.
Kristalose 9,468,56: — 9,468,56:
Other product: (17,36¢ — (17,369
$34,889,96 — 34,889,96

(2) For the period from January 1, 2006 through Apri2@06, the Company promoted Kristalose under proaiotion
arrangement

(2) Includes revenues from products for which the Camyp#o longer has the exclusive licensing rig

For the first quarter of 2006, the Company had prexucts for which it received a co-
promotion fee under the related co-promotion ageregm The Company recognized the
promotional fees as revenue fromm@motion agreements during the period in whichstle:
of the respective product occurred.

Other revenue is primarily comprised of revenueegated by CET through consulting servi
development funding from private sector investnwrfederal Small Business (SBIR/STTR)
grant programs and lease income generated by QHEE S$ciences Center. The Life Sciences
Center is a research center that provides scientigh access to flexible lab space and other
resources to develop their products. Revenue tktatgrants is recognized when all conditi
related to such grants have been met. Grant revetaled approximately $375,000, $83,000
and $7,000 for the years ended December 31, 200G, &1d 2008, respectively.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

(k) Income Taxes

The Company provides for deferred taxes using $setsand liability approach. Under this
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized for future tax consequences
attributable to operating loss and tax credit damyards, as well as differences between the
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliied their respective tax bases. The
Company’s principal differences are related toignof deductibility of certain items, such as
depreciation, amortization and expense for optissised to nonemployees. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tas thte are expected to apply to taxable income
in the years such temporary differences are exgeotbe recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changevirates is recognized in income in the period
of enactment.

The Company adopted the provisions of Financialodoting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 48Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesan-interpretation of FAS
Statement No. 10@IN 48) in January 2007. FIN 48 provides a rectignithreshold and
guidance for measurement of income tax positiokertar expected to be taken on a tax return.
These standards require that the Company elimthatsncome tax benefits associated with any
income tax position where it is not “more likelyathnot” that the position would be sustained
upon examination by the taxing authorities. Asafulry 1, 2007, the Company'’s uncertain tax
positions were previously reserved under SFAS NAcBounting for ContingencigSFAS 5).

As a result, the adoption of FIN 48 did not resulany adjustment to shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s accounting policy with respect teliast and penalties arising from income tax
settlements is to recognize them as part of theigiom for income taxes.

() Share-Based Payments

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adoptedateirements of SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004),Share-Based Paymef8FAS 123(R)), utilizing the prospective methodadbption.

Under this approach, SFAS 123(R) applies to newtgrand the modification, repurchase or
cancellation of outstanding awards beginning orudanl, 2006. Under the prospective
method of adoption, compensation cost recognizbdesjuent to the adoption of SFAS 123(R)
includes only share-based compensation cost fehalle-based payments granted or modified
subsequent to January 1, 2006. The cost is meabased on the grant-date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SEB3R) and is recognized as expense over
the employee’s requisite service period. The Compatculates the fair value of options using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

(m) Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensedpetioe incurred. Research and
development costs are comprised mainly of cliniidal expenses, salary and wages and other
related costs such as materials and supplies. D@went expense includes activities performed
by third-party providers participating in the Comps clinical studies. The Company accounts
for these costs based on estimates of work perfrpetient enroliment or fixed fee for
services.

(n) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and af@duo $0.7 million, $0.6 million and
$0.7 million in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
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(o) Distribution Costs

The Company expenses distribution costs as incubrstribution costs included in sales and
marketing expenses amounted to $0.4 million, $dlBom and $1.0 million in 2006, 2007 and
2008, respectively.

(p) Selling and Marketing Expense

Selling and marketing expense consists primarilgxgfense relating to the promotion,
distribution and sale of products, including royakpense, salaries and related costs.

(g) Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold consists principally of tlstdo acquire each unit of product sold. Cost
of products sold also includes expense associatbdive write-off of slow moving or expired
product.

(r) Earnings per Share

The Company accounts for earnings per share irrdanoe with SFAS No. 12&arnings per
Share. Basic earnings per share is calculated by digidiet income by the weighted-average
number of shares outstanding. Except where thdtesuld be antidilutive to income from
continuing operations, diluted earnings per shaulculated by assuming the conversion of
convertible instruments and the elimination of tedbinterest expense, if any, the vesting of
unvested restricted stock and the exercise of giptibns and warrants, as well as their related
income tax benefits.

The following table reconciles the numerator areldenominator used to calculate diluted
earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2007 2008
Numerator:
Net income $ 4,404,45 4,044,380 4,766,24
Denominator
Weightec-average shares outstanc—basic 9,797,191 10,032,08 10,142,80
Convertible preferred stock shai 1,710,990 1,710,99 1,710,99
Dilutive effect of other securitie 4,94593. 4,838,82" 4,685,86!
Weightec-average shares outstanc—diluted 16,454,11 16,581,90 16,539,66

As of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, optioqmtohase 32,978, 35,230 and
57,397 shares of common stock, respectively, wetstanding but were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share becaweseffect would be antidilutive.

(s) Comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income was comprised solefyepincome for all periods presented.

(t) Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stegets in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles requires manageafgéhe Company to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities and disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the consdibfinancial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the
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period. Significant items subject to estimates asslmptions include those related to
chargebacks, rebates, discounts, credits for dasnaeluct and returns, the valuation and
determination of useful lives of intangible ass@td the rate such assets are amortized, the
realization of deferred tax assets and stock-besetpensation. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

(u) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cast @ash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities, revolvimg lof credit, long-term debt and other long-
term obligations. The carrying values for cash eash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approanfeit value due to their short-term nature.
The terms of the revolving line of credit and tedebt include variable interest rates, which
approximate current market rates.

(v) Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts were reclassified td@on to current year presentation. Accrued
interest is now included in other accrued liakaktin the consolidated balance sheet.

(w) Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141de€ey,Business Combinatiof{SFAS
141(R)). SFAS 141(R) relates to business combinatamd requires the acquirer to recognize
the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed apchamcontrolling interest in the acquiree at the
acquisition date measured at fair values on theisitipn date. This statement must be adopted
prospectively by the Company for all business coratibns occurring on or after January 1,
2009. Early adoption is not allowed. The impacadbption of SFAS 141(R) will depend on
future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160. Thiestent establishes accounting and
reporting standards for the noncontrolling intefest subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of
a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrollingerest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in
the consolidated entity that should be reporteeqasty in the consolidated financial
statements. It also requires consolidated restibp@rations to include amounts attributable to
both the parent and noncontrolling interest, widtlbsure on the consolidated statement of
operations of the amounts attributable to the gaaed noncontrolling interest. The statement
also requires that equity transactions by and betveach party be accounted for as equity
transactions unless the parent company losesntsadling interest in the subsidiary. In the
event the parent company loses its controllingréste the investment in the subsidiary will be
adjusted to fair value, and a gain or loss on itmaesat will be recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations. As discussed in NoteelCiiimpany’s ownership in CET is 85%. The
adoption of SFAS 160 will result in the allocatiofhfuture operating results, including losses,
to the noncontrolling interest of CET. In additithe Company’s consolidated balance sheet
and statement of shareholders’ equity will refl@etounts attributable to the noncontrolling
interest.

In December 2007, the FASB issued EITF Issue Nél,@¥counting for Collaborative
Arrangements Related to the Development and Conmlization of Intellectual Propert

(EITF 07-1), that prohibits companies from applythg equity method of accounting to
activities performed outside a separate legalyehijta virtual joint venture. Instead, revenues
and costs incurred with third parties in connectigti the collaborative arrangement shoulc
presented gross or net by the collaborators baseldeocriteria in EITF Issue

No. 9¢-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus BleinaAgent and other
applicable accounting literature. EITF 07-1 shdwddapplied to collaborative arrangements in
existence at the date of adoption using a modifitispective method that requires
reclassification in all periods presented for thasangements still in effect at the transition
date, unless

F-14






Table of Contents

Notes to consolidated financial statements

that application is impracticable. EITF 07-1 iseetive for the Company beginning on
January 1, 2009. The Company currently collaboratéscertain research institutions to
identify and pursue promising pre-clinical prograifise Company has negotiated rights to
develop and commercialize these product candid@tesadoption of EITF 07-1 is not
expected to have a material impact on the Compamyisolidated financial position or results
of operations.

(3) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the followinBecember 31:

Range of
useful lives 2007 2008
Computer hardware and softw: 3-5year $140,62: 162,51!
Office equipmen 3-15 year 30,72:  30,27¢
Furniture and fixture 5-10 year 246,20: 242,59:
Leasehold improvemen 3-15 years, or remaining lease tt  318,79¢ 331,55

736,34. 766,93¢
Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization (276,499 (334,520

$ 459,841 432,41

Depreciation expense, including amortization expastated to leasehold improvements,
during 2006, 2007 and 2008 was approximately $&8,601,000 and $95,000, respectively,
and is included in general and administrative expéan the consolidated statements of income.

(4) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consisted of the following atéeber 31:

2007 2008

Trademark: $  46,98¢ 46,98¢
Less accumulated amortizati (35,68:) (40,377
Total trademark 11,30¢ 6,61°F
License 10,303,59 10,303,59
Less accumulated amortizati (1,202,08)) (1,888,99)
Total license 9,101,500 8,414,60!
Patents 40,93¢ 107,51:

$ 9,153,75. 8,528,73.

Amortization expense related to trademarks andhéeaights totaled approximately $692,000
in 2007 and 2008, and is expected to be approxlyn®690,000 in each of the years 2009
through 2013.

In April 2006, the Company acquired the exclusiv& Ltommercialization rights (product
license) for Kristalos@ from Inalco Biochemicals, Inc. and Inalco S.p.Aollectively Inalco)
for $10,303,595. This amount included cash paithereffective date of the agreement of
$6,500,000, discounted future obligations tota#8¢823,937 due in April 2007 and April
2009, and acquisition costs of $13,775, and i®h#te fair value of services received by the
Company in 2006 of $34,117 under a transition
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service agreement. The fair value of these servieesexpensed over the transition period in
2006 and was included in selling and marketing agps. In April 2007, the Company made
installment payment of $1,500,000 (inclusive of $4@0 of imputed interest). In April 2008,
the Company amended its agreement and paid theémegnabligation related to the purchase
of the Kristalose rights. The terms of the amendrpeovided for an 8% discount on the
$3,000,000 face value of the obligation for a retmpent of $2,760,000.

(5) OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Other accrued liabilities consisted of the follog/iat December 31:

2007 2008
Rebates, fee for services, and product ret $ 738,36. 1,040,20.
Employee wages and bene! 664,51( 707,63¢
Costs related to initial public offerir 359,66: 196,74t
Outside sales force and related expel 332,77 181,14(
Other 533,13! 515,12

$2,628,45. 2,640,85!

(6) LONG-TERM DEBT

In April 2006, the Company completed its transattidth Inalco to acquire exclusive

U.S. commercialization rights for Kristalo8e In order to complete this transaction, funding
was obtained from Bank of America in the form dheee-year term loan for $5,500,000 and a
two-year revolving line of credit agreement, both vathinterest rate of LIBOR plus 2.5%. 7
term loan was due in 2009, and was being paidhaodjuiarterly principal installments of
$458,334, plus interest. In April 2008, the Compamended its revolving line of credit
agreement to extend the maturity date to April 2009

On December 30, 2008, the Company amended itsadeeéments (Third Amended and
Restated Loan Agreement) to provide for $5.0 millod term debt and up to $7.5 million un
its revolving line of credit, both with an intereste of LIBOR plus an applicable margin
(4.42% at December 31, 2008) based on the Compéuesage ratio, as defined in the
agreement. For the first five business days dfieidate of the amended agreement, the
availability under the revolving line of credit whimited to $2.0 million. These agreements
expire in December 2011. The term loan is being péiin quarterly installments of $416,6¢
plus interest, beginning April 2009. The Companysitrpay an annual commitment feelét

of 1% on the unused portion of the commitment. @itealit agreement provides that borrowi
are collateralized by a first priority lien on afithe Company’s assets. The credit agreement
contains an adverse subjective acceleration clandealso requires the Company to maintain
bank accounts and a lockbox at the lender. Howeash received in the lockbox is not
required to be applied against amounts borroweeine line of credit. This credit agreement
contains various covenants and the Company wasnpkiance with all covenants at
December 31, 2008.

In conjunction with the original agreements, therany issued warrants to purchase up to
3,958 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$8.00 per share, which expire in April
2016 and are outstanding and exercisable as offle®e31, 2008. The estimated grant-date
fair value of these warrants of $25,680, as deteechiusing the Black-Scholes model utilizing
an expected term of 10 years, risk-free interast@f4.89%, volatility of 60%, and 0%
dividend yield, was recorded in the
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accompanying consolidated financial statementgjagyeand deferred financing costs.
Deferred financing costs are a component of othseta, and are being expensed to interest
expense using the effective-interest method owerdbpective terms of the line of credit and
term note.

Payments due on all long-term debt obligations ¢tvemext five years are as follows:

Year ending December 3

2009 $1,250,001
2010 1,666,66:
2011 3,909,28:
2012 —
2013 —

$6,825,95.

(7) OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Other long-term obligations consisted of the folilogvcomponents at December 31.:

2007 2008
Deferred purchase price, net of discount of $250 $2,749,09 —
Third-party development cos 615,84t 615,84¢
Other 182,05! 224,55t

3,546,99 840,40:
Less current portio (410,42 (457,91H

$3,136,57. 382,48

In connection with the acquisition of the exclusoammercialization rights for Kristalo$g

the Company deferred a portion of the purchasepfibe final payment of $3.0 million was
due in April 2009. The discount was imputed at %3 the acquisition date, and was being
accreted using the effective-interest method. Inl&®N08, the Company amended its
agreement and paid the remaining obligation reledgde purchase of Kristalose. The terms of
the amendment provided for an 8% discount on the Bllion face value of the obligation for
a net payment of $2.76 million.

During 2000, the Company signed an agreement wiitliré party to cover a variety of
development efforts related to a specific pharmtécaiudrug, including preparation of
submissions to the FDA. In accordance with the emgent, the Company was billed, and the
Company expensed, approximately $1.0 million duthrgfiscal years 2001 through 2003. As
of December 31, 2008, the Company has paid appeigign$0.6 million of this balance and
accrued the remaining balance of approximately #tldon. The remaining balance is due in
the following timeframe: (a) approximately $0.2 lioih due no later than the submission and
acceptance for review of a new drug application ) the FDA and (b) approximately

$0.2 million due no later than FDA approval. Ther@any is in the process of completing the
requisite steps believed necessary to obtain aaeeptof its NDA. As such, the amount
specified in (a) is recognized as a current portibather long-term obligations in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The bpecified in (b) is reflected as an other
long-term obligation in the accompanying consokdabalance sheet. If neither the submission
of the FDA application nor FDA approval occurs do¢he Company terminating the project,
the $0.4 million will become due and payable anlll adcrue interest at 12.5% until paid.

The agreement also calls for contingent payments gprtain milestones. Upon meeting the
first milestone, acceptance for review of a newgdepplication and FDA acceptance of the
submission for
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review, a contingent payment of approximately $@ition will become due and payable.
Upon meeting the second milestone, FDA approvedrdingent payment of approximately
$1.0 million will become due and payable as folloaygproximately $0.8 million immediately
and approximately $0.2 million in twelve monthlystallments starting on the date the
milestone is met. Since the payment of the secalebtone is contingent on specific events
that may or may not occur in the future, and whiakie not occurred or are deemed probak
occurring as of December 31, 2008, the contingehtlity for this milestone has not been
recognized in the consolidated financial statements

In connection with the aforementioned agreemeastthird party will have the ability to vest in
60,000 options if FDA approval occurs within 13 rifenafter the NDA is accepted for review.
If approval occurs between 14 and 15 months aftee@ance for review, the third party will
vest in 30,000 options. If approval occurs betw&grand 18 months after acceptance, the third
party will vest in 15,000 options. No options wi#st after 18 months. The exercise price of
these options is $1.63. Because vesting for thegens is contingent on FDA approval, which
may or may not occur, the expense for these optiassnot been accounted for in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

(8) INCOME TAXES

Income tax benefit (expense) includes the followdoghponents:

2006 2007 2008

Current:
Federa $ (121,359 (543,11Y) (1,593,86))
State (15,429 (100,07) (266,177
(136,780 (643,199 (1,860,03)

Deferred:
Federa 2,861,85' (1,646,20) (571,119
State (28,55f) (134,859 (112,800

2,833,30. (1,781,06) (683,919
$2,696,511 (2,424,26) (2,543,95)

The Company'’s deferred tax benefit for 2006 wagésalt of a combination of the utilization
of deferred tax assets and a change in judgmentt de realizability of deferred tax assets.
The deferred tax expense in 2007 was primarilyréisalt of the utilization of the deferred tax
assets from federal and state net operating losgfaavards. The deferred tax expense for
2008 was primarily due to the utilization of detmitax assets from federal tax credit
carryforwards.
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The deferred income tax benefit (expense) is casvdrof the following components for the
years ended December

2006 2007 2008
Deferred tax benefit (expense) exclusive of comptse
listed below $(232,39() 420,94! 202,98
Benefits of operating loss carryforwai 764,49 (2,002,95) (248,65))
Benefits of tax credit carryforwart (55,239 (191,19) (626,95¢)
Change in valuation allowance due to changes in net
deferred tax asset balanc (476,87) (7,867 (11,29)
Adjustments to the valuation allowance due to
circumstances that caused a change in judgment ak
the realizability of the related deferred tax asset
future years 2,833,30 — —
Deferred income tax benefit (expen $2,833,30- (1,781,06) (683,914

In 2006, the Company reduced the valuation allowanc$2,833,304 since additional positive
evidence suggested that the majority of the dedaar assets would be utilized in future years.
The valuation allowance at December 31, 2007 af@ 20 primarily related to state tax
benefits at CET that will likely not be realized.

The Company’s effective income tax rate for 200#)2and 2008 reconciles with the federal
statutory tax rate as follows:

2006 2007 2008

Federal tax expense at statutory | (B4% (34)% (39)%
State income tax benefit (net of federal incometamefit) (2 3 4
Permanent difference — D 2
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax bene — — 4
Other — 1 1
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allow: 194 — —
Net income tax benefit (expens 156% (3% (35%

Components of the net deferred tax assets at DesreBibare as follows:

2007 2008

Net operating loss and tax crec $ 999,66! 125,62¢
Property and equipme 148,50. 123,22
Allowance for accounts receivak 54,29: 55,42¢
Reserve for expired produ 119,30¢  239,79(
Rebate liability 38,32¢ —
Inventory 41¢€ —
Deferred charge 294,76: 394,46
Cumulative compensation costs incurred on nondedlidptions 583,35{  627,47¢
Total deferred tax asse 2,238,631 1,566,01:
Less deferred tax asset valuation allowe (47,479 (58,770
Net deferred tax asse $2,191,15° 1,507,24.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ssseanagement considers whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the eleéd tax assets will not be realized. The
ultimate realization of
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deferred tax assets is dependent upon the geneddtfature taxable income during the peri

in which those temporary differences become deblectManagement considers the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projecteduiie taxable income and tax planning strategi
making this assessment. In order to fully reallmedeferred tax assets, the Company will need
to generate future taxable income of approximas@ly million prior to the expiration of the

net operating loss carryforwards in 2023. Taxaht®ime for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2007 and 2008 was approximately $2.1 millgmb million and $7.0 million,
respectively. Based upon the level of taxable inea@wver the last three years and projections
for future taxable income over the periods in whioh deferred tax assets are deductible,
management believes it is more likely than not thatCompany will realize the benefits of
these deductible differences, net of the existialgation allowances, at December 31, 2008.
The amount of the deferred tax asset considerdidabke, however, could be reduced in the
near term if estimates of future taxable incomerduthe carryforward period are reduced.

The federal and state net operating loss carryfatsvaill expire as follows:

Year of expiration: Federal State
2015— 2017 $ — 499,03
2018— 2020 — 1,863,55:
2021— 2023 — 529,19!

$ — 2,891,778

The Company’s cumulative unrecognized benefitaatidry 1, 2007, net of federal benefits,
were $357,178. The nature of these unrecognizeefi@did not result in any accrual of
interest and penalties. The tax benefits relateidse amounts had been previously reserved
under the provisions of SFAS 5. Therefore, the datiwe unrecognized benefits existing at
January 1, 2007 did not result in an adjustmebetginning retained earnings. SFAS 5 rese
were evaluated under FIN 48 standards, and welasssd as the beginning of period
unrecognized tax benefits.

Changes in the balance of unrecognized tax berkfiing 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

Federal State
Unrecognized Unrecognized
Gross Benefits Benefit Total
Unrecognized tax benefits, January 1, 2 $ 357,17¢ 357,17¢ — 357,17¢
Increase from current period tax positic 21,55¢ 21,55¢ —  21,55¢
Unrecognized tax benefits, December 31,
2007 378,73t 378,73t — 378,73t
Decrease for tax positions related to pric
years (21,55% (21,55%) — (21,559
Decrease due to settlement with taxing
authority (357,179 (357,179 — (357,179
Unrecognized tax benefits, December 3:
2008 $ = = = =

If the total amount of unrecognized tax benefitsewecognized in the computation of income
tax expense for 2007, the effective tax rate waolgidrease by 6%.

In determining the unrecognized tax benefits adexdember 31, 2007 and 2008, the Company
evaluated its tax positions for all years that riensabject to examination by the taxing
authorities. In the first quarter of 2008, the intd Revenue Service (IRS) completed its
examinations of the U.S. income tax returns for280d 2006, and as a result the Company
effectively settled $357,178 of the previously wugnized tax benefits.
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Federal tax years that remain open to examinatier2@07 and 2008. State tax years that
remain open to examination are 2004 to 2008.

(9) SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(a) Stock Split

On July 6, 2007, the Board of Directors declarég@for-one stock split of the Company’s
common stock effective on such date. All applicatdexmon stock share and per share
amounts have been retroactively adjusted in therapanying consolidated financial
statements for such stock split. In accordance thighanti-dilution provisions of the respective
agreements, the share and per share amounts &sdaeith the Company'’s stock option
grants, warrants and preferred stock conversiditgigeflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements have also bepistad to reflect the effects of the stock s

(b) Preferred Stock

The Company’s outstanding shares of preferred stookist of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock. These shareholders are entitled to vote théholders of common stock, as each
preferred share is entitled to the number of viitesholder would be entitled to if converted to
shares of common stock immediately prior to theev®hey are also entitled to receive
dividends on an equal basis with holders of comstonk on an if-converted equivalent.

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock sharemsldee entitled to receive a liquidation
preference $3.25 per share in the event of theldissn, liquidation or winding up of the
Company. If assets are insufficient to permit fidyment, preferred shareholders are entitle
a ratable distribution of the available assetstdPred shares are convertible, at the option ¢
holder, at any time after issuance at the ratevofgshares of common stock for each share of
preferred stock. The preferred stock will autonratycbe converted into common stock in the
event of an underwritten public offering of the Quany’s common stock or in the event of a
consolidation, merger or sale of substantiallyolhe assets of the Company. In addition,
preferred shareholders are entitled to adjustmietiteoratio of conversion of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock into common stock ttuce dilution in the event that the
Company issued additional equity securities atralmse price of less than $3.25 per share.

The Company is also authorized to issue an additi®® 000,000 shares of preferred stock.
The Board of Directors is authorized to divide #hebkares into classes or series, and to fix and
determine the relative rights, preferences, qualifons and limitations of the shares of any
class or series so established.

(c) Common Stock

During 2006, 2007 and 2008, the Company issuedl87 5,236 and 7,961 shares of common
stock, respectively, valued at $273,000, $223,6@D%107,000, respectively, to executives,
related parties, and advisors as compensatiorefeicgs, and is included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated staitsyt# income. Included in these amounts
are shares of common stock granted to board memb&r818, 11,036 and 3,461 in 2006,
2007 and 2008, respectively, for services rendérbd.expense associated with these grants to
board members was approximately $249,000, $1213660545,000 in 2006, 2007 and 2008,
respectively. In addition, the Company issued 36,38,304 and 87,142 net shares of com
stock to key executives and an advisor, who exedoigptions in 2006, 2007 and 2008,
respectively.
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In April 2007, the shareholders approved an amemnditoethe Company’s charter, which
increased the number of authorized shares to 10@00. Additionally, the Third Amended
and Restated Loan Agreement prohibits the Compamy fleclaring and paying a cash
dividend.

(d) Warrants

In 2003, the Company issued a stock purchase waogmurchase 25,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $6.00 per share digipeonsideration for a modification to its [i
of credit. The warrants expire 10 years from thie dd issuance. All of these warrants were
outstanding and exercisable as of December 31,.2008

In connection with the issuance of shares of stockrelated party in 2004, the Company
issued a stock purchase warrant to purchase 48tt41@s of stock at $6.00 per share at any
time within ten years of issuance. All of these raats were outstanding and exercisable as of
December 31, 2008.

In 2006, the Company signed a new line of credieament along with a term loan agreement
with a financial institution. In conjunction withése agreements, the Company issued warrants
to purchase up to 3,958 shares of common stoc8.60%er share, which expire in April 2016,
and are outstanding and exercisable as of Dece®1h@008. The estimated fair value of these
warrants of $25,680, as determined using the B&atkeles model utilizing an expected terr

10 years, risk-free interest rate of 4.89%, vatgtidf 60%, and 0% dividend yield, has been
recorded in the accompanying consolidated finarst@kements as equity and deferred

financing costs, a component of other assets.

(e) Share Repurchase

On December 12, 2008, the Board of Directors aighdrthe Company to repurchase up to
384,615 shares of common stock at $13.00 per sBar&®ecember 30, 2008, the Company
completed its $5.0 million repurchase of commorlstén connection with the repurchase,
42,746 shares of preferred stock were converteddt{492 shares of common stock. The
repurchase was financed, in part, by additionaldwings under its term debt with Bank of
America. See Note 6 for additional discussion eftérm debt.

(10) STOCK OPTIONS

The Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. 1999 Stocko@®ian (the 1999 Plan) that included
both incentive stock options and nonqualified stopkons to be granted to employees,
officers, consultants, directors and affiliateglef Company was superseded and replaced by
the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan Z0@7 Plan) and 2007 Directors’
Incentive Plan (the Directors’ Plan). The new pleese approved by the Company’s board of
directors and shareholders in April 2007. The impatation of the new plans did not result in
a modification of the terms and conditions of thistanding awards granted under the 1999
Plan that would result in the awards being treatedn exchange of the original award for a
new award.

The purposes of the 2007 Plan are to encouragédhepany’s employees and consultants to
acquire stock and other equity-based interests@neplace the 1999 Plan. The Company has
reserved 2.4 million shares of common stock fanasge under the 2007 Plan.

The purposes of the Directors’ Plan are to strestgthe Company’ ability to attract, motivat:
and retain Directors of experience and ability, Bmdncourage the highest level of
performance by providing Directors with a proprigtanterest in the Company’s financial
success and growth. The Directors’ Plan supersaugseplaces the provisions pertaining to
grants of stock options to Directors
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in the 1999 Plan, but does not impair the vestingx@rcise of any options granted under the
1999 Plan. The Company has reserved 250,000 shiacesnmon stock under the Directors’
Plan.

Incentive stock options must be granted at an ésesprice not less than the fair market value
of the common stock on the grant date. The optipasted to shareholders owning more than
10% of the common stock on the grant date mustréeted at an exercise price not less than
110% of fair market value of the common stock anghant date.

The options are exercisable on the dates estadlisheach grant; however, options granted to
officers or directors are not exercisable untikaist six months after grant date. The maximum
exercise life of an option is ten years from grdette and is five years for stock options issued
to shareholders who own 10% or more of the Compaoginmon stock. Vesting is determir

on a grant-by-grant basis in accordance with thagef the plans and the related grant
agreements.

Stock option activity for the three-year period edddecember 31, 2008 was as follows:

Weighted -
average
exercise

Number of price
shares per share

Options outstanding, December 31, 2! 8,308,801 $ 1.3/

Options grante:

Options exercise

Options expiret

Options forfeitec

Options outstanding, December 31, 2!
Options grante:

Options exercise

Options forfeitec

Options outstanding, December 31, 2!
Options grante:

Options exercise

Options forfeitec

Options outstanding, December 31, 2!

95,95( 9.1¢
(38,969  0.9€

(9,000  9.0C
(313,83) 2.5
8,042,95 1.3t
90,92(  11.0C

(223,87  2.3¢
(23,246 8.3t
7,886,75: 1.42
134,100  13.2¢
(105,049  0.9¢

(4,81)) 7.87
7,910,98 1.6t

Of the options outstanding at December 31, 20087 20hd 2008, 4,783,728, 4,771,420 and
4,795,420, respectively, were options issued teyagkecutive.
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The following table summarizes information concegnoutstanding options as of
December 31, 2008:

Number Weighted -
outstanding Remaining average Aggregate
Range of and expected contractual exercise intrinsic

Year exercise prices to vest life (in years) price value
1999 $0.1(-0.11 835,05¢ 0.0t $ 0.11 $10,766,37
1999 0.5C-0.55 4,602,75! 0.7¢ 0.5¢ 57,329,62
2000 0.93 85,15¢ 1.51 0.9¢ 1,027,85
2001 1.63 781,36¢ 2.2C 1.6 8,884,13
2002 1.63 311,90¢ 3.0¢ 1.65 3,546,39
2002 3.1:-3.50 14,64+ 3.52 3.1t 144,31(
2003 3.1:-6.00 481,75: 4.31 4.07  4,302,89.
2004 6.0(-6.60 256,57( 5.2¢ 6.01 1,793,95
2005 6.00-9.00 251,30 5.11 6.5C 1,632,52!
2006 9.0(-9.90 66,45( 6.0C 9.27 247,80(
2007 11.00 89,92( 8.0¢ 11.0C 179,84(
2008 13.0(-14.30 134,10( 8.4¢ 13.2¢ —

7,910,98I $89,855,69

The following table summarizes information concagnéxercisable options as of
December 31, 2008:

Weighted -
Remaining average Aggregate
Range of Options contractual exercise intrinsic

Year exercise prices exercisable life (in years) price value
1999 $0.1¢-0.11 835,05¢ 0.0t $ 0.11 $10,766,37
1999 0.5¢-0.55 4,602,75! 0.7¢ 0.5¢ 57,329,62
2000 0.93 85,15¢ 1.51 0.9 1,027,85
2001 1.63 781,36¢ 2.2C 1.6 8,884,13
2002 1.63 311,90¢ 3.0¢ 1.65 3,546,39
2002 3.1:-3.50 14,64« 3.52 3.1t 144,31(
2003 3.15-6.00 481,75 4.31 4.07 4,302,89
2004 6.0(-6.60 256,57( 5.2¢ 6.01 1,793,955
2005 6.0(-9.00 158,14 4.5¢€ 6.8( 980,40¢
2006 9.0(-9.90 54,55( 6.12 9.2t 204,70(
2007 11.00 55,26( 8.0¢ 11.0C 110,52(
2008 13.0(-14.30 35,86¢ 8.5: 13.2i —

7,673,03 $89,091,15

The fair value of employee options granted duri@§e&, 2007 and 2008 were estimated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and thedieihg assumptions:

2006 2007 2008
Dividend yield — — —
Expected term (year: 3-7 5.5-6.4 3.5-6.C
Expected volatility 47%-54% 58%-64% 49%-51%
Risk-free interest rat 4.68%-5.08% 4.6%-4.8% 3.1%
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The fair value of nonemployee options granted adu#i@06, 2007 and 2008 were estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model aralftilowing assumptions:

2006 2007 2008

Dividend yield — — —
Expected term (year: 0.1%-10 10 10
Expected volatility 37%-63% 74% 68%
Risk-free interest rat 4.34%-4.42% 4.83% 3.7%

The Company determined the expected life of em@®jare options based on the simplified
method allowed by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin @&No. 107, as amended by SAB

No. 110. Under this approach, the expected temnasumed to be the average betweer
weighted-average vesting period and the contratéwal. The expected term for options
granted to nonemployees is generally the contrattua of the option. The expected volatility
over the term of the respective option was basetth®wolatility of similar publicly-traded
entities. In evaluating similarity, the Company sigiered factors such as industry, stage of life
cycle, size, and financial leverage. The risk-irgerest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury
Note, Stripped Principal, on the date of grant witterm substantially equal to t
corresponding option’s expected term. The Compasyrtever declared or paid any cash
dividends and does not presently plan to pay castieshds in the foreseeable future.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of sbptiens granted during the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 was approxim@te8b, $7.21 and $6.27, respectively.
Upon exercise, the Company issues new sharesak. Sdarring the years ended December 31,
2006, 2007 and 2008, the aggregate intrinsic valwptions exercised was $0.4 million,

$1.9 million and $1.2 million, respectively, deténed as of the date of option exercise.

Stock compensation expense is presented as a cempafiigeneral and administrative
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statsméiricome. At December 31, 2008, th
was approximately $0.9 million of unrecognized cemgation cost related to share-based
payments, which is expected to be recognized operiad of four years. This amount relates
primarily to unrecognized compensation cost for yges.

The Company issued a total of 24,000, 14,000 a8sl02stock options to nonemployees for
services rendered by these individuals in 2006720@1 2008, respectively, as compensation
for assisting the Company’s management and supgoofierations. The amount of
compensation expense recorded for such servicespaseximately $38,000, $94,000 and
$59,000 in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Sxgense is presented as a component of
general and administrative expenses.

(11) LEASES

The Company is obligated under lotegm real estate leases for office space expiringuaous
times through December 2011. The Company also asédea portion of the space under these
leases. Rent expense is recognized over the expiecta of the lease, including renewal op
periods, if applicable, on a straight-line basisnRexpense for 2006, 2007 and 2008 was
approximately $286,000, $388,000 and $526,000 ectsely, and sublease income was
approximately $71,000, $77,000 and $170,000, reiygde Future minimum lease payments,
including renewal option periods
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for which the Company is expected to exercise, undacancelable operating leases (with
initial or remaining lease terms in excess of oearyare:

Year ending December 3

2009 $ 590,43
2010 559,11
2011 137,78:
2012 93,48:
2013 and thereaft 297,60:

Total minimum lease paymer $1,678,40i

(12) MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY AGREEMENTS

The Company utilizes one primary supplier to maatufie each of its products and product
candidates. In February 2008, the Company entatechn agreement with a second suppli
Acetadote. The agreement for the second suppl@resxin February 2013. Although there are
a limited number of manufacturers of pharmaceuficatiucts, management believes that they
could utilize other suppliers to manufacture théscription products on comparable terms. A
change in suppliers, any problems with such manwufag operations or capacity, or contract
disputes with the suppliers, however, could caudelay in manufacturing and a possible loss
of sales, which would adversely affect operatirgutes.

The Company’s manufacturing and supply agreemeitlstiie manufacturers of its products
contain minimum purchase obligations. These olibigatrequire the Company to purchase
approximately $2.8 million during 2009, $3.1 mitialuring 2010 and $2.4 million during
2011. Beginning in October 2011 and continuing tigiothe life of the agreement, which
expires in 2021, one of the manufacturing and supgteements requires minimum purchases
of not less than 65% of the average purchasescim &ahe three immediately preceding
annual periods. The Company met its purchase dldigafor 2008 under these agreements.

(13) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company outsources some of its sales forceitiesi through an agreement with a third
party. Under the terms of the agreement, the Cognpakes monthly payments to the third
party of approximately $443,000 for these actigiti€he agreement expires in 2010. Shoulc
Company not continue to receive these services fhasrthird party, the Company would have
to consider an alternative source such as ano#ineice organization or hiring an internal sales
force.

In connection with its manufacturing and supplyesgnent for Acetadote and its licensing
agreement for Kristalose, the Company is requiogably a royalty based on net sales over the
life of the contract. Royalty expense is recogniaeé component of selling and marketing
expense in the period that revenue is recognized.

(14) EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

The Company has entered into employment agreemathists full-time and part-time
employees. Each employment agreement providesdalaay basis for services performed, a
potential annual bonus and, if applicable, a godimicentive options to purchase the
Company’s common shares pursuant to an option agnete Two of the employment
agreements address expense reimbursements
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for relevant and applicable licenses and contineihgcation. Employment agreements are
amended each successive one-year period, unlesisnaded.

(15) MARKET CONCENTRATIONS

The Company currently focuses on acquiring, devethmand commercializing branded
prescription products for the acute care and gastevology markets. The Compasyirincipa
financial instruments subject to potential concatiin of credit risk are accounts receivable,
which are unsecured, and cash equivalents. The @ayigocash equivalents consist primarily
of money market funds. Certain bank deposits maiyregs be in excess of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits.

The Company’s primary customers are wholesale pheentical distributors in the U.S. Total
revenues from customers representing 10% or mor@aifrevenues for the respective years
are summarized as follows:

2006 2007 2008

Customer 1 22% 35% 37%
Customer ¢ 20 26 25
Customer & 25 31 31

Additionally, 92% and 93% of the Company’s accoueteivable balances were due from
these three customers at December 31, 2007 and 28@fctively.

(16) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company sponsors an employee benefit plamthsiestablished on January 1, 2006, the
Cumberland Pharmaceuticals 401(k) Plan (the Plarger Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for the beridit @mployees over the age of 21, having
been employed by the Company for at least six nsrithe Plan provides that participants 1
contribute up to the maximum amount of their congagion as set forth by the Internal
Revenue Service each year. Employee contributimmggested in various investment funds
based upon elections made by the employees. Thaeewe contributions made by the
Company to the Plan in 2006, 2007 or 2008. In 2@®8 Companys board of directors adopt

a plan to match 20% of the first 5% of participarghnual deferrals to the Plan. The match is
expected to be paid in the first quarter of 2009.

(17) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Unaudited)

In January 2009, two executives exercised optiomitchase 734,080 shares of common ¢
with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.14spare. Options were exercised using a net-
share settlement feature that provided for theoogtiolder to use 204,245 shares acquired
exercise to settle the minimum statutory tax witdhray requirements of approximately

$2.7 million. The Company obtained a waiver frora kander for violations of certain
covenants in the Third Amended and Restated Loaeréekgent resulting from this transaction.
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Schedule ll—valuation and qualifying accounts

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance at Charged to Charged to

beginning of costs and other accounts — Deductions — Balance at

Description period expenses describe describe @ end of period

December 31, 2007 and 2008
Allowance for uncollectible amounts
cash discounts, chargebacks, anc
credits issued for damaged produ
For the period ende:

December 31, 20C $ 184,33 1,152,92 — (1,038,34) 298,91:
December 31, 20C 298,91: 1,184,71. — (1,336,65) 146,97
December 31, 200 146,97: 1,242,30! — (1,242,221 147,04¢
Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets

For the period ender
December 31, 20C $ 3,349,78 (3,310,17) @ — — 39,61
December 31, 20C 39,61 7,861 — — 47,47¢
December 31, 20C 47,47¢ 11,29 — — 58,77(

(1) Write-off of uncollectible accounts, net of recaest, discounts, chargebacks, and credits
taken by customer

(2) Includes a $2,833,304 reduction in the valuatidovance reflecting the Company’s belief
that the future recognition of this amount of deddrtax assets is more likely than not.
Remaining decrease is due to the utilization oédefl tax asset
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Condensed consolidated balance sheets

(Unaudited)
December 31, March 31,
2008 2009
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 11,829,55 10,072,27
Accounts receivable, net of allowanc 3,129,34" 3,397,23!
Inventories 1,762,771  1,346,82i
Prepaid and other current ass 481,31 278,37(
Income taxes receivab — 2,019,26:
Deferred tax asse 507,21: 507,21:
Total current asse 17,710,19 17,621,18
Property and equipment, r 432,41 424,89¢
Intangible assets, n 8,528,73. 8,372,13.
Deferred tax asse 1,000,03: 1,000,03:
Other asset 3,447,81. 3,567,60.
Total asset $ 31,119,18 30,985,84
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of lon-term debi $ 1,250,000 1,666,66
Current portion of other loi-term obligation: 457,91! 48,84(
Accounts payabl 3,257,16: 2,296,38!
Other accrued liabilitie 2,640,85! 2,346,87!
Total current liabilities 7,605,93. 6,358,77:
Revolving line of credi 1,825,95. 1,825,95:
Long-term debt, excluding current portir 3,750,000 3,333,33:
Other lon-term obligations, excluding current porti 382,48" 385,76:
Total liabilities 13,564,37. 11,903,81
Commitments and contingenci
Redeemable common sto — 630,00(

Shareholder’ equity:
Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. shareho’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock — no par value; 3,000,8hares authorized,;
812,749 shares issued and outstan 2,604,071 2,604,071
Common stock — no par value, 100,000,000 sharémerned; 9,903,047 and
10,465,693Y shares issued and outstanding as of Decembe088,&hd

March 31, 2009, respective 13,500,03 13,191,39
Retained earninc 1,450,71. 2,668,80.
Total shareholde’ equity 17,554,81 18,464,26'
Noncontrolling interest — (12,239
Total equity 17,554,81 18,452,03
Total liabilities and equit $ 31,119,18 30,985,84

(1) Number of shares issued and outstanding represhshares of common stock regardless of classidia on the
consolidated balance sheet. The number of shamesieémable common stock at March 31, 2009 wa$4¢

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensedlioatsd financial statements.
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Condensed consolidated statements of income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2008 2009
Net revenue $ 8,303,82° 9,404,59

Costs and expense
Cost of products sol 755,49: 733,21¢
Selling and marketin 3,364,000 4,140,18
Research and developm 1,109,94. 770,11°
General and administrati\ 1,083,09- 1,444,86.
Amortization of product license rig| 171,72¢ 171,72¢
Other 26,02¢ 27,460
Total costs and expens 6,510,28! 7,287,57.
Operating incom: 1,793,53° 2,117,02!
Interest incom 82,37: 17,59¢
Interest expens (113,604 (97,71)
Net income before income tax 1,762,300 2,036,91!
Income tax expens (367,05 (831,059
Net income 1,395,250 1,205,85:
Net loss at subsidiary attributable to noncontngllinterest: — 12,23¢
Net income attributable to common sharehol $ 1,395,265 1,218,09
Earnings per share attributable to common sharers— basic ~ $ 0.14 0.12
Earnings per share attributable to common sharers— diluted $ 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Weightec-average shares outstand— basic 10,093,83 10,321,17
Weightec-average shares outstand— diluted 16,411,67 16,127,24

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensedlictated financial statements.

F-30




Table of Contents

Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed consolidated statements of changes in
equity and comprehensive income

(Unaudited)
Cumberland Pharmaceuticals Inc. Shareholders Non-
Preferred stock Common stock Retained controlling Total
Shares Amount Shares Amount earnings interests equity
Balance, December 31, 20 812,74¢ $2,604,07( 9,903,04" $13,500,03 $1,450,71. $17,554,81
Issuance of common stock for
services receive 1,75C 24,60( 24,60(
Stock options granted for
services receive 13,16( 13,16(

Exercise of options and relat

tax benefit, net of mature

shares redeemed for the

exercise price and statutory

tax withholdings 564,91 191,93¢ 191,93¢
Stock-based compensation -

employee stock option

grants 143,90: 143,90:
Repurchase of common sha (4,01¢) (52,239 (52,239
Net and comprehensiy

income 1,218,091 (12,239 1,205,85:
Reclass of redeemable

common stocl (630,000 (630,000
Balance, March 31, 20( 812,74¢ $2,604,07! 10,465,69 $13,191,39 $2,668,80. $ (12,23¢) $18,452,03

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensedlioatsd financial statements.
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Condensed consolidated statements of cash flows

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2008 2009

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $ 1,395,251 1,205,85
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net casivdifrom
operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expel 195,13. 196,05¢
Deferred tax expens 168,47¢ —
Nonemployee equity compensati 27,50( 37,76(
Stocl-based compensati— employee stock optior 66,15: 143,90:
Excess tax benefit derived from exercise of stqutions (2,842,82)
Noncash interest expen 58,70: 14,25¢
Net changes in assets and liabilities affecting-afeg
activities:
Accounts receivabl (544,12() (267,899
Inventory (224,690  415,94¢
Prepaid, other current assets and other a 62,25¢ 955,16¢
Accounts payable, accrued interest and other adcrue
liabilities 672,14. (1,187,55)
Other lon¢-term obligations (6,95%) (405,80
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi 1,869,84 (1,735,13)
Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property and equipme (33,199 (15,607
Additions to patent (12,946 (16,345
Net cash used in investment activit (46,13%) (31,946
Cash flows from financing activitie
Costs of initial public offering (267,53() (114,429
Principal payments on note paya (458,339) —
Costs of financing for lor-term debt and credit facilit — (15,47%)
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir — 4,29¢
Excess tax benefit derived from exercise of stqutions — 2,842,82!
Payments made in connection with repurchase of comshare! — (2,707,41)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (725,86¢) 9,79¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 1,097,83" (1,757,27)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 10,814,51 11,829,55
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $11,912,35 10,072,27

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year f
Interest $ 77,58¢ 33,517
Income taxe: 138,48! 80,00(
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expehsetabd
public offering — 5,311

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensedlictated financial statements.
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Notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
(Unaudited)

(1) BASIS OF PRESENTATION

In the opinion of management, the accompanying ditedi condensed consolidated financial
statements (“condensed consolidated financialrsatés™) of Cumberland Pharmaceuticals
Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Compaor “Cumberland”) have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the December 31, 2008 edidibnsolidated financial statements and
include all adjustments, consisting of only normesdurring adjustments, necessary to fairly
present the information set forth herein. All sfgr@int intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. The conddrsasolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the regulatiotiseoSecurities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC"), and omit certain information and footnalisclosure necessary to present the
statements in accordance with U.S. generally aedemtcounting principles. These condensed
consolidated financial statements should be readmunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto for the grded December 31, 2008. The results of
operations for the first three months of 2009 arenecessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for the entire fiscal year or any futueaqu.

Total comprehensive income was comprised solehebfncome for the three months ended
March 31, 2008 and 2009.

Accounting Policies:

In preparing the condensed consolidated finantiéments in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, management musé megisions that impact the reported
amounts and the related disclosures. Such decisiohgle the selection of the appropriate
accounting principles to be applied and the assiompbn which to base accounting estimates.
In reaching such decisions, management appliesradts based on its understanding and
analysis of the relevant circumstances, histoegglerience, and other available information.
Actual amounts could differ from those estimatethattime the consolidated financial
statements are prepared.

Note 2 in the Compar's consolidated financial statements for the yemteel December 31,
2008 provides a summary of significant accountialicges followed in the preparation of the
condensed consolidated financial statements. Gologmotes in the Company’s 2008
consolidated financial statements describe varberments of the condensed consolidated
financial statements and the assumptions madetémdiming specific amounts.

Initial public offering costs of $3.5 million aradluded in non-current assets and will be
accounted for as a reduction of equity upon corigaiatf the initial public offering. If the
initial public offering is not completed, the offieg costs will be expensed. As of March 31,
2009, approximately $0.6 million of unpaid costeted to our initial public offering are
included in accounts payable and other accrueditiab.

(2) ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopteghtbeisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 16@ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB N@SHAS 160). This statement requires that
noncontrolling interests in a subsidiary be clasdifis a component of equity in the
consolidated balance sheet. In addition, the caoeeld results of operations must include
amounts attributable to both the parent and theaminolling interests. As of the date of
adoption of SFAS 160, the equity balance of the
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noncontrolling interests in Cumberland Emerginghiredogies, Inc. (CET), the Company’s
85%-owned subsidiary, had been reduced to zercdordance with SFAS 160, the operating
loss at CET for the three months ended March 309 2@as allocated between the Company
and the noncontrolling interests.

(3) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following tables reconcile the numerator areldenominator used to calculate diluted net
income per share for the three months ended MakcB@8 and 2009:

Three Months Ended March

31,
2008 2009
Numerator:
Net income attributable to common sharehol $ 1,395,250 $ 1,218,09
Denominator
Weightec-average shares outstand— basic 10,093,83 10,321,17
Convertible preferred stock shai 1,710,99 1,625,49
Dilutive effect of other securitie 4,606,85. 4,180,56
Weightec-average shares outstand— diluted 16,411,67 16,127,24

As of March 31, 2008 and 2009, options to purcl3s861 and 113,946 shares of common
stock, respectively, were outstanding but weremmtded in the computation of diluted EPS
because the effect would be antidilutive.

(4) SEGMENT REPORTING

We operate in one segment, specialty pharmacegtiodlicts. Management has chosen to
organize the Company based on the type of proddds All of the Company’s assets are
located in the United States. The Company had salesn-U.S. customers totaling $0 and
$0.7 million during the three month periods endeatdéh 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

The Company’s net revenues consisted of the foligufor the three months ended March 31,
2008 and 2009:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2008 2009

Products
Acetadote $5,799,48; $ 7,133,430
Kristalose 2,478,18: 2,228,61!
Other 26,16: 42 ,55¢
Total net revenue $ 8,303,822 $ 9,404,59!

(5) STOCK OPTIONS

In January 2009, two executives exercised optiomaitchase 730,680 shares of common ¢
with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.11spare. Options were exercised using a net-
share settlement
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feature that provided for an option holder to u8é,245 shares acquired upon exercise to settle
the minimum statutory tax withholding requiremeotspproximately $2.7 million. In

connection with these exercises, the Company ageesgpurchase up to $0.6 million in
common stock, acquired upon exercise, during tisé duarter of 2010 to provide for the
settlement of the remaining tax liabilities asstegdawith the exercise. The estimated repurc
amount is presented as redeemable common stobk itohdensed consolidated balance sheet.

As a result of the exercise of the nonqualifiedans, the Company recognized a tax benefit of
$2.8 million. The tax benefit was used to offset éstimated tax liability resulting from the
results of operations for the three months endetMa1, 2009. The remaining tax benefit of
approximately $2.0 million at March 31, 2009 is egfed to be used by the third quarter of
2009. Accordingly, the Company has recognizednierne tax receivable as a current asset in
the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

(6) COLLABORATIVE AGREEMENTS

The Company is a party to several collaborativaragements with certain research institutions
to identify and pursue promising pre-clinical phagautical product candidates. The Company
has determined these collaborative agreements tdmeet the criteria for accounting under
EITF 07-1,Accounting for Collaborative Arrangement$he agreements do not specifically
designate each party’s rights and obligations th @gher under these collaborative
arrangements. Except for patent defense costsnsgpéncurred by one party are not required
to be reimbursed by the other party. The fundingliese programs is generally provided
through private sector investments or federal SBadliness (SBIR/STTR) grant programs.
Expenses incurred under these collaborative agnetsraee included in research and
development expenses in the consolidated staterokimsome. Funding received from private
sector investments and grants are recorded asretemue in the consolidated statements of
income.

(7) CONTINGENCIES

During the second quarter of 2006, our Chief Exgeut Vice President of ours, and the
Company were named as co-defendants in Parni&@arndinal Health, Inc. et al., Case

No. 0:0¢-cv-02514-PJS-JJG in the U.S. District Court inEhistrict of Minnesota for
unspecified damages based on workers’ compensatidmelated claims. In July 2007, the
federal district court dismissed the case agahesttompany and its officers. The Eighth
Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed this ruling in Bember 2008. The plaintiff filed a petition
for rehearing en banc with the U.S. Court of Appédat the Eighth Circuit in February 2009.
After this petition was denied in March 2009, thaiptiff filed a motion for stay of mandate
with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Citda April 2009. The plaintiff is a former
employee of a third-party service provider to th@r@any. The service provider, which was
also named as a codefendant, agreed to assumeladritre Company’s defense at its cost
pursuant to a contract between the service prowddrithe Company. Based upon the
information available to date, management beli¢hatall asserted claims against the
Company and the individual defendants are withoetitrtHowever, if any of the plaintiff's
claims are deemed to be meritorious upon reheatiiegCompany expects to be indemnifiec
the service provider so that resolution of thisterais not expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s future financial resultginancial condition.

(8) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In June 2009, the Company received marketing agprfov Caldolor from the Food and Drug
Administration (FDA). Caldolor is the first injedite product available in the United States for
the
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treatment of pain and fever. As a result, a thiadgpresearch institution immediately vested in
common stock valued at $150,000.

In connection with the approval of Caldolor, adhirarty immediately vested in 60,000 options
to purchase the Company’s common stock at $1.63h@e. The fair value of these options of
$0.8 million was recognized as a component of reseand development expense in the
second quarter of 2009. In addition, the Comparabe obligated to pay $1.0 million to the
third party as follows: $0.8 million immediatelyd$0.2 million in twelve equal monthly
installments. The Company recognized the $1.0 anilthilestone payment as a component of
research and development expenses in the seconémpi2009.
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